
 

       
In-Person and Via Live Stream 

Dial-In Live Stream: 312-626-6799; Webinar ID 820 6902 8619; Passcode 952810 or click here:  
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
ROLL CALL 
 
APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES FROM THE NOVEMBER 25, 2024 REGULAR MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: - emailed public comment can be sent to the village clerk at vbelmonte@forestpark.net 

prior to 6:30 p.m. the day of the meeting 
COMMUNICATIONS:   

 
DEPARTMENT REPORTS:  

1. Fire Department Report 
 
BILLS BY RESOLUTION 
  
UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  
 
NEW BUSINESS:  

1. Presentation: Burke Engineering – Three Year Infrastructure Plan Update 
2. Ordinance waiving bid and authorizing the acceptance and execution of a standard form of 

Construction Management for Designer Design-Build Project by and between Veregy LLC and the 
Village of Forest Park 

3. The Annual Tax Levy Ordinance of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County Illinois, for the Fiscal Year 
Beginning May 1, 2024 and Ending April 30, 2025 

4. Resolution Directing the County Clerk to Calculate Separate Limiting Rates for the tax levy year 2024 
5. A Resolution approving and authorizing the execution of a First Amendment to a Master Software 

License Agreement by and between DACRA Tech, LLC and the Village of Forest Park  
6. Resolution approving and authorizing the execution of the application for an Assistance to Firefighters 

Grant with the Federal Emergency Management Agency; 
7. A Resolution approving a 2025 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement between Suburban Bus 

Division of the Regional Transportation Authority (Pace) and the Village of Forest Park; 
8. A Resolution approving an Intergovernmental Agreement between the Village of Forest Park and the 

County of Cook, acting through its Bureau of Asset Management, for the design, construction, 
installation, operation and maintenance of one electric vehicle charging station; 

9. A Resolution approving an Intergovernmental Agreement between the Village of Forest Park and the 
Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago for the Green Alley Project 2; 

10. A Resolution approving Change Order No. 2 to the Contract with and Pay Request No. 3 (Final) to 
Tecorp, Inc. for the Rehabilitation of the of the South Water Tank at 1580 South Hannah Project  

11. A Resolution approving Pay Request #1 (Final) for the Roosevelt Road Islands Removal and 
Landscaping Project to Triggi Construction, Inc.; 

12. Resolution authorizing the approval of Pay Request #1 for the 2024 Water Main Replacement Project 
to Bolder Contractors, Inc. (400-500 Blocks of Ferdinand); 

 
VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK 

 COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
Monday, December 16, 2024   

Lower Level of Village Hall 
7:00 PM 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82069028619?pwd=B66nqrPb2lYSImp7FTiuSjaugiBg8P.1
mailto:vbelmonte@forestpark.net


 

13. A Resolution approving Pay Request #1 (Final) for the 2024 Sidewalk Improvements Project to Nardulli 
Construction Company, Inc. 

14. Approval: Ratification of Raffle License Request – Forest Park Community Center for Annual Mayor’s 
Toy Drive 

15. Approval: Request for participation in the Vehicle Sticker Registration donation request for CY2025 – 
Empowering Gardens and the Forest Park Cares Fund 

 
 
ADMINISTRATOR REPORT 
COMMISSIONER REPORTS 
ADJOURN 



THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE COUNCIL OF THE 
VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

HELD ON MONDAY EVENING, NOVEMBER 25, 2024 
 
 

Mayor Hoskins led all assembled in the Pledge of Allegiance at 7:00 p.m.  
 
 

ROLL CALL 
 
Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins answered the Roll Call.  
 
 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS 
 

It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by Commissioner Melin-Rogovin that the 
minutes from the November 12, 2024, Regular meeting of the Council be approved.   
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Ms. Thomas Kovac spoke against using the village’s zoning consultant, Muse, as the consultant for 
the village’s comprehensive plan update. 
 
 
COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
None 
 
 
DEPARTMENT REPORTS: 
 
The Police Department submitted its September - October, 2024, report. 
 
 
APPROVAL OF BILLS: 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by 
Commissioner Nero that the Resolution for the payment of bills 
be adopted.  The bills totaled $548,993.05. 
 
 

 
 

R-105-24 
RESOLUTION FOR 

PAYMENT OF BILLS IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $548,993.05 

APPROVED 



 2 

ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 
 
None 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Voogd and seconded by 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin that the Ordinance authorizing 
and approving execution of a certain Real Property Donation 
Agreement accepting the donation of the property commonly 
described as 7410 West Madison Street, Forest Park, Illinois be 
adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Voogd and seconded by 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin that the Ordinance authorizing 
the approval of a Joint Purchasing Requisition for the purchase 
of two (2) 2025 Base Ford Explorer Police Vehicles with upfit for 
the Village of Forest Park Police Department be adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by 
Commissioner Nero that the Resolution determining the 
estimated property taxes to be levied by the Village of Forest 
Park for the 2024 Tax Year be adopted. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

O-38-24 
ORDINANCE APPROVING 

PROPERTY DONATION 
AGREEMENT FOR 7410 W. 

MADISON 
APPROVED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

O-39-24 
ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING 

PURCHASE OF TWO 
POLICE VEHICLES 

APPROVED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

R-106-24 
RESOLUTION ESTIMATING 

THE 2024 TAX LEVY 
APPROVED 

 
 



 3 

ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Melin-Rogovin and seconded 
by Commissioner Voogd that the Resolution rescinding 
Resolution No. R-46-24 and authorizing approval of a 
Professional Engineering Services Proposal for construction 
engineering for the 2024 Lead Service Replacement Project – 
LSLR Stage 1 by and between Christopher B. Burke 
Engineering, Ltd. and the Village of Forest Park be adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Melin-Rogovin and seconded 
by Commissioner Voogd that the Resolution approving Pay 
Request #3 (FINAL) for the water tower paving project from 
Chicagoland Paving Contractors, Inc. be adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Nero and seconded by 
Commissioner Maxham that the Resolution authorizing the 
issuance of a Request for Qualified Professional Consultant 
Proposals to prepare a Comprehensive Plan Update for the 
Village of Forest Park be adopted with the amended deadline 
for submission of January 6, 2025. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

R-107-24 
RESOLUTION APPROVING 
ENGINEERING PROPOSAL 

FOR 2024 LEAD SERVICE 
REPLACEMENT PROJECT 

APPROVED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

R-108-24 
RESOLUTION APPROVING 

PAYMENT TO 
CHICAGOLAND PAVING 

CONTRACTORS 
APPROVED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

R-109-24 
RESOLUTION APPROVING 

ISSUANCE OF RFQ FOR 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

UPDATE PROPOSALS 
APPROVED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 4 

It was moved by Commissioner Melin-Rogovin and seconded 
by Commissioner Voogd that the Resolution authorizing the 
contract award for the 2024 Lead Service Replacement Project 
– Stage 1 to Joel Kennedy Construction Corp. be adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Voogd and seconded by 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin that the Resolution approving 
Pay Request #1 (FINAL) for the Madison Street Parking Lot 
Sealcoating Project to M & J Asphalt Paving Co., Inc. be 
adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Melin-Rogovin and seconded 
by Commissioner Voogd that the Resolution to approve and 
authorize the execution of a Professional Engineering Services 
Proposal for Phase II design for the Village of Forest Park 
Jackson Boulevard Watermain, Lead Line Replacement and 
Resurfacing project by and between Christopher B. Burke 
Engineering, Ltd. and the Village of Forest Park be adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin to approve the travel 
authorization request allowing Mayor Hoskins to travel to the 
Strong Cities Network’s Global Summit in Cape Town, South 
Africa December 2-5, 2024. 
 
 

R-110-24 
RESOLUTION AWARDING 

2024 LEAD SERVICE 
REPLACEMENT PROJECT 

TO JOEL KENNEDY 
CONSTRUCTION CORP. 

APPROVED 
 
 
 
 
 
 

R-111-24 
RESOLUTION APPROVING 

PAYMENT TO M & J 
ASPHALT PAVING CO. 

APPROVED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

R-112-24 
RESOLUTION APPROVING 
ENGINEERING PROPOSAL 

FOR JACKSON 
BOULEVARD PROJECT 

APPROVED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MAYOR HOSKINS’ TRAVEL 
AUTHORIZATION 

REQUEST 
APPROVED BY MOTION 

 
 
 



 5 

ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

and Voogd 
NAYES: None 
ABSTAIN: Mayor Hoskins 
The motion carried. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT: 
 
Administrator Entler reminded residents that the Village Hall offices will close early on Wednesday, in 
observance of the Thanksgiving Holiday and will be closed on Thursday and Friday as well.  For 
information on what’s going on in Forest Park, residents can visit the Community Calendar on the 
Library’s website.  Administrator Entler wished all in attendance a Happy Thanksgiving. 
 
 
COMMISSIONER’S REPORTS: 
 
Commissioner Maxham expressed her gratitude to Finance Director, Tish Olmsted, for her hard work and 
long hours spent working on the annual audit and the levy.  The commissioner reported that she attended 
the ribbon cutting at Di’Vino and congratulated the Park District on their 90th anniversary celebration.  
Last, the commissioner wished all a Happy Thanksgiving. 
 
 
Commissioner Nero reported that Di’Vino is now open at 1547 Harlem Avenue and that Fiore is planning 
to re-open by the end of this year.  Commissioner Nero wished all a Happy Thanksgiving.   
 
 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin congratulated the Park District on their 90th anniversary and reported that 
she visited the Forest Park Middle School to speak to Social Studies students about how they can make a 
difference in Forest Park.  The commissioner reminded residents that on December 4th there will be a 
gathering of Operation Rising Spirits, and the opportunity to write holiday cards to veterans.  This event is 
free and open to the public.  The commissioner also wished all a Happy Thanksgiving. 
 
 
Commissioner Voogd stated that she is thankful for all of the residents, elected officials and staff, who do 
a lot here for everyone in the community.  The commissioner commented on the wonderful staff and how 
they all work so hard.  The commissioner also wished all a Happy Thanksgiving. 
 
 
Mayor Hoskins reported that last week he met with a large group of mayors in Barrington Hills, where they 
discussed Cyber Threats to small units of government.  There was a very experienced panel who 
provided eye-opening information to the mayors.  Mayor Richardson is proposing forming a Cyber 
Alliance so municipalities can share best practices with one another.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 



 6 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to be addressed, Commissioner Nero moved, and Commissioner 
Maxham seconded to adjourn. The motion carried unanimously.  
 
Mayor Hoskins declared the meeting adjourned at 7:30 P.M. 

 
Respectfully submitted,  

 
 

Vanessa Belmonte 
Village Clerk 



Forest Park 

Fire DePartment 

 

 
 

november 2024 
 

 

 

 

 



 

  

  

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

Incidents:   Town  Type     Address 

 

11/06/2024  Cicero  Box Alarm Structure Fire  5058 29th St. 

 

11/27/2024  Oak Park Structure Fire   165 N Lombard 

 

 

 

 

 



11/06/2024  Cicero Fire  

 

Crews from Forest Park extinguish Fire from the burnt-out attic of the exposure house. 

 

 

 

 



11/06/2024  Cicero- Box Alarm Fire  

 

 

 

 

 



11/27/2024  Oak Park Structure Fire 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



11/27/2024  Oak Park Structure Fire 

 

 

FP crew assisted with overhaul 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

Fire Inspections: 

 

 
 

 

Inspections: 

Residential inspections: 0 

Commercial inspections: 0 

Re-inspections: 

0

0

Inspections

Commercial Residential



Commercial: 0 

Residential: 0 

 

 

 

 

Training 
November 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

FPFD            

• Building Tour                                                                                                                                       8.25 
• CPR                                                                                                                                                      12 
• New Driver                                                                                                                                           2 
• SCBA MOD C                                                                                                                                        8 

Total =                                                                                                                                                              30.25 

Outside Drills/Classes 

• Company Fire Officer (COFO)                                                                                                        80 

Total =                                                                                                                                                              80 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Other Activities 

o Meeting                                  10 
o Data Base                    17 
o Seminars                      0 
o Scheduling                      5 
o General Administration                   20 

Total =                                                                                                                                                              52 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

News and Events: 

 

• All three shifts were able to walk through and become familiar with the 
new changes within the Bulk Mail Facility @ 7500 Roosevelt. 

• Attended the Veterans Day ceremony. 
• We participated in the annual Active shooter/lockdown drill for Betsy Ross. 
• All three shifts walked through the D91 schools for familiarization of layout 

and fire alarm systems. 

 

 

 



R E S O L U T I O N  No.

               BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, 

that we dispense with the reading of the individual bills inasmuch as each department head has approved

and signed bills in the following aggregate amount for their respective departments.

Refunds and Allocations 6,755.16          

Public Affairs 274,516.75       

Police Department 2,319.02          

Community Center 7,815.03          

Accounts & Finance (Clerks Office) 838,009.60       

Accounts & Finance (Fire Department) 4,021.59          

Department of Health & Safety 16,750.29         

Streets and Public Improvements 90,237.49         

Public Property 50,637.93         

Seizure 787.46             

Federal Customs 33,068.81         

TIF 356,014.04       

VIP 155,478.96       

Water Department 353,599.15       

TOTAL 2,190,011.28$  

  ADOPTED BY THE Council of the Village of Forest Park this 16th Day of December 2024

Ayes:

Nays:

Absent:

___________________________

Rory Hoskins, Mayor

ATTEST:

___________________________

Vanessa Belmonte, Village Clerk



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-00-000-4111-210  Forest Park Public Library 12/09/2024 3,076.03         

100-00-000-4450-121  Authorize.Net 12/02/2024 92.34              

100-00-000-4450-121  Passport Labs Inc 11/30/2024 96.20              

100-00-000-4450-121 Glynnis Redmond 11/25/2024 5.00                

100-00-000-4450-130  Authorize.Net 12/02/2024 403.79            

100-00-000-4450-130  Passport Labs Inc 11/30/2024 2,548.93         

100-00-000-4450-140  Authorize.Net 12/02/2024 44.22              

100-00-000-4450-140  Passport Labs Inc 11/30/2024 238.65            

100-00-000-4510-106 Karla Penister 10/11/2024 225.00            

235-00-000-4510-106 Karla Penister 10/11/2024 25.00              

Refunds and Allocations 6,755.16         



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-10-101-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2024 7,700.70         

100-10-101-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2024 315.00            

100-10-101-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2024 342.60            

100-10-101-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2024 3,460.80         

100-10-101-6120-160  Zoom Video Communications Inc 12/04/2024 94.99              

100-10-101-6120-160 Jennifer Wolfe 10/23/2024 250.00            

100-10-101-6120-300  American Express 11/27/2024 888.35            

100-10-101-6120-300  Scratch Kitchen 09/02/2024 68.28              

100-10-101-6120-300  Special T Unlimited 11/12/2024 200.20            

100-10-101-6120-305  Growing Community Media NFP 12/04/2024 245.00            

100-10-101-6150-120  Eagle Ridge Resort & Spa 09/09/2024 207.59            

100-10-101-6150-120  Parking Charges 09/19/2024 96.00              

100-10-101-6150-152  Verizon Wireless 11/22/2024 42.35              

100-10-101-6150-152  Verizon Wireless 11/22/2024 259.10            

100-10-101-6150-202  C.O.P.S. and F.I.R.E Personnel Testing 11/15/2024 500.00            

100-10-101-6150-202  C.O.P.S. and F.I.R.E Personnel Testing 11/21/2024 500.00            

100-10-101-6150-202  C.O.P.S. and F.I.R.E Personnel Testing 11/21/2024 500.00            

100-10-101-6150-202  C.O.P.S. and F.I.R.E Personnel Testing 11/27/2024 1,000.00         

100-10-101-6150-202  C.O.P.S. and F.I.R.E Personnel Testing 11/27/2024 175.00            

100-10-101-6150-202  C.O.P.S. and F.I.R.E Personnel Testing 11/27/2024 175.00            

100-10-101-6150-202  C.O.P.S. and F.I.R.E Personnel Testing 11/27/2024 350.00            

100-10-101-6150-202  Checkpoint Press Inc 11/26/2024 395.00            

100-10-101-6150-222  American Legal Publishing 11/30/2024 496.87            

100-10-101-6150-300  West Suburban Cons Dispatch Center 12/01/2024 246,597.80     

100-10-101-7000-150  Telcom Innovations Group LLC 11/13/2024 120.25            

100-11-111-6100-115  Grant Writing Consultants LLC 12/01/2024 1,875.00         

100-11-111-6100-115  Lauterbach & Amen LLP 11/22/2024 2,450.00         

100-11-111-6100-120  Techno Consulting Inc 12/01/2024 3,850.00         

100-11-111-6110-110  Adobe Acrobat Pro DC 09/10/2024 305.87            

100-11-111-6110-110  Springbrook Holding Company LLC 11/30/2024 15.00              

100-11-111-6110-110  Techno Consulting Inc 12/01/2024 1,040.00         

Public Affairs 274,516.75     



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-12-121-6120-305 Tom McNamara 11/14/2024 140.00            

100-12-121-6120-305 Tom McNamara 12/02/2024 84.00              

100-12-123-6145-202  Amazon.com 10/28/2024 350.48            

100-12-123-6145-202  Amazon.com 10/28/2024 215.80            

100-12-123-6145-202  Bio-One Chicago LLC. 11/10/2024 100.00            

100-12-125-6145-205  Cook County Bureau of Technology 10/21/2024 1,093.40         

100-12-126-6140-112  Forest Printing Company 11/25/2024 335.34            

Police Department 2,319.02         



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-15-151-6120-305  AA Rental Center 11/01/2024 556.00            

100-15-151-6150-125  State Food Safety 09/04/2024 10.99              

100-15-151-6150-125  State Food Safety 09/04/2024 10.99              

100-15-151-6150-125  State Food Safety 09/06/2024 10.99              

100-15-152-6170-200  Amazon.com 11/21/2024 123.11            

100-15-152-6170-200  Amazon.com 12/06/2024 46.00              

100-15-152-6170-200  Amazon.com 12/06/2024 164.94            

100-15-154-6170-102  Amazon.com 11/22/2024 167.35            

100-15-154-6170-102  Amazon.com 11/27/2024 (6.99)               

100-15-154-6170-102  S&S  Worldwide Inc. 11/25/2024 172.71            

100-15-154-6170-110  Delavan Lake Animal Park 10/23/2024 1,460.00         

100-15-154-6170-110  Drury Lane Productions 11/08/2024 992.52            

100-15-154-6170-110  Edelweiss Cruises 09/05/2024 70.80              

100-15-154-6170-110  General Ticket Purchases 09/13/2024 192.00            

100-15-154-6170-110  General Ticket Purchases 09/25/2024 630.00            

100-15-154-6170-110  General Ticket Purchases 09/26/2024 120.00            

100-15-154-6170-110  Infinity Transportation Management 09/26/2024 272.75            

100-15-154-6170-110  Randolph Entertainment LLC 09/04/2024 1,259.18         

100-15-154-6170-110  Restaurant Depot 09/20/2024 259.66            

100-15-154-6170-110  Restaurants - General 09/05/2024 654.03            

100-15-154-6170-110  Restaurants - General 09/24/2024 250.00            

100-15-154-6170-110  Restaurants - General 09/26/2024 80.00              

100-15-154-6170-110  Society of the Little Flower 11/15/2024 45.00              

100-15-154-6170-114  BLUE CAB CO. 09/25/2024 93.00              

100-15-154-6170-114  BLUE CAB CO. 10/24/2024 67.00              

100-15-169-6160-100  Elmhurst Occupational Health 08/31/2024 72.00              

100-15-169-6810-125 Secretary of state online 09/19/2024 41.00              

Community Center 7,815.03         



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-00-000-1201-001  Illinois Counties Risk Management Trust 12/09/2024 239,018.00     

100-00-000-1201-001  Illinois Counties Risk Management Trust 12/09/2024 112,468.00     

100-00-000-1201-001  Illinois Counties Risk Management Trust 12/09/2024 119,509.00     

100-00-000-1201-001  Illinois Counties Risk Management Trust 12/09/2024 56,234.00       

100-21-211-5005-002  Blue Cross-Blue Shield of Ill 11/15/2024 149,072.24     

100-21-211-5005-002  Fidelity Security Life Ins Co 11/22/2024 638.70            

100-21-211-5005-002  Fidelity Security Life Ins Co 11/22/2024 77.45              

100-21-211-5005-002  Guardian 11/20/2024 7,633.05         

100-21-211-6110-110  Xerox Financial Services 11/10/2024 78.01              

100-21-211-6120-300  Edward Occupational Health 10/31/2024 70.00              

100-21-211-6140-104  Office 8 11/14/2024 391.92            

100-21-211-6140-104  Pitney Bowes Inc 11/18/2024 132.79            

100-21-211-6140-104  Quill 11/14/2024 212.11            

100-21-211-6140-104  Quill 11/20/2024 28.04              

100-21-211-6140-104  Quill 11/21/2024 2.11                

100-21-211-6140-104  Quill 12/04/2024 20.70              

100-21-211-6140-104  Quill 12/04/2024 49.26              

100-21-211-6140-110  Forest Printing Company 11/12/2024 4,988.89         

100-21-211-6140-140  Quill 11/20/2024 109.14            

100-21-211-6150-100  Growing Community Media NFP 10/30/2024 270.00            

100-21-211-6150-114  Natl Public Emp Labor Relations 12/03/2024 230.00            

100-21-211-6150-114  Natl Public Emp Labor Relations 12/03/2024 230.00            

100-21-211-6150-125  Parking Charges 09/17/2024 19.94              

100-21-211-6150-125  Parking Charges 09/18/2024 (19.94)             

100-21-211-6150-125  Parking Charges 09/19/2024 34.44              

100-21-211-6150-125 Danylle Stark 12/03/2024 325.71            

100-21-211-6150-150  AT&T 11/25/2024 126.53            

100-21-211-6150-150  AT&T 11/25/2024 63.27              

100-21-211-6150-150  AT&T 11/25/2024 54.19              

100-21-211-6150-150  AT&T 12/01/2024 656.54            

100-21-211-6160-001  Notary Public Illinois 09/24/2024 16.00              

100-21-211-6190-003  POLICE PENSION FUND 11/27/2024 9,947.00         

100-21-211-6190-004  Firefighters Pension Fund 11/27/2024 9,947.00         

100-21-211-6191-001  POLICE PENSION FUND 12/09/2024 1,035.01         

100-21-211-6191-002  Firefighters Pension Fund 12/09/2024 1,127.11         

100-21-211-7000-080  GFC Leasing - WI 11/16/2024 94.61              

100-21-211-7000-080  Pitney Bowes Inc 11/08/2024 198.00            



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-21-211-7000-080  Xerox Financial Services 11/10/2024 1,684.21         

100-22-221-6310-410  Fleet Safety Supply 11/21/2024 1,428.57         

100-22-221-6310-410  Grant Writing Consultants LLC 12/01/2024 1,250.00         

100-22-221-6310-410  Sutton Ford Inc 11/06/2024 49,307.00       

100-22-221-6310-410  Sutton Ford Inc 11/06/2024 49,307.00       

100-22-221-6310-410 Secretary of State 11/06/2024 346.00            

100-22-221-6310-701  Davis Tree Care 11/07/2024 6,564.00         

100-22-221-6310-701  Davis Tree Care 11/08/2024 4,098.00         

100-22-221-6310-701  Davis Tree Care 11/11/2024 6,202.00         

100-22-221-6310-701  Davis Tree Care 11/12/2024 2,734.00         

Accounts and Finance (Clerks Office) 838,009.60     



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-30-302-6110-150  Verizon Wireless 11/22/2024 127.05            

100-30-302-6110-200  Air One Equipment Inc 11/22/2024 877.00            

100-30-302-6110-200  Municipal Emergency Services Inc 12/03/2024 2,537.68         

100-30-302-6145-100  Pro Fire Sales 12/01/2024 210.00            

100-30-302-6150-122 Adrian Bala 11/20/2024 88.40              

100-30-303-6145-300 Adrian Bala 11/16/2024 181.46            

Accounts and Finance (Fire Department) 4,021.59         



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-40-401-5000-017  AMS Electric Inc 11/23/2024 2,025.00         

100-40-401-5000-017 Raymond Traynor 11/25/2024 1,035.00         

100-40-401-5000-017 Tariq Dandan 12/02/2024 2,486.00         

100-40-402-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2024 1,181.50         

100-40-402-6150-232 Courtney Kashima 11/30/2024 150.00            

100-40-402-6150-232 Tariq Dandan 12/02/2024 450.00            

100-40-403-6140-206  Smithereen Pest Mgmt Services 12/01/2024 1,200.00         

100-40-403-6150-226  Cook County Dept of Public Health 10/22/2024 8,100.00         

100-40-410-6140-100  RealtyTrac 11/21/2024 49.95              

100-40-410-6140-110  Forest Printing Company 11/25/2024 72.84              

Department of Health and Safety 16,750.29       



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-50-501-6145-100  Special T Unlimited 11/12/2024 642.00            

100-50-501-6145-100 Sal Stella 11/14/2024 66.52              

100-50-502-6185-102  Lakeshore Recycling Systems LLC 11/15/2024 6,872.87         

100-50-502-6185-112  Republic Services #551 10/31/2024 416.00            

100-50-502-6185-112  Republic Services #551 11/15/2024 624.00            

100-50-502-6185-501  Republic Services #551 11/15/2024 45,179.31       

100-50-502-6185-502  Republic Services #551 11/15/2024 31,942.64       

100-50-502-6185-503  Republic Services #551 11/15/2024 4,494.15         

Streets and Public Improvements 90,237.49       



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-55-551-6120-305  Lakeshore Recycling Systems LLC 11/14/2024 150.00            

100-55-552-6145-100  Special T Unlimited 11/12/2024 642.00            

100-55-552-6145-100 Jim Becker 11/21/2024 106.24            

100-55-552-6145-100 Sal Stella 11/14/2024 66.53              

100-55-552-6180-114  HOME DEPOT CREDIT 10/24/2024 1,098.00         

100-55-552-6180-114  Kramer Tree Specialists Inc 11/30/2024 250.00            

100-55-552-6180-114  McAdam Landscaping 11/05/2024 376.00            

100-55-552-6180-114  McAdam Landscaping 11/05/2024 926.00            

100-55-552-6180-114  McAdam Landscaping 11/20/2024 144.00            

100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/13/2024 98.79              

100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/25/2024 53.06              

100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/26/2024 26.87              

100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/26/2024 31.25              

100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/26/2024 467.99            

100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/26/2024 27.44              

100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/26/2024 137.21            

100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/26/2024 238.32            

100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/26/2024 27.04              

100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/27/2024 36.42              

100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/27/2024 37.14              

100-55-555-6180-100  Comcast 11/08/2024 200.00            

100-55-555-6180-100  HOME DEPOT CREDIT 10/24/2024 103.86            

100-55-555-6180-100  Illinois Alarm 12/01/2024 192.00            

100-55-555-6180-100  Quill 11/14/2024 38.78              

100-55-555-6180-100  Quill 11/14/2024 627.22            

100-55-555-6180-100  Quill 11/20/2024 236.11            

100-55-555-6180-110  Comcast 11/12/2024 2.10                

100-55-555-6180-115  Illinois Alarm 12/01/2024 165.00            

100-55-555-6180-120  Illinois Alarm 12/01/2024 165.00            

100-55-555-6180-130  Illinois Alarm 12/01/2024 165.00            

100-55-555-6180-140  Comcast 11/07/2024 2.10                

100-55-555-6180-140  Comcast 11/22/2024 224.25            

100-55-555-6180-140  Comcast 11/28/2024 2.10                

100-55-555-6180-140  Illinois Alarm 12/01/2024 135.00            

100-55-570-6150-122  Ill. Fire Apparatus Mechanics Association 11/20/2024 100.00            

100-55-570-6155-101  Mohr Oil Company 11/08/2024 13,816.58       

100-55-570-6155-101  Mohr Oil Company 11/15/2024 12,530.50       



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-55-570-6155-102  Leahy-Wolf Co 11/27/2024 2,279.81         

100-55-570-6155-106  Factory Motor Parts Co 11/13/2024 96.67              

100-55-570-6155-106  Factory Motor Parts Co 11/20/2024 973.32            

100-55-570-6155-106  Factory Motor Parts Co 11/21/2024 27.53              

100-55-570-6155-106  Factory Motor Parts Co 11/21/2024 30.73              

100-55-570-6155-106  Factory Motor Parts Co 11/25/2024 250.96            

100-55-570-6155-106  Factory Motor Parts Co 11/25/2024 297.80            

100-55-570-6155-106  Kimball Midwest 11/05/2024 498.50            

100-55-570-6155-106  Kimball Midwest 11/18/2024 331.00            

100-55-570-6155-106  Lindco Equipment Sales Inc 11/21/2024 92.16              

100-55-570-6155-106  Linde Gas & Equipment, Inc. 11/22/2024 251.63            

100-55-570-6155-106  RUSSO POWER EQUIPMENT 11/18/2024 187.94            

100-55-570-6155-106  Standard Equipment Co. 08/06/2024 443.21            

100-55-570-6155-106  Standard Equipment Co. 08/06/2024 99.40              

100-55-570-6155-106  Wholesale Direct Inc. 10/18/2024 176.26            

100-55-570-6155-106  Wholesale Direct Inc. 11/08/2024 3,164.19         

100-55-570-6155-112  Action Transmission & Auto 11/20/2024 2,800.00         

100-55-570-6155-112  BC Body Craft Inc 12/05/2023 547.00            

100-55-570-6155-112  BC Body Craft Inc 11/07/2024 2,736.43         

100-55-570-6155-112  Commercial Tire Service 11/19/2024 64.00              

100-55-570-6155-112 Martin Vargas 11/14/2024 922.50            

100-55-570-6155-112 Martin Vargas 11/14/2024 565.00            

100-55-580-6155-120  RUSSO POWER EQUIPMENT 11/18/2024 35.99              

100-55-580-6180-210  JKS VENTURES INC 11/14/2024 120.00            

Public Property 50,637.93       



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

230-00-000-6150-152  Verizon Wireless 11/22/2024 254.10            

230-00-000-6900-230  Adobe Acrobat Pro DC 09/10/2024 40.36              

230-00-000-6900-230  IL Tactical Officers Assoc. 11/20/2024 40.00              

230-00-000-6900-230 Secretary of State 11/07/2024 453.00            

Seizure 787.46            



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

232-00-000-6900-231  10-41 Incorporated 09/23/2024 1,000.00         

232-00-000-6900-231  Axon Enterprise Inc 11/14/2024 20,410.96       

232-00-000-6900-231  College of Du Page 11/15/2024 9,392.00         

232-00-000-6900-231  eFax 11/20/2024 18.99              

232-00-000-6900-231  eFax 11/22/2024 4.95                

232-00-000-6900-231  Grant Writing Consultants LLC 12/01/2024 1,875.00         

232-00-000-6900-231 An Aramark Co Galls Inc 11/13/2024 116.95            

232-00-000-6900-231 Ray O'Herron Co Inc 11/13/2024 149.98            

232-00-000-6900-231 Ray O'Herron Co Inc 11/14/2024 99.98              

Federal Customs 33,068.81       



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

302-00-000-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2024 535.50            

304-00-000-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2024 535.50            

304-00-000-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2024 52.50              

304-00-000-6180-114  McAdam Landscaping 11/05/2024 927.00            

304-00-000-6185-700  Tecorp Inc 09/26/2024 96,050.00       

304-00-000-6185-700  Triggi Construction 10/28/2024 257,546.04     

309-00-000-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2024 210.00            

309-00-000-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2024 157.50            

TIF 356,014.04     



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

312-00-000-6150-152  Verizon Wireless 11/22/2024 38.01              

312-00-000-6180-114  McAdam Landscaping 11/05/2024 927.00            

312-00-000-7000-110  Bolder Contractors Inc 12/02/2024 109,000.00     

312-00-000-7000-312  Nardulli Construction Company Inc 11/15/2024 45,513.95       

VIP 155,478.96     



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

501-80-800-4910-305  Cook County Recorder of Deeds 12/03/2024 9.00                

501-80-800-6110-105  Springbrook Holding Company LLC 11/30/2024 169.00            

501-80-800-6110-105  Verizon Wireless 11/22/2024 36.01              

501-80-800-6140-102  Suburban Mailing Services Inc 12/02/2024 2,367.46         

501-80-800-6145-100  Special T Unlimited 11/12/2024 307.00            

501-80-800-6150-150  AT&T 11/25/2024 67.25              

501-80-800-6150-154  Com Ed 11/12/2024 78.31              

501-80-800-6150-154  Com Ed 11/13/2024 22.72              

501-80-800-6150-154  Com Ed 11/26/2024 23.39              

501-80-800-6150-154  Com Ed 11/26/2024 76.43              

501-80-800-6150-154  Com Ed 11/27/2024 218.31            

501-80-800-6150-154  Constellation Energy Services Inc 11/26/2024 1,822.10         

501-80-800-6150-156  NICOR 11/04/2024 140.24            

501-80-800-6150-156  NICOR 11/04/2024 52.08              

501-80-800-6800-100  City of Chicago 12/10/2024 168,129.00     

501-80-800-6800-153  Comcast 11/06/2024 86.90              

501-80-800-6800-176  Core & Main LP 11/21/2024 2,427.38         

501-80-800-7000-010  Bolder Contractors Inc 12/02/2024 22,550.00       

501-80-800-7000-020  Bolder Contractors Inc 12/02/2024 155,016.57     

Water Department 353,599.15     



THREE-YEAR 
INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN 

2024-2026

December 16, 2024



2 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

• Background and Previous 3-Year Infrastructure Plan

• Roadway Assessment

• Alley Assessment

• Proposed 3-Year Infrastructure Plan

Presentation Overview



3 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

• In 2023 the Village Engineer, alongside the Public Works 
Director, Village Administrator and Commissioner, 
developed and approved a 3-year plan for the calendar years 
2024-2026.

• The plan consisted of alley, roadway, water main 
improvements based on recent assessments.

• Year 1 (2024) of the plan has since been carried out and 
changed, with multiple projects being completed while 
others have been pulled, rescheduled, or added.

Background



44 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Previous 3-Year Infrastructure Plan
2024-2026
NORTH SIDE

Moved 
to 2025

Moved 
to 2026

Project
Pulled

Projects
Expanded



45 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Previous 3-Year Infrastructure Plan
2024-2026
SOUTH SIDE

Moved 
to 2026

Project
Added

Project
Added

Projects
Completed



Roadway Assessment

66 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN



47 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Roadway Assessment
NORTH SIDE



48 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Roadway Assessment
SOUTH SIDE



Alley Assessment

69 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

ALLEY ASSESSMENT



410 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Alley Assessment
NORTH SIDE



411 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Alley Assessment
SOUTH SIDE



INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

612 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN



413 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Proposed 3-Year Infrastructure Plan
2024-2026
NORTH SIDE



414 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Proposed 3-Year Infrastructure Plan
2024-2026
SOUTH SIDE



11

3-Year Infrastructure Plan 2024 Project List

15 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

PROJECT NAME ESTIMATED TOTAL 
PROJECT COST VIP FUND MFT FUNDS WATER FUND TIF FUND GRANT FUNDS GRANT TYPE 

2024 TOTAL $      1,859,000 $         779,000 — $        101,000 $        275,000 $        705,000 

GREEN ALLEY IMPROVEMENTS - 800 & 900 CIRCLE / MARENGO $           877,000 $            383,000 — — — $           494,000 MWRD GREEN 
INFRASTRUCTURE

FERDINAND AVE WM & RESURFACING – MADISON TO JACKSON $           101,000 — — $           101,000 — —

IEPA LEAD SERVICE REPLACEMENT – STAGE 1 $             64,000 —  — — — $             64,000 IEPA PWSLP 

COMMUTER BIKE FACILITIES $           159,000 $              13,000 — — — $           147,000 ITEP & IDOT 

FILLMORE ST BRICK REPAIRS (BELOIT - HANNAH) $             43,000 $              43,000 — — — —

2024 SIDEWALK PROGRAM $             59,000 $              59,000 — — — —

MADISON STREET REVITALIZATION $           281,000 $            281,000 — — — —

ROOSEVELT ISLAND MODIFICATION $           275,000  — — — $            275,000 — ROOSEVELT TIF



11

3-Year Infrastructure Plan 2025 Project List

16 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

PROJECT NAME ESTIMATED TOTAL 
PROJECT COST VIP FUND MFT FUNDS WATER FUND TIF FUND GRANT FUNDS GRANT TYPE 

2025 TOTAL $   10,796,000 $     1,091,000 $  1,044,000  $      2,518,000 — $     6,146,000 

FERDINAND AVE WM & RESURFACING – MADISON TO JACKSON $       1,589,000 — $       280,000 $         1,005,000 — $          306,000 REBUILD BOND

IEPA LEAD SERVICE INVENTORY $            40,000 — — — — $            40,000 IEPA PWSLP

IEPA LEAD SERVICE REPLACEMENT – STAGE 1 $       2,252,000 —  — — — $       2,252,000 IEPA PWSLP 

IEPA LEAD SERVICE REPLACEMENT – STAGE 2 $       3,000,000 —  — — — $       3,000,000 IEPA PWSLP

VAN BUREN ST. MULTI USE PATH – INVEST IN COOK $          773,000 $           525,000 — — — $          248,000 INVEST IN COOK

GREEN ALLEY – 800 BLOCK BELOIT - THOMAS $          758,000 $           458,000 — — — $          300,000 MWRD

2025 SIDEWALK PROGRAM $            58,000 $             58,000 — — — —

JACKSON WATER RESERVOIR REPAIRS – FEASIBILITY STUDY $          228,000  — — $          228,000 — —

JACKSON RESURFACING & WATER MAIN (DES PLAINES – HARLEM) $          280,000  $              50,000 — $          230,000 — —

BNRWC CONNECTION — — — — — —

400 & 500 MARENGO WM & RESURFACING $       1,818,000 — $       764,000 $       1,055,000 — —



11

3-Year Infrastructure Plan 2026 Project List

17 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

PROJECT NAME ESTIMATED TOTAL 
PROJECT COST VIP FUND MFT FUNDS WATER FUND TIF FUND GRANT FUNDS GRANT TYPE 

2026 TOTAL $    15,917,000 $      2,845,000 $  1,883,000  $      4,744,000 — $      6,446,000 

MONROE & ADAMS WM & RESURFACING – JACKSON TO 
DESPLAINES $        2,190,000 $            738,000 — $         1,452,000 — — 

JAKCSON RESURFACING & WATER MAIN (DES PLAINES – HARLEM) $        2,600,000 — $      500,000 $         1,300,000 — $            800,000 STP & INVEST IN 
AMERICA ACT

2026 ALLEY IMPROVEMENTS – 1100 LATHROP / FERDINAND $           237,000 $            154,000  — $              83,000 — — 

900-1100 LATHROP, 300 BURKHARDT RESURFACING $        3,291,000 —  $   1,383,000 $         1,909,000 — — 

2026 SIDEWALK PROGRAM $             58,000 $              58,000 — — — —

IEPA LEAD SERVICE REPLACEMENT – STAGE 3 $        3,000,000 —  — — — $         3,000,000 IEPA PWSLP

IEPA GIGO – CONSTITUTION COURT PARKING LOT $        1,560,000 $            390,000 — — — $         1,170,000 IEPA GIGO

GREEN ALLEY – 600 & 800 BLOCK THOMAS HANNAH $        1,357,000  $            721,000 — — — $            636,000 MWRD GI

MWRD 13TH STREET SEWER SEPERATION $        1,624,000  $            784,000 — — — $            840,000 MWRD SPP



12

• Seek direction from board to proceed with proposed 3-Year 
Plan

• Seek direction to proceed with design and planning 
documents for 2025 program year

Next Steps

THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN18



Background: 
 
The Village of Forest Park owns and maintains approximately 3,347 water meters installed in 
residential, commercial, and industrial buildings using Village purchased water from the City of 
Chicago. Water meters reach the end of their life cycle around 20 years. As meters age, they begin 
to record less water than the actual use or stop reporting water use altogether. Ninety percent 
(90%) of the Village’s meters will be over 20 years old in 2025 and have already started to fail. 
 
The current technology the Village uses for gathering the meter readings is called Automated 
Meter Reading (AMR) that requires a Village staff person to drive by every house and business 
every two months to collect the water meter readings. After being collected in the field, the meter 
data is brought back to Village Hall on a flash drive and is then downloaded and processed by the 
Utility Billing Clerk. The current meters have a reading device which allows for the meters to be 
read via AMR. Many of the Village’s AMR reading devices are expected to fail. 
 
The Village’s goal for this project is to upgrade the reading system to Advanced Metering 
Infrastructure (AMI). AMI is an updated technology that most communities are transitioning to 
during their meter replacement projects. AMI allows for hourly water meter reads to be 
transmitted directly to utility billing, eliminating the need for the Village to roll trucks to collect 
reads for billing. There are many benefits AMI provides. The following are some of the benefits 
other communities have reported upon completion of projects.  
 

• Accurate billing 
• Reduced costs 
• Improved customer experience 
• Enhanced control and transparency 
• Lowering environmental impact 
• High level water system analysis 
• Near real time customer leak detection 

 
Vendor Selection Process: 
 
The Public Works Department followed the Village’s Purchasing Policy to solicit proposals from 
firms for this project. Village Staff advertised for submittals in multiple public outlets and 
performed reviews in October 2024 selecting Veregy as the most qualified vendor. Veregy, offered 
the services, experience, and resident communication needed to complete all aspects of the needed 
project scope and would not overburden staff resources.  
 
Below is a list of communities that the Veregy team executed water meter replacement and AMI 
projects with. 
 
The Veregy team leverages its experience and versatility on the Village’s behalf and will 
constantly strive for the right solution at the right value. The below chart displays past projects this 
team has completed.  
 



Please note that in each of the below projects, the team provided consulting services to the 
municipalities to develop a budget, facilitate the selection of vendors, and then delivered the 
projects under budget without any change orders, and on schedule.  
 
Additionally, many of these projects were implemented in less than a year, and estimates show 
that there is potential to implement Forest Park’s project in a similar timeframe, which will mean 
the Village will not be in billing limbo between two systems for a prolonged time. We believe a 
one-year roll-out plan could provide enough budgetary savings to make this a viable option for 
consideration. 
 

 
 
Selecting vendors and negotiating the best prices to create the most advantageous combination of 
residential meter sizes, commercial meter sizes, an AMI system, and a Customer Portal required 
hours of research and staff time. Veregy used the data, meter/AMI costs, and installation costs to 
provide a comprehensive cash flow analysis for budgeting.  Below is a breakout of the cashflow. 

 
Proposed Project Management Selection Process: 
 
Veregy was selected because they were the one firm that had the expertise, knowledge of vendor 
technologies, and ability to best complete a successful project from start to finish. Complete 
replacement of a water meter system is unique in nature in that every home and commercial 
property needs to be contacted, scheduled, accessed, and have the meter removed/replaced. In 
addition to changing the meter, Veregy is responsible for the integration of data and coordination 
into the AMI software and billing company software which is a critical piece of an AMI project. 
Veregy’s proven process provides confidence this will be done correctly.  
 



Veregy has a vast amount of experience in overseeing the installation of municipal meter 
replacement and AMI projects. This experience translates into a project being executed according 
to plan, on time and functioning as expected for the Village of Forest Park.  
 
Veregy is the most suitable partner for this project with the Village. Veregy is ready and able to 
immediately begin the process and quickly deliver a turnkey installation.  
 
Veregy has specific processes that differentiate them from the typical meter vendor or AMI 
installer. These differentiators are described below and will significantly benefit the Village by 
providing a process that mitigates installation and construction risks and reduces the amount of 
time and effort expended by Village staff on the project. 
 
Veregy’s process of best practices allows for outstanding execution of the many components 
associated with Village-wide infrastructure upgrades. These best practices demonstrate the 
competency they bring to this program. 
 

 Clear Project Roles and Accountability 
 Applied Quality Management 
 Comprehensive Public Outreach 
 Required Data Integration 
 Water Meter Replacement and MXU Installation 
 Proven Training and Staffing Plan 

 
Veregy’s all-inclusive process listed below is a summary of the various tasks Veregy takes 
ownership of delivering through implementation. 
 

 
 
 
 



Scope of Services: 
 
Scope of Work and Services 
1.1 Description: Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, VEREGY shall provide the 
items of cost and expenses necessary to implement the following Facility Improvement Measures 
(“FIMs”), which are further described in Section 1.2 (collectively, the “Work”): 
 

• New Water Meters with Radio Read Capabilities 
• Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI) 
• Customer Portal 
• Execution 

 
1.2 Specific Elements: The Work shall include the following: 
 
1.2.1 New Water Meters with AMI Radio Read Capabilities 
 
VEREGY will replace existing water meters with new water meters of the same size as outlined 
below. Water meters will be furnished by VEREGY, and inventory of water meters will be 
managed and stored by VEREGY. Water meter sizes, types, and quantities are based on a 
database download from the CLIENT’s Utility Billing Software, Springbrook, provided by 
CLIENT on November 25,2024 and listed in Exhibit C. The types and quantities are listed below 
in Table A.1. VEREGY has reviewed the database and developed a replacement scope and 
quantities, and CLIENT is in agreement with the replacement scope and quantities listed in Table 
A.1. 
 
Table A.1, New Meter and AMI Endpoint Installations 

Replacement Scope 
Estimated 
Quantity 

Furnish and install new Sensus iPERL 5/8” x 3/4” meter to replace existing 
5/8” x 3/4” meter and furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint 
over existing exterior touchpad. 

2,155 

Furnish and install new Sensus iPERL 3/4” (9” lay-length) meter to replace 
existing 3/4” (9” lay-length) meter and furnish and install new Sensus 510M 
AMI endpoint over existing exterior touchpad. 

375 

Furnish and install new Sensus iPERL 1” meter to replace existing 1” meter 
and furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing exterior 
touchpad. 

277 

Furnish and install new Sensus Cordonel 1.5” flanged meter to replace 
existing 1.5” flanged meter and furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI 
endpoint over existing exterior touchpad. 

129 

Furnish and install new Sensus Cordonel 2” flanged meter to replace existing 
2” flanged meter and furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint 
over existing exterior touchpad. 

186 

Furnish and install new Sensus Cordonel 3” meter to replace existing 3” 
meter and furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing 
exterior touchpad. 

15 



Furnish and install new Sensus Cordonel 4” meter to replace existing 4” 
meter and furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing 
exterior touchpad. 

5 

Furnish and install new Sensus Omni C2 6” meter to replace existing 6” 
meter and furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing 
exterior touchpad. 

2 

Reprogram existing Sensus iPERL meter and furnish and install new Sensus 
510M AMI endpoint over existing exterior touchpad. 185 

Reprogram existing 2” and smaller Sensus Omni meter and furnish and install 
new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing exterior touchpad. 15 

Reprogram existing 3” and larger Sensus Omni meter and furnish and install 
new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing exterior touchpad. 3 

Total 3,347 
 
1.2.2 Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI) 
 
VEREGY will install new Sensus AMI endpoints listed in Table A.1 and provide professional 
services to set up new Sensus AMI software. AMI endpoints will be furnished by VEREGY, and 
inventory will be managed and stored by VEREGY. 
 
Sensus AMI Network Collection System includes: 

• Installation and integration of Sensus 510M AMI endpoints listed in Table A.1. AMI 
endpoints to be installed over existing exterior-mounted Sensus AMR touchpads. 

• Installation of one (1) Sensus M420B Tower Gateway Base station (TGB). New TGB 
will be AC powered using existing power source.  One (1) new TGB and antenna will be 
installed one of the following existing CLIENT owned assets. Final TGB location to be 
determined by Sensus propagation study.  
o South Water Tower, 150’ 
o North Water Tower, 150’.  

• Setup of Sensus FlexNet software. 
• Cellular backhaul provided by CLIENT. 
• One (1) Sensus Command Link field programming tool for use by CLIENT. 

 
VEREGY shall include a mass meter transfer program, integration data sync programs, and 
system commissioning. VEREGY will work with the CLIENT and the CLIENT’s Utility Billing 
Software (UBS) provider Springbrook to validate programs before mass installations begin. A 
description of the Data Integration Programs is as follows: 

• Providing the means and method to update billing system with new and old meter data 
through batch updates to the CLIENT’s water billing system. The modification is to be 
thoroughly tested before put into use. Interface Program between the Sensus FlexNet 
software package and the CLIENT UBS. The IT staff required to make this interface a 
success will be included as part of this project. This interface typically includes the 
generation of text (.txt) or comma separate value (.csv) file format. This file will be 
exported from the AMI software package once the readings have been completed and the 
CLIENT is ready for billing. The file will then be imported into the CLIENT billing 
program. Billing can then be completed as usual by the CLIENT. 



• Turnkey AMI system startup/testing/commissioning. 
• Training for new AMI system to include the following topics: 

o Installation and maintenance of AMI system. 
o Use of interface billing software to AMI data collection system. 

 
1.2.3 Customer Portal 
VEREGY will implement a new VertexOne VXsmart customer portal, including data integration 
and initial setup.  Initial setup shall include utility analytics dashboard applications, alerts, 
electronic bill presentation, and reports. VEREGY will provide onsite training. 
 
1.2.4 Execution 
VEREGY shall provide to the CLIENT for approval a detailed Project Procedure Manual. No 
Work shall proceed until the CLIENT has approved of the Project Procedure Manual, which 
approval shall not unreasonably be withheld. 
 
It is represented by CLIENT to VEREGY, and is an assumption of the Parties, that the 
components of the new water meter and AMI endpoint will properly fit inside of CLIENT’s 
current meter environment where applicable unless meter lay-length or other rework is 
specifically stated in this Scope of Work, or a size change is desired by the client. To the extent 
that this assumption is incorrect, VEREGY will present CLIENT with a cost (time and material) 
to remedy the same, and will gain approval before proceeding, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. 
 
The CLIENT will be responsible for all line breaks within CLIENT owned water distribution 
system, unless and to the extent the break is caused by VEREGY negligence. 
 
The final reading of the removed old meters will be provided from the direct read dial face of the 
meter, and the outside reader if applicable. If the reading is illegible due to dial face condition, 
VEREGY will break the glass of the dial face to obtain the final reading, with CLIENT’s 
permission which is granted in advance. 
 
All removed meters and removed indoor AMR radios shall become property of VEREGY. 
VEREGY will recycle water meters, AMR radios, and will properly dispose of AMR radio 
batteries. Removed meter serial numbers, meter readings and photos of all removed meters will 
be recorded by VEREGY and provided to CLIENT. 
 
Meter Access Procedure for the Project is outlined below: 

• VEREGY will draft an introductory letter to be approved by the CLIENT and sent by 
VEREGY to customers describing the project, outlining the work to be done and what 
can be expected as installations move forward. VEREGY will establish an appointment 
system where water customer will call in, or sign up online, to establish a date and time 
for each appointment. VEREGY will attempt to access the meter during normal 
construction hours. 

• Following mailing of letter to customers, VEREGY will send out a series of three 
postcards in an attempt to get the water customer scheduled for a meter replacement. 
VEREGY will make at least three attempts to schedule an appointment. Each attempt to 



access the meter will be documented with a date and time recorded electronically into the 
VEREGY installation portal.  

• After the third documented attempt, VEREGY will return the account to CLIENT for 
access assistance as a Return To Utility (RTU). 

• CLIENT will take reasonable actions, including service disconnection as allowed by 
CLIENT ordinances, as a means to gain access to the RTU account. Once an RTU 
challenge is resolved by CLIENT, the account can be returned to VEREGY and 
VEREGY will complete the installation as long as Final Completion has not yet been 
achieved. 

• If during project closeout the account remains inaccessible, the account will be deemed 
permanently inaccessible and removed from the project scope. 

• VEREGY must ensure that installation staff wear CLIENT approved contractor photo 
identification cards at all times and present it upon meeting any residents or customers. 
VEREGY installers will drive marked vehicles and wear project logo shirts. VEREGY 
installation staff shall conduct themselves in a professional manner and maintain a 
presentable appearance in the field. 

 
VEREGY will coordinate closely with the CLIENT staff for scheduling and workflow as each 
route is installed. VEREGY will create and maintain a project installation web portal that will 
have current information as to location of work crews, routes completed and other relevant 
information. 
 
VEREGY will digitally record the customer account number, service address, meter register 
serial number, size, and the final reading from the existing register and outside reader if 
applicable prior to meter removal; and will photograph and document the new meter serial 
number, new meter size, latitude, longitude and configure, program and verify communication of 
each new set upon installation. The installer will present the final read of the old meter for 
resident signature. As each route is completed, the commissioning and acceptance plan described 
will be performed to verify proper performance. 
 
Should VEREGY encounter an inoperable meter isolation valve during the new meter 
installation; VEREGY will contact CLIENT Public Works Department if they need assistance 
operating or locating the curb stop to facilitate meter installation.. If the curb stop needs to be 
serviced, VEREGY will classify the account as RTU. Upon resolution the CLIENT will return 
the account to VEREGY for rescheduling. 
 
A successful and complete meter and AMI endpoint installation is defined as: 

• The new meter is installed to manufacturer’s specifications and is free of leaks, the meter 
is wired correctly to the AMI endpoints, and the AMI endpoint is communicating with 
the AMI network. 

• The new meter data is successfully imported into the CLIENTS existing Utility Billing 
Software (UBS) and AMI Meter Data Management (MDM) platform. 

 
 
 
 



Public Outreach Responsibilities: 
• VEREGY will draft a Communication Plan with the CLIENT. 
• VEREGY will provide residents with a 24-hour call response number to contact in the 

case of a problem with the installation of a meter. 
• All forms of media relations and documents used to communicate with water customers 

shall be reviewed and approved of by the CLIENT and VEREGY prior to use by 
VEREGY. 

 
 
Fee Proposal: 
 
Installation costs for actual quantities of each meter installation will be charged or credited using 
the unit price schedule shown in Table B.1.  The total cost of the project is shown in Table B.2. 
 
Table B.1, Unit Costs 

Item Unit Cost 
Furnish and install new Sensus iPERL 5/8” x 3/4” meter to replace existing 5/8” x 
3/4” meter and furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing 
exterior touchpad. 

$576.99 

Furnish and install new Sensus iPERL 3/4” (9” lay-length) meter to replace existing 
3/4” (9” lay-length) meter and furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint 
over existing exterior touchpad. 

$599.47 

Furnish and install new Sensus iPERL 1” meter to replace existing 1” meter and 
furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing exterior 
touchpad. 

$674.41 

Furnish and install new Sensus Cordonel 1.5” flanged meter to replace existing 1.5” 
flanged meter and furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing 
exterior touchpad. 

$3,094.78 

Furnish and install new Sensus Cordonel 2” flanged meter to replace existing 2” 
flanged meter and furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing 
exterior touchpad. 

$3,417.00 

Furnish and install new Sensus Cordonel 3” meter to replace existing 3” meter and 
furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing exterior 
touchpad. 

$5,814.71 

Furnish and install new Sensus Cordonel 4” meter to replace existing 4” meter and 
furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing exterior 
touchpad. 

$8,292.56 

Furnish and install new Sensus Omni C2 6” meter to replace existing 6” meter and 
furnish and install new Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing exterior 
touchpad. 

$13,440.87 

Reprogram existing Sensus iPERL meter and furnish and install new Sensus 510M 
AMI endpoint over existing exterior touchpad. 

$344.70 

Reprogram existing 2” and smaller Sensus Omni meter and furnish and install new 
Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing exterior touchpad. 

$344.70 

Reprogram existing 3” and larger Sensus Omni meter and furnish and install new 
Sensus 510M AMI endpoint over existing exterior touchpad. 

$457.10 



 
Table B.2, Total Project Cost 

Item Cost 
Total Turnkey Project Cost  $3,598,357.00  
Out of Scope Services Contingency  $91,220.00  
Contract Total  $3,689,577.00  

 
The final contract price for the Out of Scope Services Contingency given in Table B.2 above will 
be adjusted based on the specific instances of each item listed in Table B.3 below at the 
associated unit pricing or time & material rate. 
 

• Furnish and install electrical grounding strap across meter. 
• Furnish and install new water meter isolation valve to replace defective/leaking meter 

isolation valve located inside the facility. 
• Furnish and install new wire run from the meter to the outdoor AMI endpoint. 
• Drill pit meter lids for AMI endpoint antenna. 
• Perform Time and Material plumbing modifications as required to accommodate non-

standard meter lay lengths, install new water meters in existing unmetered municipal 
building water services, changes to the meter size, or meter couplings, repair leaks, 
etc. 

 
Table B.3, Out of Scope Services Unit Prices 

Replacement Scope Unit Price 
Install new ground strap, 1" and smaller meter  $30.39  
Install new ground strap, 1.5" and 2” meter  $239.86  
Install new ground strap, 3” and larger meter  $446.78  
Replace water meter isolation valve, 1" and 
smaller 

 $295.88  

Replace water meter isolation valve, 1.5" and 2"  $828.30  
Additional wire run between meter & AMI 
endpoint 

$83.34 

Drill pit meter lid for AMI antenna $138.90 
Time - Hourly labor (billed in 30-minute 
intervals) 

$250.02 

Material - Miscellaneous parts & material  Cost plus 
15% 

 
Staff recommends Veregy as our selected vendor for the water meter replacement and AMI 
project.  



1251914.2 

ORDINANCE NO. O-__________-24 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE WAIVING BID AND AUTHORIZING THE  
ACCEPTANCE AND EXECUTION OF A STANDARD FORM OF CONSTRUCTION 

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT FOR DESIGNER-DESIGN-BUILD PROJECT BY 
AND BETWEEN VEREGY LLC AND THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK  

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 1-8A-7 of the Village Code of the Village of Forest 

Park, the corporate authorities of the Village of Forest Park (the “Village”) may, by four-fifths 

vote of all Council members then holding office, waive the competitive bidding requirements 

of Section 1-8A-7 of the Village Code; and 

 WHEREAS, the Village proposes to undertake the replacement and upgrade of all 

Village water meters, with advanced meter infrastructure (“Project”); and 

 WHEREAS, the Village advertised and solicited proposals, seeking highly qualified 

vendors to efficiently manage implementation of the Project in the most cost effective manner; 

and 

 WHEREAS, due to the complexity, timing and scope of the Project, it is recommended 

and hereby determined that the services of a construction manager is required to facilitate and 

efficiently coordinate the implementation of the Project from inspection to completion; and 

 WHEREAS, Veregy, LLC (“Veregy”) has submitted its proposal for a Standard Form 

of Construction Contract for Designer-Design-Build Project (“Agreement”) to manage the 

Project; and 

 WHEREAS, the corporate authorities of the Village find that Veregy is qualified to 

provide such efficient and cost effective Project management and oversight to bring the Project 

to a successful completion; and 

 WHEREAS, the corporate authorities of the Village find it advisable, necessary and in 

the best interest of the public to waive the requirement of Section 1-8A-7 of the Village Code, 

to waive the competitive bidding requirements, and to accept and enter into the Agreement with 

Veregy regarding the Project, in the total not-to-exceed amount of Three Million Six Hundred 

Eight-Nine Thousand Five Hundred Seventy-Seven and 00/100 Dollars ($3,689,577.00).  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, 

Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 



 

2 

 Section 1. The foregoing recital clauses to this Ordinance are adopted by the 

corporate authorities as their findings of fact and are incorporated herein by specific reference. 

 Section 2. It is hereby determined that it is advisable, necessary and in the public 

interest that the Village waive bid under Section 1-8A-7 of the Village Code and engage the 

management services of Veregy to implement to the Project. 

 Section 3. That certain Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A, 

is hereby approved. 

 Section 4. The Mayor be and is hereby authorized and directed to execute and the 

Village Clerk to attest on behalf of the Village the Agreement substantially in the form attached 

hereto as Exhibit A, with such changes therein as may be approved by the officials executing 

the same, their execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of the approval of such 

changes, if any. 

Section 5. The officials, officers and employees of the Village are hereby 

authorized to take such further actions and execute such documents as are necessary to carry 

out the purpose and intent of this Resolution and the Proposal. 

 Section 6. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon its adoption. 

 ADOPTED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, this 16th 

day of December, 2024. 

AYES:  ___________________ 
 
NAYS:  ___________________ 
 
ABSENT:  _________________ 
 
 APPROVED by me this 16th day of December, 2024 
 

 
 

 _____________________________________ 
      Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
 
ATTESTED and filed in my office 
and published in pamphlet form  
this _______ day of December, 2024. 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Vanessa Belmonte, Village Clerk 



 

3 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Standard Form of Construction Management 
Contract for Designer-Design-Build Project 

 
  



 

4 

STANDARD FORM OF CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT 
CONTRACT FOR DESIGNER- DESIGN-BUILD PROJECT 

 
OWNER:    Village of Forest Park 
 
CONSTRUCTION MANAGER: Veregy 
 
PROJECT:    Water Meter Replacement and AMI Project  
 
CONTRACT DATE:   12/12/24 
 
CONTRACT 
PRICE:    Not to Exceed $3,689,577.00 
 
SUBSTANTIAL 
COMPLETION DATE:  December 1, 2025 
 
 



 

1252273_1 

ARTICLE 1 - RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES 
 
1.1 Relationship.  The Relationship between the Owner and the Construction Manager with 

regard to the Project shall be one of good faith and fair dealing.  The Construction Manager 
agrees to provide the design, construction, management and administration services as 
set forth in greater detail below. 

 
1.2 Engineer.  Construction Manager shall furnish any necessary engineering services for the 

Work. 
 
ARTICLE 2 - DEFINITIONS 
 
2.1 Contract Documents.  The Contract Documents consist of: 
 
 .1 Change Orders and written amendments to this Contract signed by both the Owner 

and Construction Manager;  
 
 .2 This Contract;  
 
 .3 Surveys, geo-technical information and other information provided by the Owner 

pursuant to this Contract; 
 
 .4 The Plans and Specifications, including any Addenda thereto; 
 
 .5 Exhibits A, B and C, referenced herein, attached hereto and made a part hereof. 
 

In case of any inconsistency, conflict or ambiguity among the Contract Documents, the 
Documents shall govern in the order in which they are listed above. 

 
2.2 Day.  A "Day" shall mean one calendar day.  
 
2.3 Hazardous Material.  A Hazardous Material is any substance or material identified now or 

in the future as hazardous under any federal, state or local law or regulation, or any other 
substance or material which may be considered hazardous or otherwise subject to 
statutory or regulatory requirements governing handling, disposal, remediation and/or 
cleanup. 

 
2.4 Owner.  The Owner for the purposes of this Contract is: Village of Forest Park. 
 
2.5 Subcontractor.  A Subcontractor is a person or entity who has an agreement with the 

Construction Manager to perform any portion of the Work, and includes vendors or 
material suppliers, any separate contractor employed by the Owner, or any separate 
contractor’s subcontractor. 

 
2.5 Substantial Completion.  Substantial Completion of the Work, or of a designated portion 

of the Work, occurs on the date when construction is sufficiently complete in accordance 
with the Contract Documents so that the Owner can begin to occupy or utilize the Project, 
or the designated portion, for the use for which it is intended. 

 



 

1252273_1 

2.6 Subsubcontractor.  A Subsubcontractor is a person or entity who has an agreement with 
a Subcontractor to perform any portion of the Subcontractor's work. 

 
2.7 The Work.  The Work consists of all of the construction, procurement and administration 

services to be performed by the Construction Manager and the Subcontractors under this 
Contract, as well as any other services which are necessary to complete the Project in 
accordance with and reasonably inferable from the Contract Documents, pursuant to the 
Scope of Services identified in Exhibit A, attached hereto and made a part hereof, and the 
Water Meter Database, attached hereto as Exhibit C and made a part hereof. 

 
ARTICLE 3 - CONSTRUCTION MANAGER'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
3.1 Commencement.  The Construction Manager may commence the Work upon execution 

of this Contract.  The parties contemplate that by mutual agreement, the Construction 
Manager may commence certain portions of the Work, such as procurement of long lead-
time items and site preparation, prior to execution of this Contract in reliance on the 
Price/Schedule Guarantee. 

 
3.2 General Requirements.  The Construction Manager shall perform those portions of the 

Work that the Construction Manager customarily performs with its own personnel.  All 
other portions of the Work shall be performed by Subcontractors or under other 
appropriate agreements with the Construction Manager.  The Subcontractor selection 
process shall be as set forth in Article 4.  The Construction Manager shall exercise 
reasonable skill and judgment in the performance of the Work.  The Construction Manager 
shall give all notices and comply with all laws and ordinances legally enacted at the date 
of execution of this Contract which govern performance of the Work. 

 
3.3 Schedule.  The Construction Manager shall maintain in written form a schedule of the 

Work.  The schedule shall indicate the dates for the start and completion of various stages 
of the construction and shall be revised as required by the conditions of the Work.  The 
schedule may contain dates when information, decisions and approvals are required from 
the Owner; and both the Owner and the Construction Manager agree to use their best 
efforts to comply with the time requirements of the schedule.  

 
3.4 Meetings.  The Construction Manager shall schedule and conduct meetings at which the 

appropriate parties can discuss the status of the Work.  The Construction Manager shall 
prepare and promptly distribute meeting minutes. 

 
3.5 Reports.  The Construction Manager shall provide monthly written reports to the Owner 

on the progress of the Work which shall include the current status of the Work in relation 
to the construction schedule as well as adjustments to the construction schedule 
necessary to meet the Substantial Completion date.  The Construction Manager shall 
maintain a daily log containing a record of weather, Subcontractors working on the site, 
number of workers, Work accomplished, problems encountered and other similar relevant 
data as the Owner may reasonably require.  The log shall be available to the Owner upon 
reasonable advance notice. 

 
3.6 N/A 
 



 

1252273_1 

3.7 Permits.  The Construction Manager shall provide reasonable assistance to the Owner 
relative to the Owner’s obligation to secure the permits necessary for construction of the 
Project, as set forth in Art. 6.1.3, below.   

 
3.8 Safety.  The Construction Manager shall take necessary precautions for the safety of its 

employees on the Project and shall comply with all applicable provisions of federal, state 
and local safety laws and regulations to prevent accidents or injuries to persons on or 
adjacent to the Project site.  The Construction Manager, directly or through its 
Subcontractors, shall erect and properly maintain necessary safeguards for the protection 
of workers and the public.  However, the Construction Manager shall not be responsible 
for the elimination or abatement of safety hazards created or otherwise resulting from any 
work at the Project site being performed by someone other than the Construction 
Manager, a Subcontractor or Subsubcontractor.   

 
3.9 Cleanup.  The Construction Manager shall keep the site of the Work reasonably free from 

debris and waste materials resulting from the Work.  At the completion of the Work, the 
Construction Manager or its Subcontractors shall remove from the site of the Work all 
construction equipment, tools, surplus materials, waste materials and debris. 

 
3.10 Hazardous Materials.  The Construction Manager shall not be obligated to commence or 

continue Work, until any known or suspected Hazardous Material discovered at the Project 
site has been removed or rendered or determined to be harmless by the Owner as certified 
by an independent testing laboratory and approved by the appropriate government 
agency.  The Construction Manager shall be responsible for retaining an independent 
testing laboratory to determine the nature of the material encountered and whether it is a 
Hazardous Material, which shall entitle the Construction Manager to a Change Order 
increasing the Contract Price and extending the Substantial Completion date.  The 
Construction Manager shall not be required to perform any Work relating to or in the area 
of known or suspected Hazardous Material without written mutual agreement and shall 
resume Work in the area affected by any Hazardous Material only upon written agreement 
between the parties after the Hazardous Material has been removed or rendered 
harmless.  If the Construction Manager incurs additional costs and/or is delayed due to 
the presence of known or suspected Hazardous Material, the Construction Manager shall 
be entitled to a Change Order equitably adjusting the Contract Price and/or the date of 
Substantial Completion.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Owner shall indemnify 
and hold harmless, regardless of fault, negligence or other liability, the Construction 
Manager, Engineer, all Subcontractors and Subsubcontractors, and the agents, officers, 
directors and employees of each of them from and against any and all claims, damages, 
losses, costs and expenses, whether direct, indirect or consequential, including but not 
limited to attorney's fees, arising out of or relating to the performance of the Work in any 
area affected by Hazardous Material.  The terms of this indemnification shall survive 
completion or termination of this Contract. 

 
3.11 Intellectual Property.  The Construction Manager shall pay all royalties and license fees 

which may be due on the inclusion of any patented or copyrighted materials, methods or 
systems selected by the Construction Manager and incorporated in the Work.  The 
Construction Manager shall defend, indemnify and hold the Owner harmless from all suits 
or claims for infringement of any patent rights or copyrights arising out of such selection.  
The Owner agrees to defend, indemnify and hold the Construction Manager harmless from 
any suits or claims of infringement of any patent rights arising out of any patented 
materials, methods or systems selected, required or specified by the Owner. 



 

1252273_1 

 
3.12 Completion.  At or promptly after the date of Substantial Completion, the Construction 

Manager shall secure required certificates of inspection, testing or approval and deliver 
them to the Owner; collect all written warranties and equipment manuals and deliver them 
to the Owner; with the assistance of the Owner's maintenance personnel, direct the 
checkout of utilities and operations of systems and equipment for readiness, and assist in 
their initial start-up and testing; provide the Owner with a set of record drawings which the 
Construction Manager shall have maintained throughout the Project; and prepare and 
forward to the Owner a punch list of items of Work yet to be completed. 

 
3.13 Indemnification.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Construction Manager shall 

defend, indemnify and hold the Owner harmless from all claims for bodily injury and 
property damage (other than to the Work itself and other property insured under the 
Owner's builder's risk or other property insurance) to the extent of the negligence 
attributed to such acts or omissions by the Construction Manager, Subcontractors, 
Subsubcontractors or anyone employed directly or indirectly by any of them or by anyone 
for whose acts any of them may be liable.  Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, nothing 
contained in this paragraph shall require the Contractor to indemnify the Owner or the 
Engineer, their officials, agents and employees for their own negligent acts or omissions. 

 
3.14 Overtime Work.  Except in connection with the safety or protection of persons, or the work, 

or property at the site or adjacent thereto, and subject to Art. 7.5.2 hereof, all work at the 
site shall be performed during regular working hours; and the Construction Manager will 
not permit overtime work or the performance of work on Saturday, Sunday or any legal 
holiday without the Owner’s written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, 
given after prior written notice. Regular working hours shall be a consecutive eight-hour 
period between the hours of seven o'clock (7:00) A.M. and five o'clock (5:00) P.M., 
Monday through Friday.  No loading, unloading, opening, closing or other handling of 
crates, containers, building materials or the performance of construction work shall be 
performed before the hour of seven o'clock  (7:00) A.M. and after the hour of nine o'clock 
(9:00) P.M. without the Owner’s written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, 
given after prior written notice. 

 
3.15 Selection of Labor.  The Construction Manager shall comply with all Illinois statues 

pertaining to the selection of labor. 
 
3.16 Employment of Illinois Workers During Periods of Excessive Unemployment.  Whenever 

there is a period of excessive unemployment in Illinois, which is defined herein as any 
month immediately following two consecutive calendar months during which the level of 
unemployment in the State of Illinois has exceeded five percent as measured by the 
United States Bureau of Labor Statistics in its monthly publication of employment and 
unemployment figures, the Construction Manager shall employ only Illinois laborers. 
"Illinois laborer" means any person who has resided in Illinois for at least 30 days and 
intends to become or remain an Illinois resident. 

 
Other laborers may be used when Illinois laborers as defined herein are not available, or 
are incapable of performing the particular type of work involved, if so certified by the 
Construction Manager and approved by the Owner. The Construction Manager may place 
no more than three of his regularly employed non-resident executive and technical 
experts, who do not qualify as Illinois laborers, to do work encompassed by this Contract 
during a period of excessive unemployment. 



 

1252273_1 

 
This provision applies to all labor, whether skilled, semi-skilled or unskilled, whether 
manual or non-manual. 

 
3.17  Equal Employment Opportunity.  During the performance of this Contract, the 

Construction Manager agrees as follows: 
   

 .1  That it will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, ancestry, age, marital status, 
physical or mental handicap or unfavorable discharge from military service, and 
further that it will examine all job classifications to determine if minority persons or 
women are underutilized and will take appropriate affirmative action to rectify any 
such underutilization. 

 
  .2 That, if it hires additional employees in order to perform this Contract or any portion 

hereof, it will determine the availability of minorities and women in the area(s) from 
which it may reasonably recruit and it will hire for each job classification for which 
employees are hired in such a way that minorities and women are not 
underutilized. 

 
  .3 That, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by it or on its 

behalf, it will state that all applicants will be afforded equal opportunity without 
discrimination because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, ancestry, age, 
marital status, physical or mental handicap or unfavorable discharge from military 
service. 

 
 .4 That it will send to each labor organization or representative of workers with which 

it has or is bound by collective bargaining or other agreement or understanding, a 
notice advising such labor organization or representative of the Construction 
Manager's obligations under the Illinois Human Rights Act and the Owner's Rules 
and Regulations. If any such labor organization or representative fails or refuses 
to cooperate with the Construction Manager in its efforts to comply with such Act 
and Rules and Regulations, the Construction Manager will promptly notify the 
Illinois Department of Human Rights and the Owner and will recruit employees 
from other sources when necessary to fulfill its obligations thereunder. 

 
 .5 That it will submit reports as required by the Owner of Human Rights Rules and 

Regulations, furnish all relevant information as may from time to time be requested 
by the Owner or the contracting agency, and in all respects comply with the Illinois 
Human Rights Act and the Owner's Rules and Regulations. 

 
 .6 That it will permit access to all relevant books, records, accounts and work sites 

by personnel of the contracting agency Illinois Department of Human Rights for 
purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with the Illinois Human Rights 
Act and the Department's Rules and Regulations. 

 
  .7 That it will include verbatim or by reference the provisions of this clause in every 

subcontract so that such provisions will be binding upon every such subcontractor. 
In the same manner as with other provisions of this Contract, the Construction 
Manager will be liable for compliance with applicable provisions of this clause by 
all its subcontractors; and further it will promptly notify the Owner and the Illinois 



 

1252273_1 

Department of Human Rights in the event any subcontractor fails or refuses to 
comply therewith. In addition, the Construction Manager will not utilize any 
subcontractor declared by the Owner to have failed to comply with this Equal 
Employment Opportunity provision.  

 
3.18 Sexual Harassment Policy.  The Construction Manager shall have in place and shall 

enforce a written sexual harassment policy in compliance with 775 ILCS 5/2-105(A)(4). 
 
3.19 Veterans Preference Act.  The Construction Manager shall comply with all laws relating to 

the employment preference to veterans in accordance with the Veterans Preference Act 
(330 ILCS 55/0.01 et seq.). 

 
3.20 Wages of Employees on Public Works.  This Contract is subject to “An act regulating 

wages of laborers, mechanics and other workers employed in any public works by the 
State, County, City or any public body or any political subdivision or by anyone under 
contract for public works," approved June 26, 1941, as amended, except that where a 
prevailing wage violates a Federal law, order, or ruling, the rate conforming to the Federal 
law, order, or ruling shall govern. 

 
Not less than the prevailing rate of wages as found by the Owner or the Illinois Department 
of Labor or determined by a court on review shall be paid to all laborers, workers and 
mechanics performing work under this contract. These prevailing rates of wages are 
included in this Contract. 

 
The Construction Manager and each subcontractor shall keep an accurate record showing 
the names and occupations of all laborers, workers and mechanics employed by them on 
this contract, and also showing the actual hourly wages paid to each of such persons. 

 
The submission by the Construction Manager and each subcontractor of payrolls, or 
copies thereof, is not required. However, the Construction Manager and each 
subcontractor shall preserve their weekly payroll records for a period of three years from 
the date of completion of this Contract. 

 
3.21 Confidentiality of Information.   Any documents, data, records, or other information relating 

to the project and all information secured by the Construction Manager from the Owner in 
connection with the performance of services, unless in the public domain, shall be kept 
confidential by the Construction Manager and shall not be made available to third parties 
without written consent of the Owner, unless so required by court order. 

 
3.22 Steel Procurement.  The steel products, as defined in section 3 of the Steel Products 

Procurement Act (30 ILCS 565/3) used or supplied in the performance of this Contract or 
any subcontract shall be manufactured or produced in the United States unless the Owner 
certifies in writing that (a) the specified products are not manufactured or produced in the 
United States in sufficient quantities to meet the Owner's requirements or cannot be 
manufactured or produced in the United States within the necessary time in sufficient 
quantities to meet the Owner's requirements; or (b) obtaining the specified products, 
manufactured or produced in the United States would increase the cost of the Contract by 
more than 10%, or the application of the Steel Products Procurement Act (30 ILCS 565/1 
et seq.) is not in the public interest. 

 
3.23 Certifications. 



 

1252273_1 

 
.1 Illinois Taxes.  The Construction Manager shall certify that its members holding 

more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding membership interest of the limited 
liability company, its officers and managers are, not delinquent in the payment of 
taxes to the Illinois Department of Revenue in accordance with 65 ILCS 5/11-42.1-
1. 

 
.2 Bid Rigging.  The Construction Manager shall certify that its members holding more 

than five percent (5%) of the outstanding membership interest of the limited liability 
company, its officers and managers have not been barred from contracting with a 
unit of state or local government as a result of a violation of Section 33E-3 or 33E-
4 of the Criminal Code of 1961. 

 
.3 Drug-free Workplace.  The Construction Manager shall certify that it will provide a 

drug-free workplace by:  
 

 .1 Publishing a statement: 
 
  .1   Notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, 

dispensation, possession, or use of a controlled substance, including 
cannabis, is prohibited in the Construction Manager's workplace; 

  
  .2   Specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violations of 

such prohibition; 
 

.3   Notifying the employee that, as a condition of employment on such 
contract, the employee will: 
 

   .1    abide by the terms of the statement; and 
 

.2    notify the employer of any criminal drug statute conviction for a 
violation occurring in the workplace no later than five (5) days after 
such conviction;  
 

 .2   Establishing a drug-free awareness program to inform employees about: 
 
  .1   the dangers of drug abuse in the workplace; 
 
  .2   the Construction Manager’s policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace; 
 
  .3    any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance 

program; and 
 
  .4    the penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug violations; 
 

.3    Making it a requirement to give a copy of the statement required by subparagraph 
3.23.3.1 to each employee engaged in the performance of the Contract and to post 
the statement in a prominent place in the workplace; 

 



 

1252273_1 

 .4 Notifying the Owner within ten (10) days after receiving notice under subparagraph 
3.23.3.1.3.2 from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such 
conviction; 

 
 .5 Imposing a sanction on or requiring the satisfactory participation in a drug abuse 

assistance or rehabilitation program by any employee who is so convicted, as 
required by 30 ILCS 580/5; 

 
 .6 Assisting employees in selecting a course of action in the event drug counseling 

treatment and rehabilitation is required and indicating that a trained referral team 
is in place; 

 
 .7 Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through 

implementation of this section. 
 
.4 Educational Loan.  The Construction Manager shall certify that its members holding more 

than five percent (5%) of the outstanding membership interest of the limited liability 
company, its officers and managers are, not in default, as defined in 5 ILCS 385/2, on an 
educational loan, as defined in 5 ILCS 385/1. 

 
.5 Human Rights Number.  The Construction Manger shall certify that at the time the 

Construction Manager was awarded this Contract, the Construction Manager had an 
Illinois Department of Human Rights pre-qualification number or had a properly completed 
application for same on file with the Illinois Department of Human Rights, as provided for 
in 44 Illinois Administrative Code 750.210. 

 
 
ARTICLE 4 - SUBCONTRACTS 
 
4.1 General.  Work subject to this Contract not performed by the Construction Manager with 

its own forces shall be performed by Subcontractors or Subsubcontractors.  The 
Construction Manager shall be responsible for management of the Subcontractors in the 
performance of their Work.   

 
4.2 Selection.  The Construction Manager shall subcontract with Subcontractors and with 

suppliers of materials or equipment fabricated to a special design for the Work, and shall 
manage the delivery of the work to the Owner.  The Owner may designate specific persons 
or entities from whom the Construction Manager shall subcontract.  However, the Owner 
may not prohibit the Construction Manager from subcontracting with other qualified 
bidders.   

 
 .1 If the Construction Manager recommends to the Owner the acceptance of a 

particular subcontractor who is qualified to perform that portion of the Work and 
has submitted a price which conforms to the requirements of the Contract 
Documents without reservations or exceptions, and the Owner requires that a 
different price be accepted, then a Change Order shall be issued adjusting the 
Substantial Completion Date and the Contract Price by the difference between the 
price of the subcontract recommended by the Construction Manager and the 
subcontract that the Owner has required be accepted. 

 



 

1252273_1 

 .2 The Construction Manager shall not be required to contract with anyone to whom 
the Construction Manager has a reasonable objection, or with anyone who is 
otherwise unqualified to perform the Work. 

 
4.3 Assignment.  The Construction Manager shall provide for assignment of Subcontract 

Agreements in the event that the Owner terminates this Contract for cause.  Following 
such termination, the Owner shall notify in writing those Subcontractors whose 
assignments will be accepted, subject to the rights of sureties, if any. 

 
4.4.1 Subcontracts.  The Construction Manager shall prepare all Subcontracts and shall have 

full discretion to negotiate their terms, subject to the Owner’s reasonable requirements or 
objections as to form and content. 

 
4.5 Foreign Corporation.  Foreign (non-Illinois) corporations shall procure from the Illinois 

Secretary of State a certificate of authority to transact business in Illinois in accordance 
with 805 ILCS 5/13. 

 
ARTICLE 5 - CONSTRUCTION MANAGER'S WARRANTIES 

 
5.1 One-Year Warranty.  The Construction Manager warrants that all materials and equipment 

furnished under this Contract will be new unless otherwise specified, of good quality, in 
conformance with the Contract Documents, and free from defective workmanship and 
materials; and the Construction Manager agrees to correct all construction performed 
under this Contract which proves to be defective in workmanship or materials.  These 
warranties shall commence on the date of Substantial Completion of the Work or of a 
designated portion thereof and shall continue for a period of one year therefrom or for 
such longer periods of time as may be set forth with respect to specific warranties required 
by the Contract Documents. The foregoing warranty excludes remedy for damage or 
defect caused by abuse, modifications not executed by Construction Manager, improper 
or insufficient maintenance, improper operation, or normal wear and tear and normal 
usage. 

 
5.2 Materials Specified By Owner.  The products, equipment, systems or materials 

incorporated in the Work at the direction or upon the specific request of the Owner shall 
be covered exclusively by the warranty of the manufacturer and are not otherwise 
warranted under this Contract.   

 
5.3 Other Warranties.  ALL OTHER WARRANTIES, EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, 

INCLUDING THE WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY AND THE WARRANTY OF 
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, ARE EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMED. 

 
ARTICLE 6 - OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
6.1 Information and Services.  The Owner shall provide: 
 
 .1 All necessary information describing the physical characteristics of the site, 

including surveys, site evaluations, legal descriptions, existing conditions, 
subsurface and environmental studies, reports and investigations; 

 
 .2 Inspection and testing services during construction as required by the law or as 

mutually agreed; 



 

1252273_1 

 
 .3 Any necessary approvals, rezoning, easements and assessments, permits, fees 

and charges required for the construction, use, occupancy or renovation of 
permanent structures, including any legal and other required services; and 

 
 .4 any other information or services stated in the Contract Documents as being 

provided by the Owner. 
 
6.2 Reliance.  The Construction Manager shall be entitled to rely on the completeness and 

accuracy of the information and services required by paragraph 6.1 above, and the Owner 
agrees to provide such information and services in a timely manner so as not to delay the 
Work. 

 
6.3 Notice of Defect.  If the Owner becomes aware of any error, omission or other inadequacy 

in the Contract Documents or of the Construction Manager's failure to meet any of the 
requirements of the Contract Documents, or of any other fault or defect in the Work, the 
Owner shall give prompt written notice to the Construction Manager; however, the Owner’s 
failure to provide notice shall not relieve the Construction Manager of its obligations under 
this Contract.   

 
6.4 Communications.  The Owner shall communicate with the Subcontractors and 

Subsubcontractors only through the Construction Manager.  The Owner shall have no 
contractual obligations to any Subcontractors or Subsubcontractors. 

 
6.5 Owner's Representative.  The Owner's Representative for this Project is Sal Stella, 

Director of Public Works, who shall be fully acquainted with the Project; shall be the 
conduit by which the Owner furnishes the information and services required of the Owner; 
and shall have authority to bind the Owner in all matters requiring the Owner's approval, 
authorization or written notice, provided, however, that the Owner’s Representative shall 
not have authority to increase the Contract Price by more than $20,000.00 nor to extend 
the Substantial Completion Date.  Authority to increase the Contract Price by more than 
$20,000.00, or to extend the Substantial Completion Date may only be exercised by 
written Change Order signed by .  If the Owner changes its representative, the Owner 
shall notify the Construction Manager in advance in writing. 

 
ARTICLE 7 - CONTRACT TIME 

 
7.1 Execution Date.  The parties contemplate that this Contract will be fully executed on or 

before the contract date identified on the first page of this contract.  A delay in the Owner's 
execution of this Contract which postpones the commencement of the Work shall require 
a Change Order equitably adjusting the Substantial Completion Date.   

 
7.2 Substantial Completion.  The date of Substantial Completion of the Work shall be the 

Substantial Completion Date identified on the first page of this Contract, as adjusted in 
accordance with the provisions of this Contract.  Time shall be of the essence of this 
Contract.  “Contract Time” means the measurement of time between the Execution Date, 
as defined in Art. 7.1 hereof, and the Substantial Completion Date, as defined in Art. 7.2 
hereof 

 
7.3 Delays.  If causes beyond the Construction Manager's control delay the progress of the 

Work, then the Contract Price and/or the Substantial Completion Date shall be modified 



 

1252273_1 

by Change Order as appropriate.  Such causes shall include but not be limited to:  changes 
ordered in the Work, acts or omissions of the Owner or separate contractors employed by 
the Owner, the Owner’s preventing the Construction Manager from performing the Work 
pending dispute resolution, the discovery of Hazardous Materials or differing site 
conditions, adverse weather conditions not reasonably anticipated, fire, unusual 
transportation delays, labor disputes, or unavoidable accidents or circumstances.  In the 
event that delays to the Project are encountered for any reason, the Owner and the 
Construction Manager both agree to undertake reasonable steps to mitigate the effect of 
such delays. 

 
7.4 Inclement Weather.  The Substantial Completion Date shall not be extended due to normal 

inclement weather.  Unless the Construction Manager can substantiate to the satisfaction 
of the Owner that there was greater than normal inclement weather considering the full 
term of the Contract Time and using the most recent ten-year average of accumulated 
record mean values from climatological data compiled by the United States Department 
of Commerce National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration for the locale of the 
project and that such alleged greater than normal inclement weather actually delayed the 
Work or portions thereof which had an adverse material effect on the Substantial 
Completion Date, the Construction Manager shall not be entitled to an extension of the 
Substantial Completion Date.  If the total accumulated number of calendar days lost due 
to inclement weather from the start of work until substantial completion exceeds the total 
accumulated number to be expected for the same time period from the aforesaid data and 
the Owner grants the Construction Manager an extension of time, the Substantial 
Completion Date shall be extended by the appropriate number of calendar days. 

 
7.5 Responsibility for Completion.  The Construction Manager, through its Subcontracts, shall 

furnish such employees, materials and equipment as may be necessary to ensure the 
prosecution and completion of the Work in accordance with the construction schedule.  
Subject to paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 hereof, if the Work is not being performed in accordance 
with the construction schedule and its becomes apparent from the schedule that the Work 
will not be completed within the Contract Time, the Construction Manager shall, as 
necessary to improve the progress of the Work, take some or all of the following actions, 
at no additional cost to the Owner: 

 
 .1 Increase the number of workers in such crafts as necessary to regain the lost 

progress; 
 
 .2 Increase the number of working hours per shift, shifts per working day, working 

days per week, the amount of equipment or any combination of the foregoing to 
regain the lost progress. 

 
In addition, the Owner may require the Construction Manager to prepare and submit a 
recovery schedule demonstrating the Construction Manager’s plan to regain the lost 
progress and to ensure completion within the Contract Time.  If the Owner finds the 
proposed recovery plan is not satisfactory, the Owner may require the Construction 
Manager to undertake any of the actions set forth in this paragraph 7.5, without additional 
cost to the Owner. 
 

7.6 Failure to Prosecute the Work.  The failure of the Construction Manager to substantially 
comply with the requirements of paragraph 7.5 may be considered grounds for a 
determination by the Owner that the Construction Manager has failed to prosecute the 



 

1252273_1 

Work with such diligence to ensure completion of the Work within the Contract Time and 
that, pursuant to paragraph 11.2, the Construction Manager has materially breached this 
Contract.     

 
 

ARTICLE 8 - PAYMENT 
 
8.1 Contract Price.  The Contract Price is the not to exceed lump sum set forth on Page 1 of 

this Contract, subject to adjustment in accordance with the provisions of this Contract, 
pursuant to the Fee Proposal, attached as Exhibit B and made a part hereof. 

 
8.2 N/A 
 
8.3 Progress Payments.  Prior to submitting the first Application for Payment, the Construction 

Manager shall provide a Schedule of Values reasonably satisfactory to the Owner 
consisting of a breakdown of the Contract Price by trade or appropriate category.  On or 
before the fifteenth day of each month after the Work has been commenced, the 
Construction Manager shall submit to the Owner an Application for Payment in 
accordance with the Schedule of Values based upon the Work completed and materials 
stored on the site or at other locations approved by the Owner.  Within fifteen (15) days 
after receipt of each monthly Application for Payment, the Owner shall approve or 
disapprove the Application for Payment.  When safety or quality assurance testing is 
necessary before consideration of the Application for Payment, and such testing cannot 
be completed within thirty (30) days after receipt of the Application for Payment, approval 
or disapproval of the Application for Payment shall be made upon completion of the testing 
or within sixty (60) days after receipt of the Application for Payment, whichever occurs 
first.  If an Application for Payment is disapproved, the Owner shall notify the Construction 
Manager in writing.  If an Application for Payment is approved, the Owner shall pay directly 
to the Construction Manager the appropriate amount for which Application for Payment 
was made, less amounts previously paid by the Owner within thirty (30) days after 
approval.  The Owner's progress payment, occupancy or use of the Project, whether in 
whole or in part, shall not be deemed to be an acceptance of any Work not conforming to 
the requirements of the Contract Documents. 

 
 .1 With each Application for Payment the Construction Manager shall submit lien 

waivers executed by Contractor and Subcontractors for the work performed during 
that period. 

 
 .2 Each Application for Payment shall be based upon the most recent Schedule of 

Values submitted by the Construction Manager in accordance with the Contract 
Documents.  The Schedule of Values shall allocate the entire Contract Price 
among the various portions of the Work, except that the Construction Manager’s 
Fee shall be shown as a single separate item.  The Schedule of Values shall be 
prepared in such form and supported by such data to substantiate its accuracy as 
the Owner may reasonably require and shall be used as a basis for reviewing the 
Construction Manager’s Applications for Payment. 

 
 .3 Applications for Payment shall show the percentage completion of each portion of 

the Work as of the end of the period covered by the Application for Payment.  The 
percentage completion shall be the  percentage of that portion of the Work which 
has actually been completed. 



 

1252273_1 

 
 .4 Subject to other provisions of the Contract Documents, the amount of each 

progress payment shall be computed as follows: 
 
  .1 Take that portion of the Contract Price properly allocable to completed 

Work as determined by multiplying the percentage completion of each 
portion of the Work by the share of the Contract Price allocated to that 
portion of the Work in the schedule of values.  Pending final determination 
of cost to the Owner of changes in the Work, amounts not in dispute may 
be included, even though the Contract Price has not yet been adjusted by 
Change Order. 

 
  .2 Add that portion of the Contract Price properly allocable to materials and 

equipment delivered and suitably stored at the site for subsequent 
incorporation in the Work or, if approved in advance by the Owner, suitably 
stored off the site at a location agreed upon in writing. 

 
  .3 N/A 
 
  .4 Subtract the aggregate of previous payments made by the Owner. 
 
 .5 Except with the Owner’s prior approval, payments to Subcontractors shall be 

subject to retention of five percent (5%).  The Owner and the Construction 
Manager shall agree upon a mutually acceptable procedure for review and 
approval of payments and retention for subcontracts. 

 
 .6 Except with the Owner’s prior approval, the Construction Manager shall not make 

advance payments to suppliers for materials or equipment which have not been 
delivered and stored at the site. 

 
8.4 Progress Payment Documentation. The Construction Manager shall supply and each 

Application for Payment shall be accompanied by the following, all in form and substance 
satisfactory to the Owner: 

 
(A)   a duly executed and acknowledged sworn statement showing all Subcontractors 

with whom the Construction Manager has entered into subcontracts; 
 

(B)    duly executed waivers of mechanics' and materialmen's liens of the money due or 
to become due herein, establishing payment to the Subcontractor or material 
supplier of all such obligations to cover the full amount of the Application for 
Payment from each and every Subcontractor and suppliers of material or labor to 
release the Owner of any claim to a mechanic's lien, which they or any of them 
may have under the mechanic's lien laws of Illinois.  Any payments made by the 
Owner without requiring strict compliance to the terms of this paragraph shall not 
be construed as a waiver by the Owner of the right to insist upon strict compliance 
with the terms of this approach as a condition of later payments.  The Construction 
Manager shall indemnify and save the Owner harmless from all claims of 
Subcontractors, laborers, workmen, mechanics, material men and furnishers of 
machinery and parts thereof, equipment, tools and all supplies incurred in the 
furtherance of the performance of the Work; 

 



 

1252273_1 

(C)    sworn statements or lien waivers supporting the Application for Payment submitted 
late by the Construction Manager to the Owner will result in the Application for 
Payment not being processed until the following month. 

 
8.5 Late Payments.  Payments shall be made in accordance with the Local Government 

Prompt Payment Act (50 ILCS 505/1 et. seq.)  
 
8.6 Title.  The Construction Manager warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials 

and equipment covered by an Application for Payment, whether incorporated in the Project 
or not, will pass to the Owner free and clear of all liens, claims, security interests or 
encumbrances upon receipt of such payment by the Construction Manager. 

 
8.7 Final Payment.  Final Payment shall be due and payable when the Work is fully completed.  

Before issuance of any final payment, the Owner may request satisfactory evidence that 
all payrolls, materials bills and other indebtedness connected with the Work have been or 
will be paid or otherwise satisfied.  In accepting final payment, the Construction Manager 
waives all claims except those previously made in writing and which remain unsettled.  In 
making final payment, the Owner waives all claims except for outstanding liens, improper 
workmanship or defective materials appearing within one year after the date of Substantial 
Completion, and terms of any special warranties required by the Contract Documents. 

 
 .1 The amount of the final payment shall be calculated as follows: 
 
  .1 Take the sum of the Contract Price, as adjusted by any Change Orders. 
 
  .2 Subtract the aggregate of previous payments made by the Owner.  If the 

aggregate of previous payments made by the Owner exceeds the amount 
due the Construction Manager, the Construction Manager shall reimburse 
the difference to the Owner. 

 
 .2 N/A 
 
 .3 N/A 
 
8.8 N/A 
 
8.9 N/A 
 
8.10 N/A 
 
8.11 Payment Approval.  The Owner may disapprove a payment, in whole or in part, or because 

of subsequent observations, nullify any progress payment previously made, to such extent 
as may be necessary, in its opinion, to protect its interests due to: 
 
.1 Defective work not remedied; 
 
.2 Third party claims or reasonable evidence indicating the probable filing of such 

claims; 
 
.3 Failure to make payments to subcontractors for labor, materials or equipment; 
 



 

1252273_1 

.4 Reasonable evidence that the Work cannot be completed for the unpaid balance 
of the Contract Price; 

 
.5 Failure to prosecute the Work with sufficient workers, materials, and/or equipment; 
 
.6 Failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.   
 
Prior to withholding any amount pursuant to this Section, the Owner shall provide 
Construction Manager with written notice that the Owner intends to withhold funds and the 
reason for the withholding.  The Owner shall not withhold an amount more than is 
reasonably necessary to correct the reason for the withholding.  Upon the reason for the 
withholding being resolved by Construction Manager, the Owner shall promptly release 
the funds withheld. 

 
ARTICLE 9 - CHANGES 

 
9.1 Change Orders.  Changes in the Work which are within the general scope of this Contract 

may be accomplished by Change Order without invalidating this Contract.  A Change 
Order is a written instrument, issued after execution of this Contract and signed by the 
Owner and Construction Manager, stating their agreement upon a change and any 
adjustment in the Contract Price and/or the date of Substantial Completion.  The 
Construction Manager shall not be obligated to perform changed Work until the Change 
Order has been executed by the Owner and Construction Manager. 

 
9.2 Costs.  An increase or decrease in the Contract Price resulting from a change in the Work 

shall be determined by one or more of the following methods: 
 
 .1 Unit prices as set forth in this Contract or as subsequently agreed (but if the original 

quantities are altered to a degree that application of previously agreed unit prices 
would be inequitable to either the Owner or the Construction Manager, the Unit 
Prices shall be equitably adjusted); 

 
.2 A mutually accepted, itemized lump sum; 

 
.3 Time and materials. 

 
If the parties cannot agree on the price term of a Change Order, then the Change Order 
will be calculated on the basis of actual time and materials costs incurred.  If at the Owner’s 
request the Construction Manager incurs substantial costs or time investigating a 
proposed change which is never ultimately made, the Contract Price and Substantial 
Completion Date shall be equitably adjusted. 

 
9.3 Unknown Conditions.  If in the performance of the Work, the Construction Manager finds 

latent, concealed or subsurface physical conditions which differ from the conditions the 
Construction Manager reasonably anticipated, or if physical conditions are materially 
different from those normally encountered and generally recognized as inherent in the 
kind of work provided for in this Contract, then the Contract Price and/or the Substantial 
Completion Date shall be equitably adjusted by Change Order within a reasonable time 
after the conditions are first observed. 

 



 

1252273_1 

9.4 Claims.  For any claim for an increase in the Contract Price and/or an extension in the 
date of Substantial Completion, the Construction Manager shall give the Owner written 
notice of the claim within twenty-one (21) days after the Construction Manager first 
recognizes the condition giving rise to the claim. Except in an emergency, notice shall be 
given before proceeding with the Work.  In any emergency affecting the safety of persons 
and/or property, the Construction Manager shall act, at its discretion, to prevent threatened 
damage, injury or loss.  Any change in Contract Price and/or Date of Substantial 
Completion resulting from such claim shall be effectuated by Change Order. 

 
ARTICLE 10 - INSURANCE AND BONDING 

 
10.1 The Construction Manager’s Insurance.  The Construction Manager shall obtain and 

maintain insurance coverage for the following claims which may arise out of the 
performance of this Contract, whether resulting from the Construction Manager's 
operations or by the operations of any Subcontractor, anyone in the employ of any of 
them, or by an individual or entity for whose acts they may be liable: 
.1 workers' compensation, disability benefit and other employee benefit claims under 

acts applicable to the Work; 
.2 under applicable employer’s liability law, bodily injury, occupational sickness, 

disease or death claims of the Construction Manager's employees; 
.3 bodily injury, sickness, disease or death claims for damages to persons not 

employed by the Construction Manager; 
.4 usual personal injury liability claims for damages directly or indirectly related to the 

person's employment by the Construction Manager or for damages to any other 
person; 

.5 damage to or destruction of tangible property, including resulting loss of use, 
claims for property other than the work itself and other property insured by the 
Owner; 

.6 bodily injury, death or property damage claims resulting from motor vehicle liability 
in the use, maintenance or ownership of any motor vehicle;  

.7 contractual liability claims involving the Construction Manager's indemnity 
obligations; and 

.8 loss due to errors or omission with respect to provision of professional services 
under this Agreement, including engineering services. 

10.2 The Construction Manager's liability insurance shall be written for not less than the 
following limits of liability: 

 

Commercial General Liability Insurance 
  Each Occurrence Limit   $1,000,000 
  General Aggregate Limit   $2,000,000 
  Products/Completed Operations Agg. $2,000,000 

Personal & Advertising Injury Limit  $1,000,000 
Fire Damage (any one fire)   $   100,000 
Medical Expenses, each person  $     10,000 



 

1252273_1 

Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance 
  Combined Single Limit, each accident $1,000,000 
         or 
  Bodily Injury (per person)   $1,000,000 
  Bodily Injury (per accident)   $1,000,000 
  Property Damage (per accident)  $1,000,000 
Worker’s Compensation & Employer’s Liability 
  Worker’s Compensation   Statutory Limits 
  Employer’s Liability 
   Bodily Injury by Accident  $  500,000 each accident 
   Bodily Injury by Disease  $  500,000 policy limit 
   Bodily Injury by Disease  $  500,000 each employee 
Commercial Umbrella/Excess Liability 
  Each Occurrence    $4,000,000 
  Aggregate     $4,000,000 
Professional Liability 
  Each Occurrence    $2,000,000 
  Aggregate     $2,000,000 

 
10.3 Liability insurance may be arranged under a single policy for the full limits required or by 

a combination of underlying policies and an Excess or Umbrella Liability policy.  The 
policies shall contain a provision that coverage will not be canceled or not renewed until 
at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice has been given to the Owner.  Certificates of 
insurance showing required coverage to be in force shall be provided to the Owner prior 
to commencement of the Work. 
Products and Completed Operations insurance shall be maintained for a minimum period 
of at least one year after the date of Substantial Completion or final payment, whichever 
is earlier. 

10.4 Primary Insurance.  The Construction Manager’s insurance shall be primary insurance as 
respects the Owner and Engineer.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the 
Owner and Engineer shall be excess of Construction Manager’s insurance and shall not 
contribute with it.  Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies shall not 
affect coverage provided to the Owner and Engineer. 

 
10.5 Acceptability of Insurers.  The insurance carrier(s) used by the Construction Manger shall 

have a minimum insurance rating of A:VII according to the AM Best Insurance Rating 
Schedule. 

 
10.6 The Owner's Insurance.  The Owner shall obtain and maintain property insurance in a 

form reasonably acceptable to the Construction Manager upon the entire Project for the 
full cost of replacement at the time of any loss.  This insurance shall include as named 
insureds the Owner and Construction Manager, Engineer, Subcontractors and 



 

1252273_1 

Subsubcontractors.  This insurance shall insure against loss from the perils of fire and 
extended coverage, and shall include "all risk" insurance for physical loss or damage 
including without duplication of coverage, at least:  theft, vandalism, malicious mischief, 
transit, collapse, falsework, temporary buildings, debris removal, flood, earthquake, 
testing, and damage resulting from defective design, workmanship or material.  The 
Owner shall increase limits of coverage, if necessary, to reflect estimated replacement 
cost.  The Owner shall be responsible for any co-insurance penalties or deductibles.  If 
the Owner occupies or uses a portion of the Project prior to its Substantial Completion, 
such occupancy or use shall not commence prior to a time mutually agreed to by the 
Owner and the Construction Manager and to which the insurance company or companies 
providing the property insurance have consented by endorsing the policy or policies.  This 
insurance shall not be canceled or lapsed on account of partial occupancy.  Consent of 
the Construction Manager to such early occupancy or use shall not be unreasonably 
withheld.  Upon the Construction Manager's request, the Owner shall provide the 
Construction Manager with a copy of all policies before an exposure to loss may occur.  
Copies of any subsequent endorsements shall be furnished to the Construction Manager.  
The Construction Manager shall be given thirty (30) days' notice of cancellation, non-
renewal, or any endorsements restricting or reducing coverage.  The Owner shall give 
written notice to the Construction Manager before commencement of the Work if the 
Owner will not be obtaining property insurance.  In that case, the Construction Manager 
may obtain insurance in order to protect its interest in the Work as well as the interest of 
the Engineer, Subcontractors and Subsubcontractors in the Work.  The Contract Price 
shall be increased by the cost of this insurance through Change Order.  If the Construction 
Manager is damaged by failure of the Owner to purchase or maintain property insurance 
or to so notify the Construction Manager, the Owner shall bear all reasonable costs 
incurred by the Construction Manager arising from the damage. 

10.7 Property Insurance Loss Adjustment.  Any insured loss shall be adjusted with the Owner 
and the Construction Manager and made payable to the Owner and Construction Manager 
as trustees for the insureds, as their interests may appear, subject to any applicable 
mortgagee clause.  Upon the occurrence of an insured loss, monies received will be 
deposited in a separate account; and the trustees shall make distribution in accordance 
with the agreement of the parties in interest, or in the absence of such agreement, in 
accordance with the dispute resolution provisions of this Contract.  If the trustees are 
unable to agree between themselves on the settlement of the loss, such dispute shall also 
be submitted for resolution pursuant to the dispute resolution provisions of this Contract. 

10.8 Waiver of Subrogation.  The Owner and Construction Manager waive all rights against 
each other, the Engineer, and any of their respective employees, agents, consultants, 
Subcontractors and Subsubcontractors, for damages caused by risks covered by 
insurance provided in Paragraph 10.2 to the extent they are covered by that insurance, 
except such rights as they may have to the proceeds of such insurance held by the Owner 
and Construction Manager as trustees.  The Construction Manager shall require similar 
waivers from all Subcontractors, and shall require each of them to include similar waivers 
in their subsubcontracts and consulting agreements.  The Owner waives subrogation 
against the Construction Manager, Engineer, Subcontractors and Subsubcontractors on 
all property and consequential loss policies carried by the Owner on adjacent properties 
and under property and consequential loss policies purchased for the Project after its 
completion.  If the policies of insurance referred to in this Paragraph require an 
endorsement to provide for continued coverage where there is a waiver of subrogation, 
the owners of such policies will cause them to be so endorsed. 



 

1252273_1 

10.9 Bonds.  The Construction Manager shall furnish bonds covering faithful performance of 
the Contract, exclusive of the aggregate of the Contract Price, and payment of the 
obligations arising thereunder.  Bonds may be obtained through the Construction 
Manager’s, or subcontractor’s usual source and the cost thereof shall be included in the 
Contract Price.  The amount of each bond shall be equal to 100% of the Contract Price, 
less the aggregate of the Construction Manager’s Fee and the Engineer’s Fee.  The 
Construction Manager shall deliver the required bonds to the Owner at least three days 
before commencement of any Work at the Project site. 

 
ARTICLE 11 - TERMINATION 

 
11.1 By the Construction Manager.  Upon seven (7) days' written notice to the Owner, the 

Construction Manager may terminate this Contract for any of the following reasons: 
 

.1 if the Work has been stopped for a thirty (30) day period; 
 
  a. under court order or order of other governmental authorities having 

jurisdiction; 
 

b. as a result of the declaration of a national emergency or other 
governmental act during which, through no act or fault of the Construction 
Manager, materials are not available; or 

 
c. because of the Owner's failure to pay the Construction Manager in 

accordance with this Agreement; 
 

.2 if the Work is suspended by the Owner for sixty (60) days; 
 

.3 if the Owner materially delays the Construction Manager in the performance of the 
Work without agreeing to an appropriate Change Order; or 

 
.4 if the Owner otherwise materially breaches this Contract.  

 
Upon termination by the Construction Manager in accordance with this paragraph, the 
Construction Manager shall be entitled to recover from the Owner payment for all Work 
executed and for any proven loss, cost or expense in connection with the Work, plus all 
demobilization costs and reasonable damages.  In addition, the Construction Manager 
shall be paid an amount calculated as set forth in paragraph 11.3. 

 
11.2 By the Owner for Cause.  If the Construction Manager persistently fails to perform any of 

its obligations under this Contract, the Owner may, after fourteen (14) days' written notice, 
during which period the Construction Manager fails to perform or to begin to perform such 
obligation, undertake to perform such obligations itself.  The Contract Price shall be 
reduced by the cost to the Owner of performing such obligations.  Upon fourteen (14) days' 
written notice to the Construction Manager and the Construction Manager's surety, if any, 
the Owner may terminate this Contract for any of the following reasons: 

 
.1 if the Construction Manager persistently utilizes improper materials and/or 

inadequately skilled workers; 
 



 

1252273_1 

.2 if the Construction Manager does not make proper payment to laborers, material 
suppliers or subcontractors and refuses or fails to rectify same; 

 
.3 if the Construction Manager persistently fails to abide by the orders, regulations, 

rules, ordinances or laws of governmental authorities having jurisdiction; or 
 

.4 if the Construction Manager otherwise materially breaches this Contract. 
 

If the Construction Manager fails to cure within the fourteen (14) days, the Owner, without 
prejudice to any other right or remedy, may take possession of the site and complete the 
Work utilizing any reasonable means.  In this event, the Construction Manager shall not 
have a right to further payment until the Work is completed.  If the Construction Manager 
files a petition under the Bankruptcy Code, this Contract shall terminate if the Construction 
Manager or the Construction Manager's trustee rejects the Agreement or, if there has 
been a default, the Construction Manager is unable to give adequate assurance that the 
Construction Manager will perform as required by this Contract or otherwise is unable to 
comply with the requirements for assuming this Agreement under the applicable 
provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.  In the event the Owner exercises its rights under this 
paragraph, upon the request of the Construction Manager, the Owner shall provide a 
detailed accounting of the costs incurred by the Owner. 

 
11.3 By the Owner Without Cause.  If the Owner terminates this Contract other than as set forth 

in Paragraph 11.2, the Owner shall pay the Construction Manager for that portion of the 
Contract Price for the Work performed prior to termination and for any proven loss, cost 
or expense in connection with the Work, plus all demobilization costs.  The Owner shall 
also pay to the Construction Manager fair compensation, either by purchase or rental at 
the election of the Owner, for any equipment retained.  The Owner shall assume and 
become liable for obligations, commitments and unsettled claims that the Construction 
Manager has previously undertaken or incurred in good faith in connection with the Work 
or as a result of the termination of this Contract.  As a condition of receiving the payments 
provided under this Article 11, the Construction Manager shall provide reasonable 
cooperation to the Owner by taking all reasonable steps necessary to accomplish the legal 
assignment of the Construction Manager's rights and benefits to the Owner, including the 
execution and delivery of required papers. 

 
11.4 Suspension By The Owner For Convenience.  Subject to the provisions of Art. 11.1 of this 

Contract, the Owner for its convenience may order the Construction Manager in writing to 
suspend, delay or interrupt all or any part of the Work without cause for such period of 
time as the Owner may determine to be appropriate.  Adjustments shall be made for 
increases in the Contract Price and/or the Substantial Completion Date caused by 
suspension, delay or interruption.  No adjustment shall be made if the Construction 
Manager is responsible for the suspension, delay or interruption of the Work, or if another 
provision of this Contract is applied to render an equipment adjustment. 

 
ARTICLE 12 - DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

 
12.1 Step Negotiations.  The parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve all disputes promptly 

by negotiation, as follows.  Either party may give the other party written notice of any 
dispute not resolved in the normal course of business.  Management representatives of 
both parties one level above the Project personnel who have previously been involved in 
the dispute shall meet at a mutually acceptable time and place within ten (10) days after 



 

1252273_1 

delivery of such notice, and thereafter as often as they reasonably deem necessary, to 
exchange relevant information and to attempt to resolve the dispute.  If the matter has not 
been resolved within thirty (30) days from the referral of the dispute to such management 
representatives, or if no meeting has taken place within fifteen (15) days after such referral, 
the dispute shall be referred to senior managers under the aforesaid procedure.  If the 
matter has not been resolved by such senior managers, either party may initiate mediation 
as provided hereinafter.  If a negotiator intends to be accompanied at a meeting by an 
attorney, the other negotiator shall be given at least three (3) working days' notice of such 
intention and may also be accompanied by an attorney.  All negotiations pursuant to this 
clause are confidential and shall be treated as compromise and settlement negotiations 
for purposes of the Federal Rules of Evidence and applicable state Rules of Evidence. 

 
12.2 Mediation.  In the event that any dispute arising out of or relating to this Contract is not 

resolved in accordance with the procedures provided in Section 12.1, such dispute shall 
be submitted to mediation with American Arbitration Association ("AAA") or 
JAMS/Endispute, Inc.  If the mediation process has not resolved the dispute within thirty 
(30) days of the submission of the matter to mediation, or such longer period as the parties 
may agree to, the dispute shall be decided by arbitration as set forth below. 

 
12.3 Arbitration.  All claims, disputes and other matters in question not resolved by mediation 

(hereinafter referred to as a "Controversy") between the parties to this Contract arising out 
of or relating to this Contract or the breach thereof shall be decided by arbitration at the 
AAA or JAMS/Endispute, Inc. in accordance with the Construction Industry Arbitration 
Rules of the AAA then in effect.  This agreement to arbitrate and any other agreement or 
consent to arbitrate entered into in accordance herewith will be specifically enforceable 
under the prevailing arbitration law of any court having jurisdiction.  Notice of demand for 
arbitration must be filed in writing with the other party to this Contract and with the AAA or 
JAMS/Endispute.  The demand must be made within a reasonable time after the party 
tendering the demand has determined that mediation has failed to resolve the claim, 
dispute or other matter in question.  In no event may the demand for arbitration be made 
after institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on such Controversy would be 
barred by the applicable statute of limitations.  Any arbitration may be consolidated with 
any other arbitration proceedings.  Either party may join any other interested parties.  The 
award of the arbitrator shall be specifically enforceable in a court of competent jurisdiction 

 
12.4.1 Continued Performance of the Work.  In the event of any dispute, the Construction 

Manager shall continue to perform the Work and maintain its progress pending final 
determination of the dispute, provided the Owner places a sum equal to 150% of the 
amount in dispute in an escrow account, reasonably satisfactory to both parties, which 
specifies that the escrow agent shall distribute the escrow sum between the parties in 
accordance with any agreement, arbitration award or court judgment entered resolving the 
dispute. 

 
12.5 Required in Subcontracts.  The Construction Manager shall include the provisions of this 

Article 12 in all Subcontracts into which it enters.  
 

ARTICLE 13 - LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 
 
13.1 Limitation of Liability.  The Owner acknowledges that the Construction Manager is a limited 

liability company and agrees that any claim made by the Owner arising out of or pertaining 
to this Contract shall be made against only the Construction Manager and not against any 



 

1252273_1 

member, manager, director, officer, employee or agent of the Construction Manager or 
any other company affiliated with the Construction Manager.   

 
13.2 Consequential Damages.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Contract, in no 

event shall the Construction Manager or any of its Subcontractors be liable for 
consequential loss or damage, including but not limited to loss of use or profits, and the 
Owner hereby releases the Construction Manager and its Subcontractors from any such 
liability.  

 
ARTICLE 14 - MISCELLANEOUS 

 
14.1 Project Sign.  The Owner agrees that the Construction Manager and Engineer will be 

properly identified and will be given appropriate credit on all signs, press releases and 
other forms of publicity for the Project.  Owner will permit the Construction Manager and 
Engineer to photograph and make other reasonable use of the Project for promotional 
purposes. 

 
14.2 Notices.  Notices to the parties shall be given at the addresses shown on the cover page 

of this Contract by mail, fax or any other reasonable means. 
 
14.3 Integration.  This Contract is solely for the benefit of the parties, and no one is intended to 

be a third party beneficiary hereto.  This Contract represents the entire and integrated 
agreement between the parties, and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or 
agreements, either written or oral. 

 
14.4 Governing Law.  This Contract shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the 

laws of the State of Illinois, without application of its conflicts-of-laws provisions. 
 
14.5 Severability.  The partial or complete invalidity of any one or more provisions of this 

Contract shall not affect the validity or continuing force and effect of any other provision. 
 
14.6 Assignment.  Neither party to this Contract shall assign the Contract as a whole without 

written consent of the other, except that the Owner may collaterally assign this Contract 
to a lender if required to secure financing for this Project. 

 
14.7 Existing Contract Documents.  A list of the Plans, Specifications and Addenda in existence 

at the time of execution of this Contract is attached as an exhibit to this Contract. 
 
 
Owner:      Contractor: 
 
By:    Date:      By:            Date:12/12/24 
      Wes Walker, Chief Executive Officer 

 
Attest:     Date:      By:                        Date:  
        Principal 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 



 

1252273_1 

 
 
 

  



 

1252273_1 

 
EXHIBIT B 

 
Robert R. Andreas & Sons, Inc. 

Certifications 
 

  



 

1252273_1 

ROBERT R. ANDREAS & SONS, INC.  
CONTRACTOR CERTIFICATION FORM 

 
The assurances hereinafter made by ROBERT R. ANDREAS & SONS, INC. (hereinafter 

the “Contractor”) are each a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed by the 
Village of Forest Park in entering into the contract with the Contractor.  The Village of Forest Park 
may terminate the contract if it is later determined that the Contractor rendered a false or erroneous 
assurance. 

 
I, _________________________, hereby certify that I am the ____________________ of 
          (Name of Owner or Officer)      (Title or Office)  

ROBERT R. ANDREAS & SONS, INC., and as such, hereby represent and warrant to the 
VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, a municipal corporation, (hereinafter the “Village”) that the 
Contractor and its shareholders holding more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding shares of 
the corporation, its officers and directors are: 
 

(a) not delinquent in the payment of taxes to the Illinois Department of Revenue in 
accordance with 65 ILCS 5/11-42.1-1; 
 

(b) not barred from contracting as a result of a violation of either Section 33E-3 (bid 
rigging) or 33E-4 (bid-rotating) of the Criminal Code of 1961 (720 ILCS 5/33E-
3 and 5/33E-4); 

 
(c) not in default, as defined in 5 ILCS 385/2, on an educational loan, as defined in 

5 ILCS 385/1. 
 

  In addition, the Contractor hereby represents and warrants to the Village, that:  
 

(A) the Contractor, pursuant to 30 ILCS 580/1 et seq. (“Drug-Free Workplace Act”), 
will provide a drug-free workplace by: 

 
   (1) Publishing a statement: 
 
   a.   Notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, 

dispensation, possession, or use of a controlled substance including 
cannabis, is prohibited in the Contractor's workplace; 

 
 b. Specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for 

violations of such prohibition; 
 
 c. Notifying the employee that, as a condition of employment on such 

Contract, the employee will; 
 i.   Abide by the terms of the statement; 
 ii.   Notify the employer of any criminal drug statute conviction 

for a violation occurring in the workplace no later than five 
(5) days after such conviction; 

 



 

1252273_1 

(2) Establishing a drug-free awareness program to inform employees about: 
 

    a. the dangers of drug abuse in the workplace; 
b. the Contractor's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace; 
c. any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee 

assistance program; and 
    d.  the penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug 

violations; 
 

(3) Making it a requirement to give a copy of the statement required by 
Subsection (A)(1) to each employee engaged in the performance of the 
Contract, and to post the statement in a prominent place in the workplace; 

 
(4) Notifying the Village within ten (10) days after receiving notice under 

paragraph(A)(1)e from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of 
such conviction; 

 
(5) Imposing a sanction on, or requiring the satisfactory participation in a drug 

abuse assistance or rehabilitation program by any employee who is so 
convicted, as required by 30 ILCS 580/5; 

 
(6) Assisting employees in selecting a course of action in the event drug 

counseling treatment and rehabilitation is required and indicating that a 
trained referral team is in place; 

 
(7) Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace 

through implementation of this section;  
 

(B) the Contractor has not excluded and will not exclude from participation in, denied 
the benefits of, subjected to discrimination under, or denied employment to any 
person in connection with any activity funded under the contract on the basis of 
race, color, age, religion, national origin, disability, or sex; 

 
(C) no Village officer, spouse or dependent child of a Village officer, agent on behalf 

of any Village officer or trust in which a Village officer, the spouse or dependent 
child of a Village officer or a beneficiary is a holder of any interest in the 
Contractor; or, if the Contractor’s stock is traded on a nationally recognized 
securities market, that no Village officer, spouse or dependent child of a Village 
officer, agent on behalf of any Village officer or trust in which a Village officer, 
the spouse or dependent child of a Village officer or a beneficiary is a holder of 
more than one percent (1%) of the Contractor, but if any Village officer, spouse or 
dependent child of a Village officer, agent on behalf of any Village officer or trust 
in which a Village officer, the spouse or dependent child of a Village officer or a 
beneficiary is a holder of less than one percent (1%) of such Contractor, the 
Contractor has disclosed to the Village in writing the name(s) of the holder of such 
interest; 



 

1252273_1 

 
(D) no officer or employee of the Village has solicited any gratuity, discount, 

entertainment, hospitality, loan, forbearance, or other tangible or intangible item 
having monetary value including, but not limited to, cash, food and drink, and 
honoraria for speaking engagements related to or attributable to the government 
employment or the official position of the employee or officer from the Contractor 
in violation of Chapter 2-8A-3 of the Municipal Code of the Village of Forest Park;  

 
(E) the Contractor has not given to any officer or employee of the Village any gratuity, 

discount, entertainment, hospitality, loan, forbearance, or other tangible or 
intangible item having monetary value including, but not limited to, cash, food and 
drink, and honoraria for speaking engagements related to or attributable to the 
government employment or the official position of the employee or officer in 
violation of Chapter 2-8A-3 of the Municipal Code of the Village of Forest Park; 

 
(F) neither it nor any of its principals, shareholders, members, partners, or affiliates, as 

applicable, is a person or entity named as a Specially Designated National and 
Blocked Person (as defined in Presidential Executive Order 13224) and that it is 
not acting, directly or indirectly, for or on behalf of a Specially Designated National 
and Blocked Person and that the Contractor and its principals, shareholders, 
members, partners, or affiliates, as applicable, are not, directly or indirectly, 
engaged in, and are not facilitating, the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement on behalf of any person or entity named as a Specially Designated 
National and Blocked Person;  

 
(G) the Contractor acknowledges that, pursuant to the provisions of the Illinois 

Freedom of Information Act, (5 ILCS 140/1 et seq.), documents or records prepared 
or used in relation to work performed under this agreement are considered a public 
record of the Village; and therefore, within thirty (30) days of completion of the 
work required of the Contractor under this agreement, the Contractor shall produce 
to the Village, in electronic format, all records that directly relate to the 
governmental function performed by the Contractor under this agreement at no 
additional cost to the Village; and furthermore, the Contractor shall review its 
records and promptly produce to the Village any additional records in the 
Contractor’s possession which the Village requires in order to properly respond to 
a request made pursuant to the Illinois Freedom of Information Act (5 ILCS 140/1 
et seq.), and the Contractor shall produce to the Village such records within three 
(3) business days of a request for such records from the Village at no additional 
cost to the Village. 

 
(H) the Contractor shall comply with any and all provisions of the Illinois Prevailing 

Wage Act, 820 ILCS 130 et seq. 
 
  



 

1252273_1 

  If any certification made by the Contractor or term or condition in this contract changes, 
the Contractor shall notify the Village in writing within seven (7) days. 

 
Dated: ____________, 2023          Contractor: ROBERT R. ANDREAS & SONS, INC. 
 
 

By: ____________________________________ 
       ____________________ , ______________ 

(Name of Owner or Officer          (Title or Office)  
 
 STATE OF _____________  ) 

) ss. 
 COUNTY OF ___________ ) 
 

I, the undersigned, a notary public in and for the State and County aforesaid, hereby 
certify that ___________________________ known to me to be the _____________________ 

 (Name of Owner or Officer)     (Title or Office)  
of ROBERT R. ANDREAS & SONS, INC., appeared before me this day in person and, being first 
duly sworn on oath, acknowledged that he executed the foregoing certification as his free act and 
deed. 
 
 Dated: ____________, 2023   
       ____________________________________ 

  Notary Public 
 

 







 Amount 
Appropriated  Amount Levied  

OFFICE OF PUBLIC AFFAIRS
General Public Affairs
Salary for the Honorable Mayor 30,000$               30,000$                      
Salary for the Liquor Commissioner 10,000$               10,000$                      
Salary for Village Prosecutor 39,950$               
Salaries for Support Staff 203,699$             73,590$                      
Commissions 65,738$               
Codification of Village Code 9,000$                 
Legal Services/Labor Negotiations 270,670$             
Consolidated Dispatch Service 1,012,000$          
Consulting Services 185,250$             
IT Village-wide 226,358$             
Community Relations / Office Expenses 167,345$             
     Total for General Public Affairs 2,220,008$          113,590$                    

Police Department
Management and Office Salaries 1,769,575$          350,000$                    
Law Enforcement Expenses 273,651$             
Officer Salaries 4,489,381$          295,000$                    
     Total Police Department 6,532,606$          645,000$                    

Community Center
Salaries 499,143$             58,514$                      
Community Relations / Office Expenses 12,650$               
Day Care Costs 50,100$               
Events / Senior Services 105,600$             
RTA Salaries 93,976$               
RTA Office / Equipment Expense 1,000$                 
     Total Community Center 762,469$             58,514$                      

TOTAL FOR OFFICE OF PUBLIC AFFAIRS 9,515,083$          817,104$                    

Section II: The total amount of appropriations for all corporate purposes legally made to be collected from the tax levy of the 
current year is hereby ascertained to be the sum of nine million, eight hundred seventy one thousand, and two 00/100 Dollars 
($9,871,002.00) for the fiscal year beginning May 1, 2024 and ending April 30, 2025.

Section III: The sum of nine million, eight hundred seventy one thousand, and two 00/100 Dollars ($9,871,002.00), being the total 
of appropriations heretofore legally made which are to be collected from the tax levy of the current fiscal year of the Village of 
Forest Park for all corporate purposes of said Village, be and the same is hereby levied upon all of the taxable property in the 
Village of Forest Park subject to taxation for the current year, the specific amounts as levied for the various funds being included 
herein by being placed in separate columns under the heading "Amount Levied," which appears over the same, the tax so levied 
being for the current fiscal year of said Village, and the purpose for which appropriations are made and the amount appropriated 
for each purpose, respectively, to be collected from the tax levy is as follows:

GENERAL FUND

Section I: This Ordinance is hereby termed "the Annual Tax Levy Ordinance of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, 
for the fiscal year beginning May 1, 2024 and ending April 30, 2025."

ORDINANCE NO.  O-     -24
THE ANNUAL TAX LEVY ORDINANCE OF THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING MAY 1, 2024

AND ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

Be it ordained by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois:



 Amount 
Appropriated  Amount Levied  

OFFICE OF ACCOUNTS AND FINANCE
Accounts and Finance
Commissioner of Accounts and Finance 10,000$               10,000$                      
Salaries 300,105$             75,000$                      
Village Clerk / HR Administrator 109,242$             
Insurance Benefits 2,865,526$          
Audit/Consulting Services 35,055$               
Office Equipment and Supplies 407,354$             
Police Pension Cost 4,004,426$          2,749,411$                 
Fire Pension Cost 3,229,190$          2,131,057$                 
Federal Grants 1,877,712$          
State Grants 3,120,000$          
Local Grants 30,000$               
Liability Insurance 1,272,268$          100,000$                    
     Total Clerk's Office 17,260,878$        5,065,468$                 

Fire Department
Management and Office Salaries 992,811$             150,000$                    
Firefighter Salaries 2,781,461$          295,000$                    
Firefighting Equipment / Expenses 291,119$             
Community Relations / Office Expenses 17,825$               
Paramedic Services 1,199,370$          
     Total Fire Department 5,282,585$          445,000$                    

TOTAL FOR OFFICE OF ACCOUNTS AND FINANCE 22,543,463$        5,510,468$                 

OFFICE OF HEALTH AND SAFETY
Commissioner 10,000$               10,000$                      
Salaries 303,405$             52,500$                      
Plan Review / Inspections 366,000$             
Community Relations / Office Expenses 36,600$               

TOTAL OFFICE OF HEALTH AND SAFETY 716,005$             62,500$                      

OFFICE OF STREETS AND PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS
Commissioner 10,000$               
Salaries 420,272$             163,000$                    
Community Relations / Office Expenses 13,050$               
Street Maintenance, Equipment, and Supplies 1,831,781$          

TOTAL OFFICE OF STREETS AND PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS 2,275,103$          163,000$                    

OFFICE OF PUBLIC PROPERTY
Commissioner 10,000$               10,000$                      
Salaries 600,178$             153,000$                    



 Amount 
Appropriated  Amount Levied  

Community Relations / Office Expenses 34,500$               
Property Maintenance 383,791$             
     Total General Public Property 1,028,469$          163,000$                    

Street and Traffic Lighting 356,149$             

Fleet Maintenance 730,730$             

Forestry
Salaries 239,652$             50,000$                      
Other Forestry Expenses 161,223$             
     Total Forestry 400,875$             50,000$                      

Playgrounds and Recreation
Playground Maintenance / Improvement 5,000$                 
Dog Park 7,000$                 
     Total for Playgrounds and Recreation 12,000$               

TOTAL OFFICE OF PUBLIC PROPERTY 2,528,223$          213,000$                    

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 37,577,879$        6,766,072$                 

OFFICE OF ACCOUNTS AND FINANCE
IMRF Fund 206,715$             118,560$                    

Social Security Fund 442,595$             340,000$                    

TOTAL SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS OFFICE OF ACCOUNTS AND FINANCE 649,310$             458,560$                    

TOTAL VILLAGE FUNDS CAPPED 38,227,189$        7,224,632$                 

FIRE PENSION PA 93-0689 CONTRIBUTION EXEMPT FROM PTELL -$                         213,794$                    

TOTAL VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK FUNDS 38,227,189$        7,438,426$                 
-                              

Corporate
Salaries 1,450,000$          1,200,000$                 
Office Expenses / Equipment 900,000$             717,408$                    
Circulation Collection 275,000$             275,000$                    

Capital Expenditures 350,000$             -$                                

Special Tax Expenses
Building and Grounds Maintenance 76,168$               76,168$                      
Unemployment Insurance 5,000$                 5,000$                        
Workmen's Compensation 5,000$                 5,000$                        
FICA 100,000$             75,000$                      
Liability Insurance 25,000$               20,000$                      

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

FREE PUBLIC LIBRARY



 Amount 
Appropriated  Amount Levied  

IMRF 75,000$               50,000$                      
Audit 10,000$               9,000$                        

TOTAL FREE PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND 3,271,168$          2,432,576$                 

TOTAL AMOUNT APPROPRIATED / LEVIED 41,498,357$        9,871,002$                 

AYES:  _______________

NAYS:  _____________

ABSENT:  ______________ Approved:

____________________________
Mayor

Attest:

____________________________
Village Clerk

ADOPTED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, this 16th day of December, 2024.

Section IV:  The total amount of nine million, eight hundred seventy one thousand,  and two 00/100 Dollars ($9,871,002.00) 
ascertained above, be and is hereby levied and assessed on all property subject to taxation within the Village of Forest Park 
according to the value of said property as assessed and equalized for state, county, and municipal purposes for the current year.

Section V:  This Ordinance is adopted pursuant to the procedures set forth in the Illinois Municipal Code.

Section VI: There is hereby certified to the County Clerk of Cook County, Illinois, the several sums above, constituting said total 
amount of nine million, eight hundred seveny one thousand, and two 00/100 Dollars ($9,871,002.00), which said total amount the 
Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, requires to be raised by taxation for the current fiscal year of said Village, and the 
Village Clerk of said Village is hereby ordered and directed to file with the County Clerk of Cook County, Illinois, on or before the 
time required by law, a certified copy of this Ordinance.

Section VII:  If any item, purpose, sentence or portion thereof of this Ordinance be, for any reason, held invalid or 
unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance, and any ordinance or parts 
of any ordinance in conflict herewith are repealed.

Section VIII:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and approval.



RESOLUTION NO. R-_________-24 
 
 

A RESOLUTION DIRECTING THE COUNTY CLERK TO CALCULATE  
SEPARATE LIMITING RATES FOR THE TAX LEVY OF THE VILLAGE OF  

FOREST PARK, ILLINOIS FOR THE 2024 TAX LEVY YEAR 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to section 18-195 of the Property Tax Extension Limitation Law, 

(35 ILCS 200/18-185 et seq.) the corporate authorities of a municipality may request the county 

clerk to calculate separate limiting rates for the library funds and the aggregate of the other village 

funds. 

 WHEREAS, the corporate authorities of the Village of Forest Park have determined that 

it is in the best interest of the Village to request the Cook County Clerk to calculate separate 

limiting rates for purposes of the Property Tax Extension Limitation Law. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Village Council of the Village of 

Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 Section 1. Direction to the County Clerk to Calculate Separate Limiting Rates.  

 The corporate authorities of the Village of Forest Park, Illinois, do hereby request and 

direct the Cook County Clerk to calculate separate limiting rates for the library funds and the 

aggregate of the other Village funds for the purposes of the Property Tax Extension Limitation 

Law, (35 ILCS 200/18-185 et seq.) for the Village of Forest Park 2024 tax levy. 

 Section 2. Direction to File Resolution with County Clerk.  

 The Village Clerk, or her designee, be and is hereby authorized and directed to cause a 

certified copy of this Resolution to be filed with the Tax Extension Division of the Cook County 

Clerk’s Office. 

  

 



Section 3. Effective Date. 

 This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage, as provided by law. 

 
Resolved this 16th day of December 2024. 
 

AYES: ___________________________________ 
 

NAYS: ___________________________________ 
 

ABSENT: _________________________________ 
 
      APPROVED: 
 
 
 
      _______________________________________ 
      Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
 
 
ATTESTED: 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Vanessa Belmonte, Village Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 



1251987.1 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  R-__________-24 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A  
FIRST AMENDMENT TO A MASTER SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT BY  
AND BETWEEN DACRA TECH, LLC AND THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK  

 
 WHEREAS, on October 10, 2023, by Ordinance O-46-23, the Village of Forest Park 

(“Village”) approved a Master Software License Agreement (“Agreement”) with DACRA Tech, 

LLC (“DACRA”); and  

 WHEREAS, the corporate authorities of the Village have determined that it is in the best 

interest of the Village to approve a First Amendment to the Agreement with DACRA for the 

utilization of certain computer software for use in support of the Village’s code enforcement and 

adjudication hearings, to include the addition of web-pay services modules to the software.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, 

Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 Section 1. The foregoing recital clauses to this Resolution are adopted by the corporate 

authorities as their findings of fact and are incorporated herein by specific reference. 

 Section 2. The First Amendment to the Agreement between DACRA and the Village, 

attached hereto as Exhibit A, is hereby approved.  

 Section 3. The Village Administrator is hereby directed and authorized to execute said 

First Amendment to the Agreement, on behalf of the Village. 

 Section 4. The officials, officers and employees of the Village are hereby authorized 

to take such further actions and execute such documents as are necessary to carry out the purpose 

and intent of this Resolution and the First Amendment to the Agreement. 

  



1251987.1 
 

 Section 5. This Resolution shall be effective and in full force and effect from and after 

its passage and approval as provided by law.  

 RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, this 16th 

day of December, 2024. 

AYES:  ____________________ 
 
NAYS:  ____________________ 
 
ABSENT:  __________________ 
 
 APPROVED by me this 16th day of December, 2024. 
 
 
 

________________________________ 
       Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
ATTESTED and Filed in my office, 
and published in pamphlet form 
this _______, day of December, 2024. 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Vanessa Belmonte, Village Clerk 
 

  



1251987.1 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO DACRA TECH, LLC AGREEMENT 
 



1251987.1 
 



1251987.1 
 



1251987.1 
 

 



1 

 Office of the 
Fire Chief 

Memo  
To: Forest Park Village Council 
From: Chief Lindsey Hankus 

Date: 12/3/2024 
Re: FEMA Assistance to Firefighters Grant 

I am requesting approval to apply for a FEMA Assistance to Firefighters 
Grant. The application is due December 20, 2024. 

The Fire Department requests AFG funds to replace our 11-year-old air-
packs. The total cost is $370,044.20. The village will need to match 
$17,621.15 if awarded. 

Included is a copy of the application. 

If you have any questions, please don’t hesitate to ask. 

 

Thank you 

Lindsey Hankus 

  



1251801_1  

RESOLUTION NO. R-___________-24 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION  
OF THE APPLICATION FOR AN ASSISTANCE TO FIREFIGHTERS GRANT 

WITH THE FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY 
 

 WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park (“Village”) proposes to apply to the Federal 

Emergency Management Agency (“FEMA”) for an Assistance to Firefighters Grant for the grant 

amount of Three Hundred Fifty-Two Thousand Four Hundred Twenty-Three and 05/100 Dollars 

($352,423.05) (“AFG Grant”); and 

WHEREAS, the Village wishes to make an application for the AFG Grant to acquire 

replacement air-packs for the Village’s Fire Department (the “Air Packs”), with an estimated 

total budget cost of Three Hundred Seventy Thousand Forty-Four and 20/100 Dollars 

($370,044.20), which Air Packs are eligible for funding under the AFG Grant; and 

WHEREAS, the Village deems it advisable, necessary and in public interest that the 

Village apply for the AFG Grant for the Air Packs.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, 

Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 Section 1. The foregoing recital clauses to this Resolution are adopted by the 

corporate authorities as their findings of fact and are incorporated herein by specific reference. 

 Section 2. The Village’s application for a AFG Grant with FEMA, pursuant to the 

terms and conditions contained in said application, a copy of which is attached hereto and made 

a part hereof as Exhibit A (“Application”), is hereby approved, and the execution to submit the 

Application by the Mayor, or his designee, is hereby authorized. 

 Section 3. The officials, officers and employees of the Village are hereby authorized 

to take such further actions and execute such documents as are necessary to submit the 



1251801_1  

Application for the AFG Grant and carry out the purpose and intent of this Resolution and the 

Application for the AFG Grant. 

 Section 4. The Village will make available the Village’s share of the Air Packs cost, 

if the Village’s application for a AFG Grant is approved, equal to the local matching budget 

amount, as required under the AFG Grant, of approximately Seventeen Thousand Six Hundred 

Twenty-One and 15/100 Dollars ($17,621.15). 

Section 5. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and 

approval in accordance with law. 

 RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, this 16th 

day of December, 2024. 

AYES:  ____________________ 
 
NAYS:  ____________________ 
 
ABSENT:  __________________ 
 
 APPROVED by me this 16th day of December, 2024. 
 
 
 

________________________________ 
       Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
ATTESTED and Filed in my office, 
and published in pamphlet form 
this _______, day of December, 2024. 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Vanessa Belmonte, Village Clerk 
 



1251801_1  

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

ASSISTANCE TO FIREFIGHTERS GRANT APPLICATION 



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  



1251801_1  

 



1251794_1   

RESOLUTION NO. R- ____ -24 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A 2025 PARATRANSIT SERVICE  
PROVIDER AGREEMENT BETWEEN SUBURBAN BUS DIVISION  

OF THE REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (PACE)  
AND THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK  

 
 WHEREAS, the Village has previously entered into a Paratransit Service Provider 
Agreement with the Suburban Bus Division of the Regional Transportation Authority (PACE) 
which expires on December 31, 2024; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the corporate authorities of the Village of Forest Park deem it to be in the 
best interest of the residents of Forest Park to maintain and operate a public bus service known as 
the PACE “Dial-A-Ride Bus Service” for the elderly and disabled for all service hours, as well 
as for members of the general public for limited hours and limited destinations. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park and the Suburban Bus Division of the Regional 
Transportation Authority (PACE) have agreed to enter into a service provider agreement to 
obtain public bus service within the Village of Forest Park for the year 2025 in exchange for the 
payment of operating, capital and other expenses; and  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and Council of the Village of 
Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 
 
 Section 1. That certain 2025 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement by and between 
Suburban Bus Division of the Regional Transportation Authority (PACE) and the Village of 
Forest Park, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A, is hereby authorized and approved.   
 
 Section 2. The Mayor and the Village Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to 
execute and attest, respectively, said 2025 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement. 
 

Resolved this 16th day of December, 2024. 
 

AYES: ___________________________ 
NAYS: __________________________ 
ABSENT: _________________________ 
 
APPROVED by me this 16th day of December, 2024. 
 
 

     ____________________________________ 
Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor   

ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
and published in pamphlet form 
this ______ day of December, 2024. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Vanessa Belmonte, Village Clerk 



1251794_1   

EXHIBIT A 
 

2025 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 
 



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   



1251794_1   

 



1251791.1 

 
RESOLUTION NO. R- ________-24 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK 

AND THE COUNTY OF COOK, ACTING THROUGH ITS 
BUREAU OF ASSET MANAGEMENT, FOR THE DESIGN, 

CONSTRUCTION, INSTALLATION, OPERATION AND 
MAINTENANCE OF ONE (1) ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STATION 

 
WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park (“Village”) and the County of Cook, acting 

through its Bureau of Asset Management (“Cook County”), are public agencies within the 

meaning of the Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, as specified in 5 ILCS 220/1 et 

seq., and are authorized by said Act and Article VII, Section 10 of the 1970 Constitution of the 

State of Illinois to enter into intergovernmental agreements. 

WHEREAS, Cook County and the Village recognize that electrical vehicles (“EV”) 

ownership is increasing and that there is a need for public EV charging stations to facilitate and 

support alternative fuel sources; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the foregoing, Cook County and the Village desire to 

enter into an agreement where Cook County will design, construct, and install an EV charging 

station and the Village will then operate, maintain and make the EV charging station available 

to the public (“Project”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, 

Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1. The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this Resolution are 

found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Resolution. 

 Section 2. That certain “Intergovernmental Agreement by and between the Village 

of Forest Park and Cook County for the Design, Construction, Installation, Operation and 

Maintenance of One (1) EV Charging Station Within the Village” (“Agreement”), a copy of 

which is attached hereto as Exhibit A, is hereby approved. 

 Section 3. The Village authorizes acceptance of, and further agrees to the obligation 

to operate and maintain the Project, pursuant to the Agreement. 

 Section 4. The Mayor is hereby authorized to execute, and the Village Clerk is 

hereby authorized to attest the Agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A 



1251791.1 

with such changes therein as may be approved by the officials executing the same, their 

execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of approval of such changes. 

 Section 5. The officers and employees of the Village shall take all action necessary 

or reasonably required by the parties to carry out, give effect to and consummate the 

transactions contemplated hereby under the Agreement and to take all action necessary in 

conformity therewith, including, without limitation, the execution and delivery of any 

documents required to be delivered in connection with the Agreement. 

 Section 6. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage in the manner provided by law. 

 ADOPTED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 16th 

day of December, 2024. 

 
AYES:  ___________________ 
 
NAYS:  ___________________ 
 
ABSENT:  _________________ 
 
 APPROVED by me this 16th day of December, 2024. 
 
 
     
            
      _______________________________________ 
      Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
 
ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
And published in pamphlet form 
This ______ day of December, 2024. 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Vanessa Belmonte, Village Clerk 
 



1251791.1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

COOK COUNTY INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
 
 
  



1251791.1 
Page 1 of 9 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
 
This INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), effective as of the date of the 
last dated signature below, is entered into by and between the County of Cook, a body politic 
and corporate of the State of Illinois (the “County”), acting by and through its Bureau of Asset 
Management, and the Village of Forest Park, a public entity (the “Village”). The County and 
Forest Park are sometimes referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the 
“Parties.” 
 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, Cook County Board President Toni Preckwinkle and the Cook County Board of 
Commissioners are committed to supporting the public health, growth, and economic vitality 
of communities in Cook County by promoting strategic partnerships and investments in 
infrastructure; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park is located in the County of Cook, State of Illinois, and is 
duly organized and existing under the provisions of the State of Illinois and operating under the 
provisions of the Illinois Municipal Code, and all laws thereto, with full powers to enact 
ordinances for the benefits of the residents of the Village of Forest Park; and 
 
WHEREAS, more than $1 billion in federal funds has been allocated directly to Cook County 
under provisions of the American Rescue Plan Act (“ARPA”). ARPA is designed to stimulate the 
U.S. economy, support individuals and families, and curb the spread of the COVID-19 virus. 
This one-time infusion of federal dollars will support both immediate recovery needs and long-
term transformative initiatives; and 
 
WHEREAS, Cook County allocated ARPA funding to install public electric vehicle (EV) charging 
stations in suburban areas where there are currently large gaps in service, primarily in 
communities that are under-resourced, have a higher amount of multifamily dwelling units or 
have a higher amount of renter-occupied housing; and 
  
WHEREAS, the Cook County Policy Roadmap’s Sustainable Communities goal is to support 
healthy, resilient communities that thrive economically, socially, and environmentally; and  
 
WHEREAS, Cook County has steadily worked to reduce its greenhouse gas emissions, 
including an overall reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from County facilities of 44% in 
2023; and 
  
WHEREAS, the County and the Village recognize that EV ownership is increasing and that 
there is a need for public EV charging stations to facilitate and support alternative fuel 



1251791.1 
Page 2 of 9 

sources; and  
  
WHEREAS, in accordance with the foregoing, the County and the Village desire to enter 
into an agreement where the County will design, construct, and install an EV charging 
station and the Village will operate, maintain and make the station available to the 
public; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County and the Village each acknowledge TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE as there 
are terms and conditions that certain funding be obligated in 2024 and projects completed by 
December 31, 2026, and the Village will timely respond to the County’s requests for 
information and commit adequate resources to satisfy its responsibilities under this 
Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County, by virtue of its powers as set forth in the Counties Code, 55 ILCS 5/1-1 
et seq., is authorized to enter into this Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village, by virtue of its powers as set forth in the Illinois Municipal Code, 65 
ILCS 5/1-1-1 et seq., is authorized to enter into this Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, this Agreement is further authorized under Article VII, Section 10 of the Illinois 
Constitution and by the provisions of the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5 ILCS 220/1 et 
seq. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of these recitals and the mutual covenants contained 
herein, the Parties agree as follows: 
 
I. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS 
The above recitals are incorporated into this Agreement as if fully set forth herein. 
 
II. AUTHORITY 
Each Party represents and warrants that it has the full and lawful authority to enter into this 
Agreement and to fully and promptly comply with all provisions, terms and conditions, as 
written. 
 
III. PURPOSE AND SCOPE 
The purpose of this Agreement is to identify the roles and responsibilities of each Party 
regarding the installation of EV charging stations within the Village of Forest Park, as provided 
below. 
 
IV. TERM 
This Agreement shall become effective upon its full execution (“Effective Date”) and shall expire 



1251791.1 
Page 3 of 9 

five (5) years after the activation of the charging station, unless terminated earlier pursuant to 
this Agreement. 
 
V. RESPONSIBILITIES OF COUNTY 
A. Installation of Charging Stations. The County will arrange for the installation of the EV 

charging station as described in the Scope of Work set forth in Exhibit A (“County Work” or 
“Project”) at locations agreed upon by both the County and the Village. The materials and 
labor to perform the County Work will be procured by the County and will be constructed 
and/or installed in a good and workmanlike manner using new materials of the same 
character, kind and quality customarily employed for such work.  

B. Provision of Equipment. The County will provide 1 dual port Level 2 EV charging station, 
(the “Equipment” or “Charging Stations”) as set forth in the Scope of Work. The Equipment 
shall be tendered to the Village in new condition.  

C. Networking Fees. The County will cover the costs of the networking fees for each station 
for the first five (5) years of operation of the station.  

D. Warranty.  The County will cover the cost of the manufacturer’s warranty for the first five 
(5) years of the operation of the station. 

E. No Obligation to Repair or Replace. The County shall have no obligation to repair or 
replace the Equipment if it is damaged or destroyed by a third party or Act of God. 

 
VI. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK  
A. Site Selection. The Village shall recommend a location within its corporate limits and 

within the County limits where the Equipment shall be sited, which site shall be agreed 
upon and approved by the County.  The site identified is seen in Exhibit A.  

B. Property Access. The Village will grant the County and its employees, contractors, and 
agents a right of entry to enter the Property to perform its responsibilities under this 
Agreement. 

C. Approval of Work. The Village will inspect the completed County Work for workmanship 
and confirm the completed County Work is satisfactory and in compliance with this 
Agreement and Exhibit A. 

D. Operation of Charging Station. The Village agrees to keep the charging station in place and 
operational for the 5-year term. 

E. Maintenance of Equipment. The Village will be responsible for calling the charging station 
manufacturer to resolve any issues with operation of the station, including warranty 
covered issues. 

F. Upgrades and Replacements. The Village assumes the costs and coordination of desired 
upgrades or replacement to/of Charging Station equipment or infrastructure beyond the 
initial 5-year term. 

G. Public Accessibility. The Village agrees to ensure public accessibility to the station, and to 
resolve any networking connection issues with the vendor if they come up. 

H. No Obligation to Repair or Replace. The Village shall have no obligation to repair or replace 
the Charging Station if it is damaged or destroyed by a third party or Act of God. 



1251791.1 
Page 4 of 9 

I. Payment for Electricity. The Village will be responsible for paying for the electricity use 
incurred by use of its EV charging station, but may set pricing at its discretion to offset these 
costs. 

J. Pricing for Station Use. The Village shall have sole discretion for setting pricing for station 
use and distributing any revenue generated by the use of the stations. 

K. Networking Fees. The Village will be responsible for networking fees for year six (6) and 
beyond over the station’s useful life. 

L. Charging Station Use Plan. The Village will be responsible for specifying engineer and 
security contacts for each site, setting operational times when the stations are “open” for 
charging, and ensuring adequate lighting is maintained. 

M. Charging Station Use Data. The Village must provide Charging Station use data to the 
County from the charging station portal (online software platform) for the first five (5) years 
of operations to assist with ARPA metric tracking. These data points include but are not 
limited to: kilowatt hours used per month per station, number of charge events per month 
per station, and annual number of unique drivers. (Depending on the selected vendor, other 
metrics/reports may be available for sharing in a simple format). 

 
VII. MAINTENANCE AND ACCESSIBILITY OF RECORDS; MONITORING 

A. Records Retention. The Village shall maintain for five (5) years from the Expiration Date 
adequate books, all financial records and supporting documents, statistical records, and all 
other records pertinent to the Project. If any litigation, claim, or audit related to the Project is 
started before the expiration of the retention period, the records must be retained until all 
litigation, claims or audit exceptions involving the records have been resolved and final 
action taken. 
B. Accessibility of Records. The Village shall make books, records, related papers, 
supporting documentation and personnel relevant to this Agreement available to authorized 
County representatives, the County’s Inspector General, and any other person(s) as may be 
authorized by the County (including auditors). The Village shall cooperate fully in any such 
audit or inquiry. 
C. Failure to Maintain Books and Records. Failure to maintain books, records and 
supporting documentation, as described in this Article VII shall establish a presumption in 
favor of the County for the recovery of any funds paid by the County under this Agreement for 
which adequate books, records and supporting documentation are not available to support 
the payment. 
D. Monitoring and Access to Information. The Village must monitor its activities to assure 
compliance with applicable requirements and to assure its performance expectations are 
being achieved. The County shall monitor the activities of the Village to ensure compliance 
with all requirements and performance expectations of the Agreement. The Village shall 
timely submit all reports, and shall supply, upon the County’s request, documents and 
information relevant to the Agreement. The County may make site visits as warranted by 
program needs.  
 

VIII. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE OR CONVENIENCE 
A.  Termination for Cause. Subject to the notice and cure provisions described in Section B. 



1251791.1 
Page 5 of 9 

below, the County may terminate this Agreement if the Village materially fails to comply with 
any terms of this Agreement, which include (but are not limited to), the following: 

i. Failure to comply with any of the rules, regulations or provisions referred to 
herein, or such statutes, regulations, executive orders, and Federal awarding 
agency guidelines, policies or directives as may become applicable at any time; 
or 

ii. Failure, for any reason, of the Village to fulfill in a timely and proper manner its 
obligations under this Agreement;  

B. If the County determines that an event of default has occurred, the County will give the 
Village written notice of the default, upon the receipt of which the Village has fifteen (15) days to 
cure the default. The County may in its sole discretion give the Village additional time to cure 
the default. At the end of the cure period, if the County chooses to terminate this Agreement 
due to an inadequate cure by the Village, the County will give the Village a letter terminating the 
Agreement. 
C. Termination for Convenience. This Agreement may be terminated by either Party for any or 
no reason by giving written notice to the other Party at least thirty (30) days in advance of the 
effective date of such termination unless construction has begun. 
 
IX. NOTICE; PROJECT POINTS OF CONTACT 
A. Notice. All notices shall be in writing, sent either by overnight courier delivery service or 
by certified mail, return receipt requested, with proper postage pre-paid, with a confirmatory 
email.  Confirmatory emails are a convenience to the Parties, and not a substitute for personal 
or mailed delivery. Notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of courier/personal 
delivery or deposited in the United States mail. Notices shall be addressed as follows:  
 

If to the County: 
Bureau of Asset Management  
69 West Washington Street, Suite 3100  
Chicago, Illinois 60602 
Attn:  Bureau Chief 
Email:  elizabeth.granato@cookcountyil.gov    
Chicago, Illinois 60602  

If to the Village: 
Village of _Forest Park_______ 
_____________________________ 
___________________, IL _______ 
Attention: ____________________ 
Email:  _______________________ 

 
B. Project Points of Contact.  The following individuals are authorized to act as the point of 
contact for the Project: 

For the County: 
__________________________________  
__________________________________  
__________________________________  
Email:  ____________________________  

For the Village: 
__________________________________  
__________________________________  
__________________________________  
Email:  ____________________________  
 

X. MISCELLANEOUS TERMS  
A. Compliance with Laws. Each Party shall observe and comply with the applicable laws, 
ordinances, regulations and codes of the Federal, State, County and other local government 
agencies, including disaster proclamations, which may in any manner affect the performance of 
this Agreement, and assurance of compliance with this requirement by each Party’s 

mailto:elizabeth.granato@cookcountyil.gov


1251791.1 
Page 6 of 9 

employees, agents or subcontractors shall be the responsibility of the respective Party. 
B. Governing Law and Venue. This Agreement shall be interpreted under, and governed by, 
the laws of the State of Illinois, without regard to conflicts of laws principles. Any claim, suit, 
action, or proceeding brought in connection with this Agreement shall be in the Circuit Court 
of Cook County and each Party hereby irrevocably consents to the personal and subject 
matter jurisdiction of such court and waives any claim that such court does not constitute a 
convenient and appropriate venue for such claims, suits, actions, or proceedings. 
C. Force Majeure. Neither the County nor the Village shall be liable for failing to fulfill any 
obligation under this Agreement to the extent such failure is caused by an event beyond such 
Party’s reasonable control and which event is not caused by such Party’s fault or negligence. 
Such events shall include acts of God, acts of war or terrorism, fires, lightning, floods, 
epidemics, or riots. 
D. No Agency, Partnership or Joint Venture. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be 
construed to create or imply any agency, partnership, joint venture or other association 
between the County and the Village. The Parties shall not have the authority to enter into any 
Agreement, nor to assume any liability, on behalf of the other Party, nor to bind or commit the 
other Party in any manner, except as expressly provided herein. 
E. No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement shall be binding upon the Village and the 
County to the benefit of the Village and the County. This Agreement shall not run to the benefit 
of, or be enforceable by, any person or entity other than a Party and permitted assigns. This 
Agreement should not be deemed to confer upon third parties any remedy, claim, right of 
reimbursement or other right. Nothing contained in this Agreement, nor shall any act of the 
Parties, be deemed or construed by any of the Parties hereto or by third parties to create any 
relationship of third party beneficiary, principal, agent, limited or general partnership, joint 
venture, or any association or relationship involving any of the Parties. 
F. No Employment Benefits. Each Party and its respective employees, agents and 
subcontractors for all purposes arising out of the Agreement shall not be considered 
employees of the other Party. It is expressly understood and agreed that neither Parties’ 
employees, agents or subcontractors shall be entitled to any benefit to which the other Party’s 
employees may be entitled including, but not limited to, overtime or unemployment 
compensation, insurance or retirement benefits, workers’ compensation or occupational 
disease benefits or other compensation or leave arrangements. 
G. Non-exclusivity. This Agreement is non-exclusive. Both Parties retain the right, at their 
sole discretion and without prior or subsequent notification to one another, to enter into EV 
Charging Station arrangements with third parties not related to this Agreement. 
H. No Personal Liability. The Parties agree that no member, official, employee or agent of 
either Party will be individually or personally liable to the other Party, its successors or assigns 
under any term or provision of this Agreement or because of his or her execution or attempted 
execution of this Agreement or in the event of any default or breach by such Party under this 
Agreement. 
I. Governmental Immunity.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth elsewhere 
in this Agreement, in no event shall this Agreement be construed to have waived any rights or 
defenses of governmental immunity that either Party may have with respect to any matters 
arising out of this Agreement or performance hereunder. 
J. Cooperation with Inspector General. The Village shall abide by all of the applicable 
provisions of the Office of the Independent Inspector General Ordinance (Section 2-281 et 
seq. of the Cook County Code of Ordinances). 



1251791.1 
Page 7 of 9 

K. Assignment. This Agreement, or any portion thereof, shall not be assigned by either the 
County or the [Village], without the prior written consent of the other Party. 
L. Modification. This Agreement may not be altered, modified or amended except by a 
written instrument signed by both Parties. Provided, however, the Parties agree that provisions 
required to be inserted in this Agreement by laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or executive 
orders are deemed inserted whether or not they appear in this Agreement and that in no event 
will the failure to insert such provisions prevent the enforcement of this Agreement. 
M. Waiver. No term or provision of this Agreement shall be deemed waived, and no breach 
or default shall be deemed excused, unless such waiver or consent shall be in writing and 
signed by the Party claimed to have waived or consented. No consent by any Party to, or waiver 
of, a breach or default by the other, whether express or implied, shall constitute a consent to, 
waiver of, or excuse for any different or subsequent breach or default by or on the part of any 
Party. 
N. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Agreement is deemed to be invalid by 
reason of the operation of any law or by reason of the interpretation placed thereon by any 
court or any other governmental body, this Agreement shall be construed as not containing 
such provision and any and all other provisions hereof which otherwise are lawful and valid 
shall remain in full force and effect. 
O. Survival. Any provisions of this Agreement that impose continuing obligations upon a 
Party or, by their nature or terms, would be reasonably understood to have been intended to 
survive and continue in force and effect after expiration or termination of this Agreement, 
shall remain in force and effect after such expiration or termination for so long as so intended. 
P. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of 
which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which when taken together shall be deemed 
to be one and the same instrument. 
Q. Titles and Headings. Titles and headings to paragraphs contained in this Agreement are 
for convenience only and are not intended to limit, vary, define or expand the content of this 
Agreement. 
R. Interpretation. Whenever the singular is used herein, the masculine, feminine and 
neuter gender shall be deemed to include the others. If any language is stricken or deleted 
from this Agreement, such language shall be deemed never to have appeared herein and no 
connotations or inferences shall be drawn. A reference to the County includes the County’s 
officers, commissioners, employees, attorneys, agents and assigns; a reference to the Village 
includes its officers, members, employees, attorneys, agents and assigns. 
S. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement of the County and 
Village with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all other prior and 
contemporary agreements, understandings, representations, negotiations, and commitments 
between the Village and the County with respect to the subject matter hereof. 
 

END OF PAGE 
SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS 

 



1251791.1 
Page 8 of 9 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereto caused their duly authorized representatives to 
execute this Agreement on the dates hereafter set forth below. 

 
EXECUTED BY COUNTY OF COOK:    EXECUTED BY VILLAGE OF 
FOREST PARK 
 
 
____________________________________   ____________________________________  
Toni Preckwinkle  
President  
Cook County Board of Commissioners  
 
This __ day of________________, 2024   This __ day of________________, 2024  
ATTEST: ________________________    ATTEST: 
________________________  

County Clerk      Clerk  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:     APPROVED AS TO FORM  

Kimberly M. Fox, State’s Attorney  
 
 
______________________________    By:______________________________  
Elizabeth Granato xx/xx/2024    Assistant State’s Attorney xx/xx/2024  
Bureau Chief  
County of Cook  
Bureau of Asset Management 



1251791.1 
Page 9 of 9 

 
EXHIBIT A 

Cook County’s Electric Vehicle Charging Station Program  
Scope Of Work 

 
Under this program, the County shall provide the following scope of services: 
 
Install a dual port, level 2 electric vehicle charging station at a location within the 
Village of Forest Park, agreed upon by both parties to this agreement. Installation will 
include all engineering, equipment, permits, fees, signage, striping, and other work to 
install the charging station. All work done will follow all local, state, and federal 
requirements for this type of work. 
 
The station will be turned over to the host in fully operational condition and ready for 
use. The station will also come with 5 years of subscription service and 5 years of 
warranty. 

 
 



1251787.1 

 
RESOLUTION NO. R- ________-24 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK 

AND THE METROPOLITAN WATER RECLAMATION DISTRICT 
OF GREATER CHICAGO FOR THE GREEN ALLEY PROJECT 2 

 
WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park and the Metropolitan Water Reclamation 

District of Greater Chicago are public agencies within the meaning of the Illinois 

Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, as specified in 5 ILCS 220/1 et seq., and are authorized by 

said Act and Article VII, Section 10 of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois to enter 

into intergovernmental agreements. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, 

Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1. The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this Resolution are 

found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Resolution. 

 Section 2. That certain “Intergovernmental Agreement By and Between the Village 

of Forest Park and the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago for the 

Design, Construction, Operation and Maintenance of the Green Alley Project 2 in the Village 

of Forest Park” (“Agreement”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A, is hereby 

approved. 

 Section 3. The Village authorizes acceptance of, and further agrees to use the funds 

received, pursuant to the Agreement, and that any required Village expenditure under the 

Agreement, be approved. 

 Section 4. The Mayor is hereby authorized to execute, and the Village Clerk is 

hereby authorized to attest the Agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A 



1251787.1 

with such changes therein as may be approved by the officials executing the same, their 

execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of approval of such changes. 

 Section 5. The officers and employees of the Village shall take all action necessary 

or reasonably required by the parties to carry out, give effect to and consummate the 

transactions contemplated hereby under the Agreement and to take all action necessary in 

conformity therewith, including, without limitation, the execution and delivery of any 

documents required to be delivered in connection with the Agreement. 

 Section 6. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage in the manner provided by law. 

 ADOPTED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 16th 

day of December, 2024. 

 
AYES:  ___________________ 
 
NAYS:  ___________________ 
 
ABSENT:  _________________ 
 
 APPROVED by me this 16th day of December, 2024. 
 
 
     
            
      _______________________________________ 
      Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
 
ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
And published in pamphlet form 
This ______ day of December, 2024. 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 
 



1251787.1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
 
 
  



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 1 of 24 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF 
FOREST PARK AND THE METROPOLITAN WATER RECLAMATION DISTRICT 

OF GREATER CHICAGO FOR THE DESIGN, CONSTRUCTION, OPERATION, 
AND MAINTENANCE OF THE GREEN ALLEY PROJECT 2 IN FOREST PARK, 

ILLINOIS 
 

THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into by 

and between the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago (“MWRDGC”), 

a unit of local government and corporate and body politic organized and existing under the 

laws of the State of Illinois, and the Village of Forest Park (“Village”), a municipal corporation 

and non-home rule unit of government organized and existing under Article VII, Section 7 of 

the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois. Together, the MWRDGC and the Village may be 

referred to as the “Parties” and each individually as a “Party”. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, on November 17, 2004, Public Act 093-1049 amended the Metropolitan 

Water Reclamation District Act (“Act”) in various ways; and 

WHEREAS, the Act, as amended, declares that stormwater management in Cook 

County, Illinois is under the general supervision of the MWRDGC; and 

WHEREAS, Public Act 098-0652 amended the Act again on June 18, 2014 by 

specifically authorizing the MWRDGC to plan, implement, and finance activities relating to 

local stormwater management projects in Cook County, Illinois; and 

WHEREAS, one component of the MWRDGC’s stormwater management program 

includes green infrastructure, which is defined as the range of stormwater control measures that 

use plant/soil systems, permeable pavement, stormwater harvest and reuse, or native 

landscaping to store, infiltrate, and/or evapotranspirate stormwater and reduce flows to sewer 

systems or to surface waters as set forth at 33 U.S.C. § 1362 (27); and 

WHEREAS, the MWRDGC is committed to implementing a Green Infrastructure 

Program Plan in conformance with Appendix E, Section II (C) of the consent decree entered 

into in United States, et al., v. Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago, 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 2 of 24 

Case No. 1:11-cv-08859 (N.D. Ill. 2014), and the MWRDGC’s formal commitment in this 

Agreement is intended to satisfy that obligation; and 

WHEREAS, the Village is located within the boundaries of Cook County, Illinois; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 65 ILCS 5/11-110-1 and 65 ILCS 5/11-109-1, the Village is 

empowered to construct and maintain green infrastructure and manage water, sewers, and 

stormwater within its corporate limits; and 

WHEREAS, the Village proposes constructing one (1) permeable alley using 

permeable pavers in the following location in Forest Park, Illinois, for the public benefit of 

reducing flooding and providing green infrastructure in the general area (“Public Benefit”): the 

"T" alley bounded by Harrison Street to the north, Thomas Avenue to the east, Lexington Street 

to the south, and Beloit Avenue to the west; and  

WHEREAS, the proposed green infrastructure installations at the above cited location 

will further the MWRDGC’s goal of informing the public of the value of green infrastructure 

and will provide the design retention capacity (“DRC”) described in Article 2 of this 

Agreement. The DRC will be comprised of two parts: (1) the constructed volume of stormwater 

stored within the stone void spaces built into the ground and/or that can pond on the surface of 

the green infrastructure (“Constructed Volume”) and (2) the volume of water that can infiltrate 

into the ground beneath the green infrastructure during a six (6) hour time period (“Infiltration 

Volume”). The DRC constructed will be in addition to any retention capacity that the Village 

must comply with under local, regional, state, or other regulations for stormwater management; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Village intends to design, construct, operate, maintain, and own the 

proposed green infrastructure installations; and 

WHEREAS, the Village’s plans to construct the proposed green infrastructure 

installations may be accomplished more effectively, economically, and comprehensively with 

the Village and the MWRDGC cooperating and using their joint efforts and resources; and 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 3 of 24 

WHEREAS, the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5 ILCS 220/1 et seq., and Section 

10 of Article VII of the Illinois Constitution, allow and encourage intergovernmental 

cooperation; and 

WHEREAS, on May 16, 2024, the MWRDGC’s Board of Commissioners authorized 

the execution of an intergovernmental agreement with the Village; and 

WHEREAS, on December 16, 2024, the Village Council authorized the execution of 

an intergovernmental agreement with the MWRDGC; and 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements 

contained in this Agreement and for other good and valuable consideration, the MWRDGC and 

the Village agree as follows: 

Article 1. Incorporation of Recitals  

The above recitals are incorporated by reference and made a part of this Agreement. 

Article 2. Scope of Work 

1. The work contemplated by this Agreement will include design, construction, operation, and 

maintenance of a permeable alley (“Project”). These improvements are categorized by the 

MWRDGC as “green infrastructure”. 

2. The Project will realize the Public Benefit of helping to alleviate flooding by, among other 

things, routing runoff from tributary areas to the green infrastructure installation (“Managed 

Area”) so as to reduce flooding and ponding located within and around the Project area, as 

shown in Exhibit 1, attached to this Agreement. 

3. The Village, at its sole cost and expense, will prepare the construction drawings, 

specifications, and details (“Construction Documents”) for the Project. 

4. The Project will be constructed to provide enough DRC to meet or exceed the stormwater 

runoff volume generated by the Managed Area in a ten (10) year, twenty-four (24) hour 

storm event, as demonstrated using the DRC calculation sheet in Exhibit 2, attached to this 

Agreement. The DRC calculation sheet must be completed by a licensed professional 

engineer and must be approved by the MWRDGC prior to construction of the Project. 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 4 of 24 

5. Upon execution of this Agreement and until commencement of Project construction, the 

Village will provide monthly updates to the MWRDGC on (1) the status and progress of 

Project design and (2) the schedule for bid advertisement and award for the Project. 

6. The Village will provide the MWRDGC with a copy of the thirty percent (30%), sixty 

percent (60%), and ninety-eight percent (98%) complete Construction Documents and the 

DRC calculation sheet for the MWRDGC’s approval as to the Public Benefit.  

7. The MWRDGC will review the Construction Documents and the DRC calculation sheet 

and provide written comments to the Village within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt. The 

Village will incorporate the MWRDGC’s review comments into the Construction 

Documents. At the sixty percent (60%) completion stage, the Village will include a report 

of the geotechnical investigation which must include the infiltration rate of the underlying 

soil (as determined by an infiltration rate test completed within the Project limits within the 

five (5) years preceding the execution of this Agreement) and the depth of the seasonably 

high ground water level at the Project location.  

8. At the ninety-eight percent (98%) completion stage, the Village will include a detailed 

opinion regarding probable cost of construction and will include a breakdown of design, 

construction, construction engineering, and any other Project related costs incurred or that 

the Village expects to incur.  

9. The Village will provide the MWRDGC with a copy of the one hundred percent (100%) 

complete Construction Documents and a final design DRC calculation sheet (“Final Design 

DRC”). 

10. Upon award of any Project related construction contracts, the Village will provide monthly 

updates to the MWRDGC as to (1) construction progress and (2) anticipated timeframes for 

submission of reimbursement requests, with the final request being submitted no later than 

sixty (60) calendar days following final completion of the Project construction.  

11. Also, upon award, the Village will provide the following to the MWRDGC: (1) a copy of 

its bid advertisement, including all newspaper, online, or any other media utilized by the 

Village; (2) a summary or tabulation of bids received; and (3) a copy of the Village’s 

approval, resolution, or equivalent awarding the construction contract. 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 5 of 24 

12. After construction, the Village will provide the MWRDGC with a copy of as-built drawings 

and related Project documentation, including any addenda, change orders (not previously 

submitted), stormwater related shop drawings, and field changes. 

13. The MWRDGC will adjust the amount of its reimbursement commitment based upon the 

MWRDGC’s review of the actual constructed DRC (“Final Constructed DRC”)—including 

any addenda, change orders, or field changes that solely relate to the stormwater aspects of 

the Project. 

14. Although the MWRDGC will reimburse the Village for a portion of the Project, the Village 

bears sole responsibility for the overall cost, expense, and payment for the Project, which 

the Village will construct in accordance with the final Construction Documents.  

15. To the extent practicable, the Village, its agents, contractors, or employees may elect to use 

the MWRDGC’s biosolids in any amendments performed to the soil of the Project area, 

including but not limited to landscaping. Subject to availability, the MWRDGC will 

provide the biosolids free of charge. The Village may be required to arrange and pay for the 

transportation of the biosolids to the Project area. 

16. The Village will publicly advertise the Project and publicly award all Project related 

construction contracts to the lowest responsible bidder as determined by the Village. The 

Village will consider and act in general accord with the applicable standards of the 

MWRDGC’s Purchasing Act, 70 ILCS 2605/11.1-11.24 (attached to this Agreement as 

Exhibit 3), when advertising and awarding all Project related construction contracts. The 

Village will also require a payment bond and performance bond for all Project related 

construction contracts in general accord with the applicable standards of Exhibit 3. The 

Village may impose more stringent requirements than those contained in Exhibit 3 when 

awarding Project related construction contracts, but in no event will the Village’s 

requirements fall below the MWRDGC’s applicable general standards. Although the 

Village need not include Exhibit 3 as part of its bid documents, the Village is responsible 

for ensuring that these applicable minimum requirements are met.  

17. The Village agrees that the Project is a “Covered Project” as defined in the MWRDGC’s 

Multi-Project Labor Agreement for Cook County (“MPLA”) (attached to this Agreement as 

Exhibit 4). As such, the Village agrees to be obligated as the MWRDGC would be in the 

MPLA and will ensure that the standards and requirements for “Covered Projects” are met 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 6 of 24 

for the Project, as applicable. The Village may impose more stringent requirements than 

those contained in the MPLA when awarding Project related construction contracts, but in 

no event will the Village’s requirements fall below the standards for “Covered Projects” 

detailed in it. Although Exhibit 4 need not be included as part of the Project’s bid 

documents, the Village is responsible for ensuring that its applicable minimum 

requirements are met.  

18. The Village must comply with the applicable portions of the MWRDGC’s Affirmative 

Action Ordinance and Diversity Policies. Revised Appendix D governs Affirmative Action 

goal requirements for subcontracting with Minority and Women Owned Business 

Enterprises (attached to this Agreement as Exhibit 5). Appendix V governs the diversity 

policy requirements for subcontracting with Veteran-owned Business Enterprises (attached 

to this Agreement as Exhibit 6). Collectively these goals are referred to as “participation 

goals”.  

19. The Village must meet the following participation goals applicable to the Project before 

construction is completed: twenty percent (20%) of the total amount of reimbursement 

provided by the MWRDGC for the Project must be applied to work performed by Minority-

owned Business Enterprises (“MBE”) and/or Women-owned Business Enterprises 

(“WBE”). 

20. The Village should meet the following participation goal applicable to the Project before 

construction is completed: three percent (3%) of the total amount of reimbursement 

provided by the MWRDGC for the Project should be applied to work performed by 

Veteran-owned Business Enterprises (“VBE”).  

21. The determination as to whether the Village has complied with the requirements of this 

Agreement by attaining the MWRDGC’s participation goals is solely within the 

MWRDGC’s discretion. If the Village fails to attain each goal as determined by the 

MWRDGC, the MWRDGC may withhold payments to the Village up to or equal to the 

dollar amount by which the Village failed to attain the participation goal(s). 

22. The Village will provide the MWRDGC access to inspect, with reasonable notice, any 

records or documentation related to the Village’s compliance with the MWRDGC’s 

participation goals. 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 7 of 24 

23. To evidence compliance with the MWRDGC’s participation goals, the Village must 

submit the following items to the MWRDGC’s Diversity Administrator prior to the start of 

construction: (1) a completed Utilization Plan for MBE/WBE participation, attached to this 

Agreement as Exhibit 7 and a completed VBE Commitment Form, attached to this 

Agreement as Exhibit 8 and (2) a current letter from a certifying agency that verifies as 

appropriate the MBE/WBE/VBE status of each vendor listed as a subcontractor on the 

MBE/WBE Utilization Plan and VBE Commitment Form. A certification letter will be 

deemed current so long as its expiration date is after the date of the Utilization Plan or 

Commitment Form. Failure to timely submit a Utilization Plan, Commitment Form, or 

certifying letter may result in a payment delay or denial.  

24. No changes can be made to an approved Utilization Plan without the prior written approval 

of the Diversity Administrator. Failure to obtain the prior written approval of the Diversity 

Administrator may result in a payment delay or denial. Additionally, the performance of 

work by businesses that did not receive prior written approval from the Diversity 

Administrator will not be counted towards the participation goals.  

25. Together with each and every reimbursement request, the Village must submit to the 

Diversity Administrator the following: (1) a MBE/WBE and VBE Status Report (“Status 

Report”), attached to this Agreement as Exhibit 9; (2) full or partial lien waivers from the 

participating MBE/WBE/VBE vendors, as applicable; and (3) proof of payment to the 

participating MBE/WBE/VBE vendors (e.g., canceled checks), as applicable. Failure to 

submit a Status Report and any supporting documentation may result in a payment delay or 

denial.  

26. The Village will comply with the Prevailing Wage Act, 820 ILCS 130/0.01 et seq. Current 

prevailing wage rates for Cook County are determined by the Illinois Department of Labor 

and are available on the Illinois Department of Labor’s official website. It is the 

responsibility of the Village to obtain and comply with any revisions to the rates should 

they change during the construction phase of this Agreement. 

27. The Village, at its sole cost and expense, will provide (1) the final design of the Project; (2) 

land acquisition and remediation, if any; and (3) construction oversight and administrative 

support for the Project.  



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 8 of 24 

28. The Village will submit a signed Operation and Maintenance Plan (“O&M Plan”) for the 

MWRDGC’s review and approval. The O&M Plan must be signed by an authorized 

representative of the Village. The O&M Plan will be included as part of this Agreement as 

Exhibit 10. At its sole cost and expense, the Village will operate and maintain the Project in 

accordance with the approved O&M Plan. 

29. The MWRDGC will reimburse the Village at a rate of five dollars ($5) per gallon of 

Constructed Volume of the DRC and one dollar ($1) per gallon of Infiltration Volume of 

the DRC. These reimbursement rates will be applied to the Final Design DRC. For the 

purposes of calculating reimbursement amounts, a maximum infiltration rate of 3.6 inches 

per hour will be used in the DRC calculation. 

30. The MWRDGC may provide reimbursement to the Village for change orders that arise 

during construction of the Project. For a change order to be considered for reimbursement, 

the work to be performed under the change order must be construction work that is 

necessary for the Project to proceed and work that was not foreseeable at the time that the 

final Construction Documents were reviewed and approved by the MWRDGC. A proposed 

change order must be submitted in writing to the MWRDGC for review and approval prior 

to any work being performed pursuant to the change order. The MWRDGC will review the 

proposed change order and will provide a written decision to the Village within fourteen 

(14) calendar days of receipt. The MWRDGC will not reimburse the Village for any work 

performed pursuant to a change order that has not received prior written approval. The 

MWRDGC’s decision whether to reimburse the Village for a proposed change order is 

solely within the discretion of the MWRDGC. 

31. The MWRDGC will reimburse the Village, per the requirements detailed in this Article, up 

to sixty and 00/100 percent (60.0%) (“Maximum Reimbursement Percentage”) of the total 

construction cost of the Project. In no event will the reimbursement amount provided by the 

MWRDGC exceed Three Hundred Three Thousand and 00/100 dollars ($303,000.00) 

(“Maximum Reimbursement Amount”). If the Project is constructed for less than the total 

estimated cost of construction, the MWRDGC’s Maximum Reimbursement Amount will be 

calculated using the total actual construction cost of the Project. For purposes of this 

Agreement, “construction” will mean all work necessary to build the Project as depicted in 

the final Construction Documents.  



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 9 of 24 

32. The Village will be responsible for securing funding or contributing its own funds for all 

remaining costs necessary to construct the Project in accordance with the final Construction 

Documents. The Village will be solely responsible for change orders, overruns, or any other 

increases in the cost of the Project (unless otherwise approved by the MWRDGC as 

described in Paragraph 30 of this Article). All funding provided by the MWRDGC will be 

exclusively to reimburse the Village for construction of the Project. For disbursement of 

funds to occur, the Village must provide the following documentation to the MWRDGC: 

a. A DRC calculation sheet showing the Final Constructed DRC, which must be 

within ten percent (10%) of the Final Design DRC. If the Final Constructed DRC 

differs by more than ten percent (10%) of the Final Design DRC, the reimbursement 

amount provided by the MWRDGC will be reduced or increased as appropriate; and 

b. An exhibit showing the Project’s Managed Areas and calculations of the runoff 

volume generated by the Managed Areas in a ten (10) and one hundred (100) year, 

twenty-four (24) hour storm event. The MWRDGC will cap the volume used to 

calculate the reimbursement amount at the runoff volume generated by the one 

hundred (100) year storm event. 

33. The MWRDGC will disburse funds to the Village in accordance with the following 

schedule: 

a. Twenty-five percent (25%) of the Maximum Reimbursement Amount at receipt of a 

reimbursement request for fifty percent (50%) completion of construction; and 

b. Subject to the Maximum Reimbursement Amount and Maximum Reimbursement 

Percentage, the remaining amount necessary to reimburse the Village based upon 

the Final Constructed DRC. 

34. The Village must submit invoices for fifty percent (50%) completion of construction within 

thirty (30) calendar days of completion. The documents detailed in Paragraph 32 of this 

Article must be signed by a professional engineer licensed by the State of Illinois and 

submitted within sixty (60) calendar days of final completion or no later than December 31, 

2025. The MWRDGC will only disburse funds in strict accordance with the foregoing 

schedule. The MWRDGC may opt not to pay any late reimbursement requests or invoices.  

35. The MWRDGC’s Maximum Reimbursement Amount under this Agreement is based on the 

funding amount that the MWRDGC’s Board of Commissioners approved and appropriated 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 10 of 24 

for this Project.  Any additional funding sought from the MWRDGC beyond that which 

was approved and appropriated is subject to the approval of the MWRDGC’s Board of 

Commissioners. 

36. The Village is responsible for all other Project related costs including engineering, property 

acquisition, remediation, other design related costs, construction inspection, and the 

remainder of the construction cost that is not reimbursed by the MWRDGC.  

37. As a condition for reimbursement, the Village must submit copies of construction invoices 

to the MWRDGC for review along with the respective reimbursement requests.  

Article 3. Permits and Fees 

1. Federal, State, and County Requirements. The Village will obtain all federal, state, county, 

and local permits required by law for the construction of the Project and will assume any 

costs in procuring said permits. Additionally, the Village will obtain all consents and 

approvals required by federal, state, and county regulations for the construction of the 

Project and will assume any costs incurred in procuring all such consents and approvals. 

2. Operation and Maintenance. The Village will obtain any and all permits necessary for the 

performance of any operations or maintenance work associated with the improvements to 

be constructed by the Village in connection with the Project, and in accordance with Article 

6 of this Agreement. 

Article 4. Environmental Site Assessment 

1. The MWRDGC and the Village agree that an environmental site assessment may be 

completed at the Project site prior to any work being performed in accordance with this 

Agreement. 

2. The MWRDGC will reimburse the Village for the Maximum Reimbursement Percentage, 

as detailed in Article 2.31 of this Agreement, of the total cost of the environmental site 

assessment, but in no event will that amount exceed ten thousand dollars ($10,000.00). 

3. The Village is responsible for contracting with a company to provide the environmental site 

assessment. The Village must ensure that the company is properly licensed and insured to 

perform the necessary work. 

4. The Village must provide the invoice for the environmental site assessment within fourteen 

(14) calendar days of receipt for reimbursement by the MWRDGC. 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 11 of 24 

5. The funds to be provided by the MWRDGC to the Village for the environmental site 

assessment will be separate and distinct from the funds to be provided for the Project, as 

described in Article 2.31 of this Agreement. 

6. The Village will provide the MWRDGC with a copy of the environmental site assessment 

report within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt for the MWRDGC’s review. 

7. If, after review of the environmental site assessment report, it is determined that 

remediation of the Project site is required, the Village and the MWRDGC will commence 

discussion to determine if it is appropriate for the Project to proceed. If the MWRDGC 

decides to proceed with the Project, the Village will be responsible for all Project site 

remediation which must be performed consistent with all applicable state and federal law. If 

the Village is unwilling or incapable of remediating the Project site, and no alternative plan 

is feasible, this Agreement will be terminated by the MWRDGC pursuant to Article 9 of 

this Agreement. 

Article 5. Property Interests 

1. In executing this Agreement, the Village is affirming that the Project site is located entirely 

within a right of way, perpetual easement, or on other property owned solely by and within 

the Village. Further, the Village is affirming that it has an enforceable property interest in 

the Project site. As verification, the Village has completed the form affidavit provided by 

the MWRDGC, which has been executed by an authorized officer of the Village. Exhibit 11 

attached to this Agreement contains the executed affidavit or, in the alternative, all relevant 

documentary evidence of dedication, perpetual easement, or ownership. 

2. For all surrounding property impacting or being impacted by the Project, prior to starting 

construction of the Project, the Village will acquire any temporary or permanent easements, 

license agreements, or fee simple title necessary for access to the Project site, as well as 

construction and maintenance of the Project. Any property interests acquired by the Village 

must be consistent with the MWRDGC’s right to access the Project to conduct an 

inspection or perform maintenance as set out in Article 6 of this Agreement. 

3. Should acquisition of property interests via condemnation be necessary, the Village will 

incur all associated costs, including purchase price and easement fees, as well as any 

attorney’s fees. When necessary, the Village will be required to provide relocation 

assistance consistent with the obligations of all applicable state and federal law. 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 12 of 24 

4. If it is determined during the design or construction phases of the Project, as performed by 

the Village, that hazardous substances are located in, on, or under the Project site, the 

Village must notify the MWRDGC in writing within fourteen (14) calendar days of this 

information becoming available. Following notification, the Village and the MWRDGC 

will commence discussion to determine if it is appropriate for the Project to proceed. If the 

MWRDGC decides to proceed with the Project, the Village will be responsible for all 

Project site remediation which must be performed consistent with all applicable state and 

federal law. If the Village is unwilling or incapable of remediating the Project site, and no 

alternative plan is feasible, this Agreement will be terminated by the MWRDGC pursuant 

to Article 9 of this Agreement. 

5. The Village will record all easements, licenses, or deeds acquired for the Project. 

6. The Village will own all the improvements constructed for the Project. Nothing in this 

Agreement creates an ownership or property interest for the MWRDGC in any part of the 

Project. 

7. The Village may not lease, sell, or transfer the Project site or property owned by the Village 

that is necessary for construction, maintenance, and access to the Project site, in whole or 

part, to a third party during the term of this Agreement without the MWRDGC’s prior 

written approval. The Village must provide the MWRDGC with at least sixty (60) calendar 

days’ written notice of the date on which it intends to execute a lease, sell, or transfer the 

property. Failure to comply with this Paragraph of the Agreement during the construction 

phase of the Project may result in termination by the MWRDGC pursuant to Article 9 of 

this Agreement and may require the Village to return all or a portion of the funds received 

from the MWRDGC, at the MWRDGC’s sole discretion. Alternatively, failure to comply 

with this Paragraph during the maintenance phase of the Project may result in the 

MWRDGC seeking full or partial repayment of funds provided to the Village from the 

MWRDGC for the Project, at the MWRDGC’s sole discretion.  

Article 6. Maintenance 

1. The Village, at its sole cost and expense, will maintain the Project in accordance with the 

MWRDGC approved O&M Plan for at least twenty-five (25) years and must ensure that the 

Project perpetually provides the intended Public Benefit or that the Village replaces the 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 13 of 24 

Project after twenty-five (25) years with improvements that provide equal or greater 

stormwater benefit to the public. 

2. The Village must conduct annual inspections to ensure adequate maintenance of the Project 

in accordance with the O&M Plan approved by the MWRDGC. The Village will prepare a 

report detailing its annual inspection, observations, and conclusions including whether the 

Project is operating as designed, functioning, and providing the intended Public Benefit. 

The annual inspection report must either be stamped by a professional engineer licensed by 

the State of Illinois or signed by the head of the department responsible for maintenance 

duties. The stamped or signed annual inspection report will be provided to the MWRDGC 

within thirty (30) calendar days of completion. 

3. The MWRDGC will have the right (including any necessary right of access) to conduct its 

own annual inspection of the constructed Project upon reasonable notice to the Village.  

4. In the event of failure of the Village to maintain the Project as required in the approved 

O&M Plan, the MWRDGC may issue written notice by certified, registered, or electronic 

mail to the Village directing the Village to perform such maintenance. If the maintenance 

has not been performed on or before thirty (30) calendar days after such notice, the 

MWRDGC may cause such maintenance to be performed and the Village will pay the 

MWRDGC the entire cost that the MWRDGC incurred to perform the required 

maintenance, with said reimbursement to be paid by the Village to the MWRDGC within 

thirty (30) calendar days after request.  

5. In addition to Paragraph 4 of this Article, if the MWRDGC determines that the Village has 

failed to maintain the Project’s improvements to provide the intended Public Benefit, the 

MWRDGC may require the Village to repay some or all of the funding that the MWRDGC 

provided under this Agreement. The amount of repayment is at the sole discretion of the 

MWRDGC. However, this Paragraph will not apply if, after twenty-five (25) years, the 

Village replaces the Project with improvements that are deemed by the MWRDGC to have 

an equal or greater Public Benefit. 

6. In performing its obligations under this Article, the Village will comply with all access 

restrictions and notice requirements set forth in the easements, licenses, or deeds recorded 

pursuant to Article 5 of this Agreement. 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 14 of 24 

Article 7. Notification  

1. Bid Advertisement. The Village will provide the MWRDGC with thirty (30) calendar days’ 

notice prior to bid advertisement for the Project. 

2. Construction. The Village will provide the MWRDGC with a construction schedule and a 

minimum of seventy-two (72) hours’ notice before the following project milestones: 

• Start of work 

• Substantial completion 

• Completion of work 

Article 8. Notification to Residents (Public Outreach) 

1. The Village will permanently display signs at locations in the vicinity of the Project that are 

present and visible to the community setting forth the following information: “This project 

is a joint effort between the Village of Forest Park and the Metropolitan Water Reclamation 

District of Greater Chicago, designed to promote the use of green infrastructure as an 

effective means of stormwater management”. The signs will be maintained by the Village 

and will include educational information about the benefits of green infrastructure. The 

MWRDGC will provide examples of signage used for similar projects upon request. 

2. The Village will notify the MWRDGC of its intent to hold any ceremonies, public outreach, 

or educational events related to the Project (e.g. groundbreakings, ribbon cuttings, open 

houses, community fairs, etc.) at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the planned event 

date. The MWRDGC may provide materials or equipment to be used to assist the Village in 

disseminating Project related information at these events. 

3. The MWRDGC reserves the right to record drone footage of the Project. The MWRDGC 

will provide the Village with fourteen (14) calendar days notice of its intent to record 

footage. If the desired record date is a date on which the Village has a conflict, the Village 

will provide the MWRDGC with a more suitable date to record.  

Article 9. Termination 

1. Prior to commencement of construction of the Project, the Village may, at its option, and 

upon giving notice to the MWRDGC in the manner provided in Article 26 of this 

Agreement, terminate this Agreement as it pertains to the entire Project. 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 15 of 24 

2. Prior to Bid Advertisement of the Project, the MWRDGC may, at its option, and upon 

giving notice to the Village in the manner provided in Article 26 of this Agreement, 

terminate this Agreement as it pertains to the entire Project.  

3. The MWRDGC may also terminate this Agreement if: (a) the Village does not award 

construction of the Project within six (6) months from the date of execution of this 

Agreement or by October 1, 2025, whichever comes first or (b) the Project is not completed 

in accordance with the Construction Documents within one (1) year of the Village’s initial 

award of a construction contract related to the Project or by December 1, 2025, whichever 

comes first. If the MWRDGC elects to terminate this Agreement based upon (b), the 

Village must return all funds provided by the MWRDGC within fourteen (14) calendar 

days of termination. In its sole discretion, the MWRDGC may approve an extension for 

delays outside the Village’s control and where the Village has made good faith efforts to 

advance the Project. 

4. If, pursuant to Article 4 and Article 5 of this Agreement, the Village is unwilling or 

incapable of remediating the Project site, and no alternative plan is feasible, this Agreement 

will be terminated by the MWRDGC. The MWRDGC will provide thirty (30) calendar 

days written notice to the Village of intent to terminate. Any funds received by the Village 

from the MWRDGC must be returned within thirty (30) calendar days of such termination. 

5. If during the term of this Agreement, either Party fails to comply with any of the provisions 

contained in this Agreement, the other Party may seek to terminate this Agreement upon 

thirty (30) calendar days’ written notice. Upon receiving written notice of desire to 

terminate, the Parties will commence discussion regarding conformance with this 

Agreement. If a resolution is reached, this Agreement will proceed. If no resolution is 

reached, this Agreement will be deemed terminated. Within thirty (30) calendar days of 

such termination, all funds received from the MWRDGC will be returned, unless other 

arrangements are agreed upon in writing. 

6. If it is determined that the Village provided false, incorrect, or misleading information 

regarding the Project or the funding thereof, the MWRDGC may terminate this Agreement 

and require the Village to return a portion or all of the Project related funds received from 

the MWRDGC no later than fourteen (14) calendar days following termination of this 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 16 of 24 

Agreement. The determination as to whether the Village has violated this Paragraph of the 

Agreement, and the amount of funds to be returned, is solely in the MWRDGC’s discretion.  

Article 10. Effective Date 

This Agreement becomes effective on the date that the last signature is affixed to the signature 

pages.  

Article 11. Duration 

Subject to the terms and conditions of Article 9 of this Agreement, this Agreement will remain 

in full force and effect for twenty-five (25) years (project life) from the effective date of this 

Agreement. After twenty-five (25) years have elapsed, this Agreement will automatically 

renew on an annual basis unless either Party sends written notification to the other Party 

regarding non-renewal of the Agreement. The Parties will commence discussion within 

fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of the notice to determine whether non-renewal of this 

Agreement is appropriate. If the Parties agree, the Agreement will be considered expired thirty 

(30) calendar days thereafter. If there is no concurrence, this Agreement will remain in effect.  

Article 12. Non-Assignment 

Neither Party may assign its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior 

written consent of the other Party. 

Article 13. Waiver of Personal Liability 

No official, employee, or agent of either Party to this Agreement will be charged personally by 

the other Party with any liability or expenses of defense incurred as a result of the exercise of 

any rights, privileges, or authority granted in this Agreement, nor will he or she be held 

personally liable under any term, provision, or paragraph of this Agreement, or because of a 

Party’s execution or attempted execution of this Agreement, or because of any breach of this 

Agreement. 

Article 14. Indemnification 

The Village will defend, indemnify, and release from liability the MWRDGC, its 

Commissioners, officers, employees, and other agents (“MWRDGC Parties”) from liabilities of 

every kind, including losses, damages and reasonable costs, payments and expenses (such as, 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 17 of 24 

but not limited to, court costs and reasonable attorney fees and disbursements), claims, 

demands, actions, suits, proceedings, judgments, or settlements, any or all of which are asserted 

by any individual, private entity, or public entity against the MWRDGC Parties and arise out of 

or are in any way related to: (1) design, construction, operation, or maintenance of the Project 

that is the subject of this Agreement or (2) the exercise of any right, privilege, or authority 

granted to the Village under this Agreement. The provisions contained in this Article will 

survive the termination, expiration, or non-renewal of this Agreement. 

Article 15. Representations of the Village 

The Village covenants, represents, and warrants as follows: 

1. The Village has full authority to execute, deliver, and perform or cause to be performed this 

Agreement; and 

2. The individuals signing this Agreement and all other documents executed on behalf of the 

Village are duly authorized to sign on behalf of and to bind the Village; and 

3. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, consummation of the transactions provided 

for in this Agreement, and the fulfillment of the terms will not result in any breach of any of 

the terms or provisions of or constitute a default under any agreement of the Village or any 

instrument to which the Village is bound or any judgment, decree, or order of any court, 

governmental body, or any applicable law, rule, or regulation; and 

4. The funds allocated by the Village for this 

Project are separate from and in addition to the funds that the MWRDGC will provide 

under this Agreement.  

Article 16. Representations of the MWRDGC  

The MWRDGC covenants, represents, and warrants as follows: 

1. The MWRDGC has full authority to execute, deliver, and perform or cause to be performed 

this Agreement; and 

2. The individuals signing this Agreement and all other documents executed on behalf of the 

MWRDGC are duly authorized to sign on behalf of and to bind the MWRDGC; and 

3. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, consummation of the transactions provided 

for in this Agreement, and the fulfillment of its terms will not result in any breach of any of 

the terms or provisions of or constitute a default under any agreement of the MWRDGC or 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 18 of 24 

any instrument to which the MWRDGC is bound or any judgment, decree, or order of any 

court, governmental body, or any applicable law, rule, or regulation. 

Article 17. Disclaimers  

This Agreement is not intended, nor will it be construed, to confer any rights, privileges, or 

authority not permitted by Illinois law. Nothing in this Agreement will be construed to establish 

a contractual relationship between the MWRDGC and any party other than the Village. 

Article 18. Waivers 

Whenever a Party to this Agreement by proper authority waives the other Party’s performance 

in any respect or waives a requirement or condition to performance, the waiver so granted, 

whether express or implied, will only apply to the particular instance and will not be deemed a 

waiver for subsequent instances of the performance, requirement, or condition. No such waiver 

will be construed as a modification of this Agreement regardless of the number of times the 

performance, requirement, or condition may have been waived. 

Article 19. Severability 

If any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, such 

invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability will not affect any other provisions of this Agreement, 

and this Agreement will be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision had 

never been contained therein. The remaining provisions will remain in full force and will not be 

affected by the invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision or by its severance. In lieu of such 

illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision, there will be added automatically as part of this 

Agreement a provision as similar in its terms to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision 

as may be possible and be legal, valid, and enforceable. 

Article 20. Necessary Documents 

Each Party agrees to execute and deliver all further documents, and take all further action 

reasonably necessary, to effectuate the purpose of this Agreement. Upon the completion of the 

Project, the Village will provide the MWRDGC with a full-sized copy of “as-built” drawings 

for the Project. The drawings will be affixed with the “as-built” printed mark and must be 

signed by both the Village resident engineer and the contractor.  



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 19 of 24 

Article 21. Compliance with Applicable Laws and Deemed Inclusion of Same  

1. The Parties agree to observe and comply with all federal, state, and local laws, codes, and 

ordinances applicable to the Project. Provisions required (as of the effective date) by law, 

ordinances, rules, regulations, or executive orders to be inserted in this Agreement are 

deemed inserted in this Agreement whether or not they appear in this Agreement or, upon 

application by either Party, this Agreement will be amended to make the insertions. 

However, in no event will the failure to insert such provisions before or after this 

Agreement is signed prevent its enforcement.  

2. The Parties to this Agreement will comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, 

rules, and regulations in carrying out the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including 

the Equal Opportunity clause set forth in Appendix A to the Illinois Department of Human 

Rights’ regulations, which is incorporated by reference in its entirety as though fully set 

forth in this Agreement. 

3. The Village agrees that it will ensure that all contractors and subcontractors that perform 

work on the Project are properly registered to transact business with the Illinois Secretary of 

State, are properly licensed for the work to be performed, and are properly insured at all 

times while performing work under this Agreement. 

Article 22. Entire Agreement  

This Agreement, and any exhibits or riders attached hereto, constitute the entire agreement 

between the Parties. No other warranties, inducements, considerations, promises, or 

interpretations may be implied that are not expressly set forth in this Agreement. 

Article 23. Amendments  

This Agreement will not be amended unless it is done so in writing and signed by the 

authorized representatives of both Parties. 

Article 24. References to Documents  

All references in this Agreement to any exhibit or document will be deemed to include all 

supplements and authorized amendments to any such exhibits or documents to which both 

Parties hereto are privy. 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 20 of 24 

Article 25. Judicial and Administrative Remedies 

1. The Parties agree that this Agreement and any subsequent amendments will be governed by 

and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Illinois in all 

respects, including matters of construction, validity, and performance. The Parties further 

agree that the proper venue to resolve any dispute which may arise out of this Agreement is 

the appropriate court of competent jurisdiction located in Cook County, Illinois. 

2. The rights and remedies of the MWRDGC or the Village will be cumulative, and election 

by the MWRDGC or the Village of any single remedy will not constitute a waiver of any 

other remedy that such Party may pursue under this Agreement. 

Article 26. Notices 

Unless otherwise stated in this Agreement, all notices given in connection with this Agreement 

will be deemed adequately given only if in writing and addressed to the Party for whom such 

notices are intended at the addresses set forth in Article 27 of this Agreement, unless otherwise 

specified and agreed to in writing by the Parties. All notices will be sent by personal delivery, 

first class registered or certified mail with postage prepaid and return receipt requested, or by 

electronic mail. A written notice will be deemed to have been given to the recipient Party on 

the earlier of (a) the date it is delivered to the address required by this Agreement; (b) with 

respect to notices sent by mail, two (2) calendar days (excluding Sundays and federal holidays) 

following the date it is properly addressed and placed in the U.S. Mail, with proper postage 

prepaid; or (c) with respect to notices sent by electronic mail, on the date of notification of 

delivery receipt, if delivery was during the normal business hours of the recipient, or on the 

next business day, if delivery was outside normal business hours of the recipient. In the heading 

of all notices, the Parties must identify the Project by stating as follows: “IGA between Village 

of Forest Park and the MWRDGC for the Green Alley Project 2 in Forest Park”. 

Article 27. Representatives  

1. Immediately upon execution of this Agreement, the following individuals will represent the 

Parties as primary contacts and must receive notice in all matters under this Agreement. 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 21 of 24 

 
For the MWRDGC: For the Village: 
Director of Engineering 
Metropolitan Water Reclamation District  
of Greater Chicago 
100 East Erie Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60611 
Phone: (312) 751-7905 
Email: oconnorc@mwrd.org  

Village Administrator 
Village of Forest Park 
517 Des Plaines Avenue 
Forest Park, Illinois 60130 
Phone: (708) 615-6201 
Email: rentler@forestpark.net  

 
2. Each Party agrees to promptly notify the other Party of any change in its designated 

representative, and provide the new representative’s name, address, telephone number, and 

electronic mail address.  

Article 28. Interpretation and Execution  

1. The Parties agree that this Agreement will not be construed against a Party by reason of 

who prepared it. 

2. Each Party agrees to provide a certified copy of the ordinance, bylaw, or other authority 

demonstrating that the person(s) signing this Agreement is/are authorized to do so and that 

this Agreement is a valid and binding obligation of the Party. 

3. The Parties will execute this Agreement electronically, unless the Parties otherwise agree to 

execute paper copies of the Agreement, in which case four (4) copies of the Agreement will 

be executed. 

Article 29. Exhibits and Attachments  

The following Exhibits are attached and incorporated into this Agreement, with amended versions 

attached, as applicable: 

Exhibit 1:  Project Vicinity Map and Project Conceptual Drawing 
Exhibit 2:  DRC Calculation Sheet 
Exhibit 3:  MWRDGC’s Purchasing Act, 70 ILCS 2605/11.1-11.24 

Exhibit 4: MWRDGC’s Multi-Project Labor Agreement (Cook County) with 
Certificate of Compliance, effective October 6, 2017 

Exhibit 5: MWRDGC’s Affirmative Action Ordinance, Revised Appendix D, dated 
December 31, 2022 

Exhibit 6: MWRDGC’s Appendix V, Veteran Owned Business Enterprise 
Contracting Policy Requirements, dated May 1, 2023 

Exhibit 7: MBE/WBE Utilization Plan 
Exhibit 8: VBE Commitment Form 
Exhibit 9: Affirmative Action Status Report 

mailto:oconnorc@mwrd.org
mailto:rentler@forestpark.net


1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 22 of 24 

Exhibit 10: Operation and Maintenance Plan  

Exhibit 11: Affidavit of Ownership 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW IMMEDIATELY] 

 



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 23 of 24 

The Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago and Village of Forest 

Park, have executed this Agreement, by their authorized officers, duly attested and their seals 

affixed, as of the date of the last signature affixed hereto. 

VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK  
 

By: ________________________________  
                                                                                           Rory Hoskins, Mayor 

 
Date:   
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
  
Vanessa Belmonte, Village Clerk  
 
Date:   



1251787.1 
24-IGA-09           Page 24 of 24 

METROPOLITAN WATER RECLAMATION DISTRICT OF GREATER CHICAGO 

 

   
Chairman of the Committee on Finance Date 

   
Executive Director Date 

ATTEST: 

   
Clerk Date 

APPROVED AS TO ENGINEERING AND TECHNICAL MATTERS: 

   
Director of Engineering Date 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 

   
Head Assistant Attorney Date 

   
General Counsel Date 

 
 



 

 
1251997.1 

RESOLUTION NO. R-__________-24 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING CHANGE ORDER NO. 2 TO THE CONTRACT WITH 
AND PAY REQUEST NO. 3 (FINAL) TO TECORP, INC. FOR THE REHABILITATION 

OF THE SOUTH WATER TANK AT 1580 SOUTH HANNAH PROJECT 
 

 WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois ("Village"), previously 

awarded the contract (“Contract”) for the Rehabilitation of the South Water Tank at 1580 South 

Hannah Project (“Project”) to Tecorp, Inc. (“Contractor”) for the original amount of Six Hundred 

Seventy-Four Thousand Two Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($674,200.00) (“Contract Price”); and 

 WHEREAS, the Village subsequently approved Change Order No. 1 to the Contract, in 

the amount of Thirteen Thousand Two Hundred Fifty and 00/100 Dollars ($13,250.00), 

increasing the Contract Price in the amount of Six Hundred Eighty-Seven Thousand Four 

Hundred Fifty and 00/100 Dollars ($687,450.00) (“Amended Contract Price”); and 

 WHEREAS, Village staff and Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd., Village Engineer, 

on behalf of the Village, reviewed and recommended balancing Change Order No. 2 to the 

Contract, for crediting for work not performed and for additional work to be included in the 

Project; and 

 WHEREAS, Change Order No. 2 to the Contract increases the Contract Price by Four 

Thousand Two Hundred Fifty and 00/100 Dollars ($4,250.00) for an adjusted Amended Contract 

Price of Six Hundred Ninety-One Thousand Seven Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($691,700.00); 

and 

 WHEREAS, Contractor has submitted its Pay Request #3 (Final) for completion of the 

work for the Project, which includes Change Order No. 2, a copy of Pay Request #3 (Final) 

which is attached hereto and made a part hereof; and 



 

 
1251997.1 

 WHEREAS, the Pay Request No. 3 (Final) has been reviewed by the Village Engineer, 

who has determined that Contractor is entitled to compensation for its performance under the 

Project to date, pursuant to the Pay Request No. 3 (Final); and 

 WHEREAS, the Village will be obligated to make a payment on Pay Request No. 3 

(Final) to Contractor in the amount of Ninety-Six Thousand Fifty and 00/100 Dollars 

($96,050.00); and 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary that the Mayor and Council of the Village approve balancing 

Change Order No. 2 and Pay Request No. 3 (Final) to Contractor under the Contract for the 

Project. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Council of the Village of 

Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 Section 1. The statements contained in the preambles to this Resolution are found to 

be true and correct and are hereby incorporated into this Resolution. 

 Section 2. The Council of the Village hereby approves Change Order No. 2 to the 

Contract, in the amount of Four Thousand Two Hundred Fifty and 00/100 Dollars ($4,250.00). 

 Section 3. The Council of the Village hereby approves Pay Request No. 3 (Final) to 

Contractor in the amount of Ninety-Six Thousand Fifty and 00/100 Dollars ($96,050.00) under 

the Contract for the Project with Contractor. 

 Section 4. The Village Clerk is directed to attest to the Mayor's signature on any and 

all documents, as necessary to effectuate and carry out the approvals in this Resolution. 

 Section 5. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage in the 

manner provided by law. 



 

 
1251997.1 

 RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 16th 

day of December, 2024.  

 
 AYES: ___________________________ 
 
 NAYS: ___________________________ 
 
 ABSENT: _________________________  
 

APPROVED by me this 16th day of December, 2024. 
 
 
 
   ___________________________________ 

Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor  
 
 

ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
and published in pamphlet form 
this ______ day of December, 2024. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Vanessa Belmonte, Village Clerk  
  
 
 



 

 
1251997.1 

CHANGE ORDER NO. 2 AND PAY REQUEST NO. 3 (FINAL) 
REHABILITATION OF THE SOUTH WATER TANK  

AT 1580 SOUTH HANNAH PROJECT 
 



 

 
1251997.1 



 

 
1251997.1 

 



 

 
1251997.1 



 

 
1251997.1 



 

 
1251997.1 



 

 
1251997.1 



 

 
1251997.1 



 

 
1251997.1 



 

 
1251997.1 



 

 
1251997.1 



 

 
1251997.1 



 

 
1251997.1 



 

 
1251997.1 

 
 



 
1251782.1 

RESOLUTION NO. R-__________-24 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING PAY REQUEST #1 (FINAL) FOR THE 
ROOSEVELT ROAD ISLANDS REMOVAL AND LANDSCAPING PROJECT 

TO TRIGGI CONSTRUCTION, INC. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois ("Village"), awarded the 

contract for the Roosevelt Road Islands Removal and Landscaping Project to Triggi 

Construction, Inc. (“Contractor"); and 

 WHEREAS, Contractor has submitted its Pay Request #1 (Final) for completion of the 

work to date under the Project, a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof; and 

 WHEREAS, the Pay Request #1 (Final) has been reviewed by the Village Engineer, who 

has determined that Contractor is entitled to compensation for its performance under the Project 

to date, pursuant to the Pay Request #1 (Final); and 

 WHEREAS, the Village will be obligated to make a payment on Pay Request #1 (Final) 

to Contractor in the amount of Two Hundred Fifty-Seven Thousand Five Hundred Forty-Six and 

04/100 Dollars ($257,546.04); and 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary that the Mayor and Council of the Village approve Pay 

Request #1 (Final) to Contractor under the contract for the Project. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Council of the Village of 

Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 Section 1. The recitals set forth in the preambles are hereby incorporated herein by 

reference and made a part of this Resolution. 

 Section 2. The Council of the Village hereby approves Pay Request #1 (Final) to 

Contractor in the amount of Two Hundred Fifty-Seven Thousand Five Hundred Forty-Six and 

04/100 Dollars ($257,546.04) under the contract for the Project with Contractor. 



 
1251782.1 

 Section 3. The Village Clerk is directed to attest to the Mayor's signature on any and 

all documents, as necessary. 

 Section 4. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage in the 

manner provided by law. 

 RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 16th 

day of December, 2024.  

 
 AYES: ___________________________ 
 
 NAYS: ___________________________ 
 
 ABSENT: _________________________  
 

APPROVED by me this 16th day of December, 2024. 
 
 
 
   ___________________________________ 

Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor  
 
 

ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
and published in pamphlet form 
this ______ day of December, 2024. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Vanessa Belmonte, Village Clerk  
  
 
 



 
1251782.1 

ROOSEVELT ROAD ISLANDS REMOVAL AND LANDSCAPING PROJECT 
PAY REQUEST #1 (FINAL) 



 
1251782.1 



 
1251782.1 



 
1251782.1 



 
1251782.1 



 
1251782.1 



 
1251782.1 

 



1251780-1 

RESOLUTION NO. R-__________-24 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE APPROVAL OF 
PAY REQUEST #1 FOR THE 2024 WATER MAIN  

REPLACEMENT PROJECT TO BOLDER CONTRACTORS, INC. 
(400-500 BLOCKS OF FERDINAND) 

 
 WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois ("Village"), awarded the 

contract for the 2024 Water Main Replacement Project ("Project") to Bolder Contractors, Inc. 

(“Contractor"); and 

 WHEREAS, Contractor has submitted its Pay Request #1 for completed work to date 

under the Project, a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof; and 

 WHEREAS, the Pay Request #1 has been reviewed by the Village Engineer, who has 

determined that Contractor is entitled to compensation for certain services performed under the 

Project, pursuant to the Pay Request #1; and 

 WHEREAS, the Village will be obligated to make a payment on Pay Request #1 to 

Contractor in the amount of Two Hundred Eighty-Six Thousand Five Hundred Sixty-Six and 

57/100 ($286,566.57); and 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary that the Mayor and Council of the Village approve Pay 

Request #1 to Contractor under the contract for the Project. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Council of the Village of 

Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 Section 1. The Council of the Village hereby approves Pay Request #1 to Contractor 

in the amount of Two Hundred Eighty-Six Thousand Five Hundred Sixty-Six and 57/100 

($286,566.57) under the contract for the Project with Contractor. 

 Section 2. The Village Clerk is directed to attest to the Mayor's signature on any and 

all documents, as necessary. 



1251780-1 

 Section 3. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and 

adoption in accordance with law. 

 ADOPTED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 16th 

day of December, 2024.  

 
 AYES: ___________________________ 
 
 NAYS: ___________________________ 
 
 ABSENT: _________________________  
 

APPROVED by me this 16th day of December, 2024. 
 
 
 
   ___________________________________ 

Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor  
 
 

ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
and published in pamphlet form 
this ______ day of December, 2024. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Vanessa Belmonte, Clerk  
  
 
 



1251780-1 

BOLDER CONTRACTORS, INC. 
2024 WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT PROJECT 

(400-500 BLOCKS OF FERDINAND) 
PAY REQUEST #1 

 



1251780-1 



1251780-1 



1251780-1 



1251780-1 



1251780-1 



1251780-1 

 



 
1251779.1 

RESOLUTION NO. R-__________-24 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING PAY REQUEST #1 (FINAL)  
FOR THE 2024 SIDEWALK IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT  

TO NARDULLI CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois ("Village"), awarded the 

contract for the 2024 Sidewalk Improvements Project to Nardulli Construction Company, Inc. 

(“Contractor"); and 

 WHEREAS, Contractor has submitted its Pay Request #1 (Final) for completion of the 

work to date under the Project, a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof; and 

 WHEREAS, the Pay Request #1 (Final) has been reviewed by the Village Engineer, who 

has determined that Contractor is entitled to compensation for its performance under the Project 

to date, pursuant to the Pay Request #1 (Final); and 

 WHEREAS, the Village will be obligated to make a payment on Pay Request #1 (Final) 

to Contractor in the amount of Forty-Five Thousand Five Hundred Thirteen and 95/100 Dollars 

($45,513.95); and 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary that the Mayor and Council of the Village approve Pay 

Request #1 (Final) to Contractor under the contract for the Project. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Council of the Village of 

Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 Section 1. The recitals set forth in the preambles are hereby incorporated herein by 

reference and made a part of this Resolution. 

 Section 2. The Council of the Village hereby approves Pay Request #1 (Final) to 

Contractor in the amount of Forty-Five Thousand Five Hundred Thirteen and 95/100 Dollars 

($45,513.95) under the contract for the Project with Contractor. 



 
1251779.1 

 Section 3. The Village Clerk is directed to attest to the Mayor's signature on any and 

all documents, as necessary. 

 Section 4. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage in the 

manner provided by law. 

 RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 16th 

day of December, 2024.  

 
 AYES: ___________________________ 
 
 NAYS: ___________________________ 
 
 ABSENT: _________________________  
 

APPROVED by me this 16th day of December, 2024. 
 
 
 
   ___________________________________ 

Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor  
 
 

ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
and published in pamphlet form 
this ______ day of December, 2024. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Vanessa Belmonte, Village Clerk  
  
 
 



 
1251779.1 

2024 SIDEWALK IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 
PAY REQUEST #1 (FINAL) 



 
1251779.1 



 
1251779.1 



 
1251779.1 



 
1251779.1 

 

















From: Megan Roach
To: Rachell Entler
Subject: FW: From the Mayor"s Office
Date: Friday, December 6, 2024 11:25:45 AM

FYI for agenda
 
From: Richard Biggins <richard@empoweringgardensinc.org> 
Sent: Friday, December 6, 2024 9:58 AM
To: Megan Roach <mroach@forestpark.net>
Subject: Re: From the Mayor's Office

 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Dear Megan,
 I am writing to request that Empowering Gardens, Inc. be considered as a beneficiary of the
Village vehicle sticker renewal program. Empowering Gardens Inc, is a 501 (c) (3) nonprofit
organization, operating at 7730 -7736 Madison in The Village since 2016. EGI employs and
trains people with varying abilities in a Garden Center environment. We rely on charitable
contributions to support our programs, and would be most grateful to receive any funds
produced by this program.
Thank you kindly for your consideration.
 Sincerely, 
Richard Biggins
President
 

 

 

t

mailto:mroach@forestpark.net
mailto:rentler@forestpark.net


 

 

 

This communication from the Village of Forest Park constitutes an electronic
communication within the meaning of the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, 18 USC
2510-2515, and its disclosure is strictly limited to the recipient intended by the sender of
this message. This communication is for the sole use of the intended recipient and receipt by
anyone other than the intended recipient does not constitute loss of the confidential or
privileged nature of the communication. Any review or distribution by others is strictly
prohibited.

 
--
 
Richard Biggins 
Director of Employment

                                                                                                                                                        
                                           

                                          
 

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fempoweringgardensinc.org&c=E,1,EjzMHwygEmnWFBQPzUaBRNNZRnTHf8YhmelwWdrdMma6UvrfivWU4j98o2XVkitMheDa1xIQjZHvXh2kFO2PTOgmJLVVj8iI3bH3Qa2ubGg78fN0_69cOElveQ,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fempoweringgardensinc.org&c=E,1,EjzMHwygEmnWFBQPzUaBRNNZRnTHf8YhmelwWdrdMma6UvrfivWU4j98o2XVkitMheDa1xIQjZHvXh2kFO2PTOgmJLVVj8iI3bH3Qa2ubGg78fN0_69cOElveQ,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fempoweringgardensinc.org&c=E,1,EjzMHwygEmnWFBQPzUaBRNNZRnTHf8YhmelwWdrdMma6UvrfivWU4j98o2XVkitMheDa1xIQjZHvXh2kFO2PTOgmJLVVj8iI3bH3Qa2ubGg78fN0_69cOElveQ,,&typo=1

	121624Agenda.pdf
	minutes 112524
	THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE COUNCIL OF THE
	VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
	HELD ON MONDAY EVENING, NOVEMBER 25, 2024
	ROLL CALL
	Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins answered the Roll Call.
	APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	APPROVAL OF BILLS:
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, and Voogd

	FD Monthly report November 24
	December 16 2024 Bills by Resolution
	December 16 2024 Resolution.pdf
	December 16 2024 Agenda.pdf

	1 RMW Copy Forest Park 3-year Plan 2024-2026.112524
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Roadway Assessment
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Alley Assessment
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18

	2A Agenda Supplement - Water Meter Replacement Contract
	2B Ordinance Waiving Bid and Authorizing the Acceptance and Execution a Standard Form of Construction Management Contract for Designer Design-Build Pr
	STANDARD FORM OF CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT
	CONTRACT FOR DESIGNER- DESIGN-BUILD PROJECT
	CONTRACT
	PRICE:    Not to Exceed $3,689,577.00
	ARTICLE 1 - RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES
	ARTICLE 2 - DEFINITIONS
	ARTICLE 3 - CONSTRUCTION MANAGER'S RESPONSIBILITIES
	ARTICLE 4 - SUBCONTRACTS
	ARTICLE 5 - CONSTRUCTION MANAGER'S WARRANTIES
	ARTICLE 6 - OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITIES
	ARTICLE 7 - CONTRACT TIME
	ARTICLE 8 - PAYMENT
	ARTICLE 9 - CHANGES
	ARTICLE 10 - INSURANCE AND BONDING
	Commercial General Liability Insurance
	Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance
	Worker’s Compensation & Employer’s Liability
	Commercial Umbrella/Excess Liability
	Professional Liability
	ARTICLE 11 - TERMINATION
	ARTICLE 12 - DISPUTE RESOLUTION
	ARTICLE 13 - LIMITATION OF LIABILITY
	ARTICLE 14 - MISCELLANEOUS

	3A 2024 Tax Levy and memo
	tax levy memo.pdf
	2024 Tax Levy.pdf

	4 Resolution Directing the County Clerk to Calculate Separate Limiting Rates for the tax levy  2024
	5 Resolution approving and authorizing the execution of a First Amendment to a Master Software License Agreement with DACRA Tech, LLC(1251987.1)
	6A AFG 2024 memo
	6B Forest Park Resolution approving and authorizing the execution of the application for an Assistance to Firefighters Grant with the Federal Emergency Management
	7 Resolution approving 2025 PACE agreement(1251794.1)
	8 Forest Park Resolution approving intergovernmental agreement with County of Cook, acting through its Bureau of Asset Management, for the design, construction, i (2)
	RECITALS
	I. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS
	II. AUTHORITY
	Each Party represents and warrants that it has the full and lawful authority to enter into this Agreement and to fully and promptly comply with all provisions, terms and conditions, as written.
	III. PURPOSE AND SCOPE
	The purpose of this Agreement is to identify the roles and responsibilities of each Party regarding the installation of EV charging stations within the Village of Forest Park, as provided below.
	IV. TERM
	This Agreement shall become effective upon its full execution (“Effective Date”) and shall expire five (5) years after the activation of the charging station, unless terminated earlier pursuant to this Agreement.
	X. MISCELLANEOUS TERMS

	9 Forest Park Resolution approving intergovernmental agreement with MWRD for Green Alley Project 2(1251787.1)
	10 Resolution Approving Change Order No. 2 and Pay Request No. 3 to Tecorp_ Inc. for the Rehabilitation of th(1251997.1)
	11 Resolution Approving Pay Request #1 (Final) for the Roosevelt Road Islands Removal and Landscaping Project to Triggi Construction, Inc.(1251782.1)
	12 Forest Park Resolution authorizing approval of pay request #1 for 2024 water main project to Bolder Contractors (400-500 blocks Ferdinand)(1251780.1)
	13 Resolution Approving Pay Request #1 (Final) for the 2024 Sidewalk Improvements Project to Nardulli Construction Company(1251779.1)
	14 Toy Drive Raffle License Application 2024
	15B library request
	FW_ From the Mayor's Office



